Julie Schaffner Paul Glewwe Uttam Sharma Evaluation of secondary school teacher training under the School Sector Development Programme in Nepal

# September 2021

#### **Education**

Impact Evaluation Report 135





#### About 3ie

The International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie) promotes evidenceinformed, equitable, inclusive and sustainable development. We support the generation and effective use of high-quality evidence to inform decision-making and improve the lives of people living in poverty in low- and middle-income countries. We provide guidance and support to produce, synthesise and quality assure evidence of what works, for whom, how, why and at what cost.

#### **3ie impact evaluations**

3ie-supported impact evaluations assess the difference a development intervention has made to social and economic outcomes. 3ie is committed to funding rigorous evaluations that include a theory-based design and that use the most appropriate mix of methods to capture outcomes and are useful in complex development contexts.

#### About this report

3ie accepted the final version of this report, *Evaluation of secondary school teacher training under the School Sector Development Programme in Nepal*, as partial fulfilment of requirements under grant PW3.10.NP.IE award through Policy Window- Standard.

The 3ie technical quality assurance team comprises Sayak Khatua, Francis Rathinam, Kirthi Rao, an anonymous external impact evaluation design expert reviewer and an anonymous external sector expert reviewer, with overall technical supervision by Sebastian Martinez.

All content is the sole responsibility of the authors and does not represent the opinions of 3ie, its donors or its board of commissioners. Any errors and omissions are the sole responsibility of the authors. All affiliations of the authors listed in the title page were in effect at the time the report was accepted. Any comments or queries should be directed to the corresponding author, Julie Schaffner, at: Julie.Schaffner@tufts.edu.

Funding for this impact evaluation was provided by the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation. A complete listing of all of 3ie's donors is available on the <u>3ie website</u>.

Suggested citation: Schaffner, J, Glewwe, P, and Sharma, U, 2021. *Evaluation of secondary school teacher training under the School Sector Development Programme in Nepal,* Impact Evaluation Report 135. New Delhi: International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie). Available at: https://doi.org/10.23846/PW3IE135

Badges earned: Open Data 🔒 Open Materials 😁 Preregistered+ 🤕

Data, replication codes, codebook and questionnaires are available at: https://doi.org/10.7910/DVN/8V9I67; preregistration and the pre-analysis plan are available at: https://www.doi.org/10.23846/ridie180.

Cover photo: NayanTara Gurung Kakshapati / GPE

© International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie), 2021

# Evaluation of secondary school teacher training under the School Sector Development Programme in Nepal

Julie Schaffner The Fletcher School, Tufts University

Paul Glewwe Department of Applied Economics, University of Minnesota

Uttam Sharma Independent consultant

**Impact Evaluation Report 135** 

September 2021



## Acknowledgements

We gratefully acknowledge the International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie) for funding this evaluation under grant PW3.10.NP.IE. We thank the Nepalese government's National Planning Commission for leading this research, as well as the Ministry of Education, Science and Technology, the Centre for Education and Human Resource Development, and especially the former Department of Education and former National Centre for Educational Development (which have been merged into the Centre for Education and Human Resource Development), for their collaboration. We especially acknowledge the efforts of the evaluation's technical committee, which was created by the National Planning Commission's then-Joint Secretary, Dr Teertha Dhakal, and includes representatives from the above-mentioned agencies. We thank the World Bank for funding the add-on video assignment intervention. We are grateful for research and logistical assistance provided by Ms Deepika Shrestha, Mr Sunil Poudel, Mr Tri Bikram Pandey and Ms Tejkala Uprety of the Centre for Policy Research and Consultancy; for research assistance from Ms Girija Bahety, Ms Floor de Ruijter Ms Kathryn Hirschboeck, Ms Chhavi Kotwani, Mr Rayyan Mobarak, Mr Silver Namunane and Mr Jeremy Schlitz; for qualitative research quidance from Dr Sushan Acharva; and for student assessment development by Ms Aditi Bhomick, Dr Alejandro Ganimian, Dr Peshal Khanal, Mr Krishna Prasad Adhikari and Mr Kamal Prasad Acharya.

## Summary

In Nepal, as in many low-income countries, student learning outcomes in government primary and secondary schools remain weak. Recognising that development success requires the country's children and youth to acquire valuable maths, science and language skills, the government has prioritised efforts to improve school quality through the seven-year School Sector Development Programme (SSDP) (2016–2023).

A key component of the SSDP strategy was a new wave of trainings for ninth- and tenthgrade maths and science teachers, which aimed to improve student learning by: (1) improving teachers' understanding of challenging maths and science concepts in the ninth- and tenth-grade curricula; and (2) encouraging teachers to use new teaching methods involving demonstrations with teaching aids made from locally available materials. Participating teachers attended 10 days of face-to-face training at education training centres (ETCs), after which they were required to complete 5 days of self-study project work, including the creation of 10 lesson plans and related teaching aids.

Rigorous evaluation of teacher training programmes is important in Nepal, where the government invests millions of dollars annually in such programmes. While evidence from several countries suggests that teacher training programmes can improve student learning substantially, evidence from other contexts reveals their failures and the evidence base on how to design successful teacher training programmes remains thin.

This mixed methods evaluation estimates the impact of the SSDP trainings for secondary maths and science teachers on their subject knowledge and teaching practices, and on student test scores; it also describes strengths and weaknesses in the programmes' design and implementation. The study combines a randomised control trial of 203 schools in 16 districts with several qualitative research components, including the collection of monitoring data, a 'small-N' study involving in-person interviews, and a 'larger N' part qualitative, part quantitative study involving telephone interviews of teachers and trainers who participated in the SSDP trainings.

We find no evidence that the SSDP trainings for secondary maths and science teachers raised student test scores. In fact, our main results allow us to rule out anything more than small positive effects and in some cases we estimate statistically significant negative impacts. We find weak but suggestive evidence that any negative effects are largest for students who were highest performing at baseline. At about US\$130 per teacher, or US\$2.60–3.00 per student, the cost of the SSDP trainings is similar to interventions that have raised student learning significantly in other contexts. We thus conclude that Nepal's policymakers should seek to improve teacher trainings or replace them with more effective interventions.

Drawing on qualitative and quantitative evidence, we describe five sets of problems that may explain why the SSDP trainings did not improve student learning. First, weak governance likely reduced the quality of the ETC training. It appears that trainers were given inadequate time and guidance to prepare training materials, were not provided with 'training of trainers' and in some cases lacked relevant teaching materials. Some ETC trainers lacked adequate expertise in maths and science.

Second, scheduling training sessions on regular school days may have prevented some teachers from participating because substitute teachers were unavailable to teach their classes during the trainings. Teachers' low expectations of the novelty and value of the SSDP trainings may also have lowered participation.

Third, we find evidence of serious weaknesses in some teachers' prerequisite subject knowledge, which may have impeded them from grasping the training content that focused on advanced maths and science concepts.

Fourth, few teachers seem to have completed the post-ETC self-study project work or adopted new classroom teaching methods. Our evidence suggests two possible explanations: (1) lack of accountability for the time-consuming development of lesson plans and teaching aids; and (2) lack of budget for required teaching materials.

Finally, we find that many students enter grades 9 and 10 with below-grade-level maths and science skills. SSDP trainings focused on new methods to teach advanced ninthand tenth-grade maths and science concepts may, therefore, have equipped teachers with skills that are largely irrelevant to many students' learning needs.

Our study has two limitations. First, it is possible that SSDP training impacts grow over time, and we estimated impacts after only one year. Second, the training completion rates in our study schools at endline were unusually low due to high teacher turnover and low uptake of the training invitations, reducing precision.

Compared to many studies, this evaluation was designed relatively well for external validity. This is because we use a sample that is nearly nationally representative of all public secondary school students (and the environments in which they live and learn) and we study an intervention rolled out through the institutions that were responsible for government training at the start of the study period. However, a dramatic government reform recently shifted responsibility for basic and secondary education to new local governments, implying that trainings identical to those that we evaluated will no longer be rolled out. This limits our external validity in a narrow sense.

Yet in a broader sense, this reform creates a valuable opportunity for Nepal's policymakers at all levels to learn from the evidence and pursue improvements in teacher training programme design and implementation. The results are also valuable outside of Nepal, as they suggest possible ways of improving the performance of inservice teacher training programmes that are based in training centres.

Given our evidence on the problems that may have reduced the impact of the SSDP training programme, we recommend that policymakers experiment with the following types of changes:

- 1. Allocate more training time for methods that help teachers identify, and differentiate instruction for, students who are entering grades 9 and 10 with below-grade-level subject knowledge;
- 2. Re-design trainings to better accommodate teachers with gaps in prerequisite subject knowledge;
- 3. Combine trainings with distribution of related lesson plans and materials (to reduce potential barriers to adoption of new teaching methods);

- 4. Connect trainings to periodic classroom visits (either in person or virtual) by mentors or coaches who can advise, monitor and hold teachers accountable for improved teaching;
- 5. Improve the way in which trainers are trained, equipped and motivated to deliver high-quality trainings;
- 6. Schedule trainings outside of school hours or during school breaks to increase uptake; and
- 7. Increase efforts to motivate teachers to attend training by informing them about its novelty and value.

## Contents

| Acknowledgements  | i        |
|---|----------|
| Summary   | ii       |
| List of figures and tables  | .vi      |
| Acronyms  | vii      |
| 1. Introduction   | 1        |
| 2. Intervention   | 4        |
| 2.1 Description   | 4        |
| 2.2 Theory of change  | 7        |
| 2.3 Monitoring plan   | 8        |
| 3. Evaluation   | 10       |
| 3.1 Primary and secondary questions   | 10       |
| 3.2 Design and methods  | 10       |
| 3.3 Ethics  | 15       |
| 3.4 Outcome variables and econometric specifications  | 15       |
| 4. Findings   | 24       |
| 4.1 Intervention implementation fidelity  | 24       |
| 4.2 Impact analysis   | 26<br>af |
| 4.3 Violations of the assumptions underlying the SSDP training programme's theory of change | זז<br>42 |
| 5. Cost analysis  | 60       |
| 6. Discussion   | 61       |
| 6.1 Limitations and external validity   | 62       |
| 6.2 Policy and programme relevance: evidence uptake and use                                 | 63       |
| 6.3 Challenges and lessons  | 64       |
| 7. Conclusions and recommendations  | 67       |
| Appendix A: Field notes   | 69       |
| Appendix B: Survey instruments and other evaluation tools (qualitative and                  |          |
| quantitative)   | 72       |
| Appendix C: Pre-analysis plan   | 73       |
| Appendix D: Sample design and calculation of population weights                             | 74       |
| Appendix E: Two qualitative studies   | 77       |
| Appendix F: Supplementary tables  | 78       |
| Online appendixes   | 82       |
| References  | 83       |

## List of figures and tables

| Figure 1: SSDP training theory of change  | . 9 |
|---|-----|
| Figure 2: District locations of study schools   | 12  |
| Figure 3: Randomised assignment of the study schools  | 12  |
| Figure 4: Evaluation timeline   | 16  |
|   |     |
| Table 1: Description of student attrition   | 23  |
| Table 2: SSDP maths and science training roll-out   | 25  |
| Table 3: Baseline descriptive statistics and balance tests: schools and teachers            | 27  |
| Table 4: Baseline descriptive statistics and balance tests: students                        | 28  |
| Table 5: ITT estimates of impact of SSDP training on students' normalised test scores,      |     |
| full endline and panel samples  | 30  |
| Table 6: IV/LATE estimates of impact of SSDP training on students' normalised test          |     |
| scores, full endline and panel samples  | 32  |
| Table 7: Analysis of ITT combined-treatment impact heterogeneity by student and             |     |
| household characteristics, full endline sample  | 34  |
| Table 8: Analysis of ITT combined-treatment impact on quantiles of the endline test         |     |
| score distribution  | 36  |
| Table 9: Summary of ITT estimates of impact on teachers' subject knowledge and              |     |
| attitudes   | 37  |
| Table 10: Summary of ITT estimates of impacts on teacher attendance                         | 38  |
| Table 11: ITT estimates of impacts on maths teacher teaching practices (student report      | ts) |
|   | 39  |
| Table 12: ITT estimates of impacts on science teacher teaching practices (student           |     |
| reports)  | 40  |
| Table 13: ITT estimates of impacts on teaching practices: head teacher and teacher          |     |
| reports   | 41  |
| Table 14: Maths teacher responses to evaluations of student assessment items <sup>a</sup>   | 47  |
| Table 15: Science teacher responses to evaluations of student assessment items <sup>a</sup> | 49  |
| Table 16: Student performance on below-grade-level maths questions                          | 55  |
| Table 17: Student performance on below-grade-level science questions                        | 56  |

## Appendix tables

| Table F1: Average endline test scores by student gender and ethnicity                 | 78   |
|---|------|
| Table F2: ITT estimates of impact of SSDP training on students' normalised test score | s:   |
| full sample, all items: robustness checks   | .79  |
| Table F3: Costs for SSDP trainings of ninth- and tenth-grade maths and science        |      |
| teachers  | . 80 |

### Acronyms

| ETC  | Education training centre                   |
|------|---|
| IRT  | Item response theory                        |
| ITT  | Intention to treat                          |
| LATE | Local average treatment effect              |
| MDE  | Minimum detectable effect                   |
| NCED | National Centre for Educational Development |
| RCT  | Randomised control trial                    |
| SEE  | Secondary Education Examination             |
| SSDP | School Sector Development Programme         |
| SSRP | School Sector Reform Programme              |
| VDC  | Village development committee               |
| WLS  | Weighted least squares                      |

## 1. Introduction

High-quality teaching is critical for successful and inclusive learning (Rivkin et al. 2005; Chetty et al. 2014; Araujo et al. 2016). To improve teaching and learning, nearly all governments invest heavily in teacher training.<sup>1</sup> While some teacher training programmes in India, South Africa and Uganda have induced large learning impacts (Popova et al. 2019), others have not increased learning, and even reduced learning for some students, which suggests that designing and implementing successful teacher training programmes is difficult (Evans and Popova 2016; Popova et al. 2016; Loyalka et al. 2019). Yet rigorous evidence on the design, implementation and impact of teacher training programmes remains scarce.<sup>2</sup> It is therefore important to evaluate these programmes carefully so that money is well spent and policymakers learn how best to design and implement them in future.

Scrutiny of teacher training programmes is especially important in Nepal, where student learning remains weak, despite large expenditures in this area over many years. Enrolment has risen in recent years, particularly at secondary level, where the net enrolment rate increased from 35 per cent in 2008 to 66 per cent in 2017 (Ministry of Education 2018).

Despite this progress in enrollment, student test scores at both primary and secondary levels remain low. For example, in the 2019 Secondary Education Examination (SEE), held at the end of grade 10, 44.2% of public-school students received scores below 2.0 (out of 4.0); only 4.3% of public-school students scored 3.2 or higher, while 40.8% of private-school students achieved such scores (Republica 2019). In the National Assessment of Student Achievement of 2018, 32 per cent and 20 percent of grade 5 students performed below the basic level in mathematics and Nepali, respectively (Kafle et al. 2019). These figures reflect persistently low learning outcomes despite government spending of US\$21 million on teacher training from 2013 to 2018 (Rauniyar 2019).

This paper reports findings from a mixed methods evaluation of recent trainings for ninth-and tenth-grade maths and science teachers in Nepal's government schools. Teacher training is an important component of Nepal's School Sector Development Programme (SSDP), the government's overall plan to raise school quality and inclusivity from 2016 to 2023.

Working with key education policymakers in early 2016, we chose to evaluate trainings for teachers of secondary maths and science, subjects with very low learning outcomes that are deemed important for attaining Nepal's larger development goals. Relevant government agencies seemed ready to launch these trainings at that time, planning to roll them out gradually across Nepal. It thus seemed feasible to rigorously evaluate this intervention, which was soon to be at scale, with the aim of guiding future policy decisions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Loyalka and colleagues (2019) report that China spent over US\$1 billion per year on in-service teacher training and India spent US\$1.2 billion on such training between 2012 and 2017. In Mexico, the average teacher spends 23 days per year in teacher training. Between 2000 and 2010, 'nearly two thirds' of World Bank-supported education projects in developing countries included teacher training (Popova et al. 2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Popova and colleagues (2016) found only 23 papers on teacher training in developing countries.

The SSDP trainings seek to improve teachers' understanding of challenging maths or science concepts in the ninth- and tenth-grade student curricula, and to encourage teachers to use methods for teaching these concepts that involve demonstrations with teaching aids made from local materials. They required teachers to attend 10 days of face-to-face training at education training centres (ETCs), and, after returning to their schools, to complete 5 days of self-study project work, including the creation of 10 lesson plans and related teaching aids.

Though we focus primarily on the SSDP teacher training, we also developed an add-on video assignment for teachers in half of the schools assigned to the teacher training. This assignment required training participants to submit videos of themselves implementing (in their classrooms) the lesson plans they were required to make as part of the SSDP self-study project work. In the end, the study lacked power to distinguish impacts between the two variants of the SSDP training (with and without video assignment). Since adding the video assignment was a very small change in the intervention's design, this evaluation of the SSDP training's impacts reports average effects over these two variants of the training. Online Appendix B discusses the video assignment further.

This study combines a randomised control trial (RCT), which involves a sample of 203 schools in 16 districts, with qualitative methods designed to complement the quantitative study. The sample is nearly nationally representative of all public secondary-school students and the environments in which they learn. We implemented a preliminary qualitative study in 16 schools in 4 districts in early 2017 to deepen our understanding of context, refine our evaluation questions and explore ways to measure key variables.

We also collected monitoring data during the intervention's roll-out through frequent phone contact between the research team and ETC personnel (Shrestha 2019). To examine the nature and quality of the roll-out, we added two more qualitative studies: (1) a 'small-N' study using in-depth, in-person interviews of teachers, trainers and other actors in three study districts (Acharya and Upreti 2019); and (2) a 'larger-N' part qualitative, part quantitative study based on telephone interviews with 98 teachers across all study districts who had attended the SSDP trainings, as well as 23 trainers (Schaffner et al. 2019a).

The main evaluation questions that guided the study's design are:

- What are the impacts on student learning outcomes of the SSDP teacher trainings for ninth- and tenth-grade maths and science teachers?
- What are the impacts on teachers' subject knowledge and teaching practices of these SSDP teacher trainings?
- What assumptions underlie the SSDP teacher training programme's theory of change? In what ways might these assumptions be flawed? And what are the resulting strengths and weaknesses in the design and implementation of the SSDP teacher trainings?

Suspecting that trained teachers are more motivated to implement new teaching practices in schools with better management (i.e. where head teachers or other actors hold teachers more accountable and provide them with better support), we sought to answer a fourth question:

• How do the impacts of SSDP teacher training differ across schools with stronger and weaker initial school management?

A review of education and economics literature since 2000 reveals only 10 studies with credible methodologies that look at the impact of teacher training programmes on student learning in developing countries.<sup>3</sup> Three of these are from Kenya (Lucas et al. 2014; Jukes et al. 2017; Piper et al. 2018);<sup>4</sup> two are from China (Loyalka et al. 2019; Lu et al. 2019); and one each are from Argentina (Albornoz et al. 2019), Mongolia (Fuje and Tandon 2018), Papua New Guinea (Macdonald and Vu 2018), the Philippines (Abeberese et al. 2014) and Tonga (Macdonald et al. 2018).

The teacher training programmes examined are diverse. For example, those in the Philippines and Mongolia involved only 2 and 3 days of training, respectively, while others took 12 days (Lucas and colleagues' study of Kenya and Uganda) or 15 days (Loyalka and colleagues' China study). Several programmes had follow-up coaching and/or workshops, while others did not. All but two were aimed at primary school teachers; the only exceptions being the Argentina study by Albornoz and colleagues (2019) and the China study by Loyalka and colleagues (2019). Finally, about half of the programmes combined teacher training with new curriculum and/or pedagogical materials, while others (the two China studies and the Argentina, Papua New Guinea and Tonga studies) had only teacher training.

These studies suggest substantial diversity in programme impacts. Most found small positive impacts on student learning of 0.1–0.2 standard deviations of the distribution of student test scores. Yet others found larger effects: up to about 0.6 standard deviations in the 2017 Kenya study as well as the Argentina study. Still others found no impact (both China studies).

This report adds to the scant literature in three ways. First, we study training at the secondary level, for which there is currently only one study, from China (Loyalka et al. 2019). Second, we examine a programme at national scale, using a sample that is close to nationally representative. Only two of the previous studies were on a national scale: the Mongolia and Tonga studies. Finally, we evaluate a government programme, rather than one designed by a research team or non-governmental organisation. Of the 10 previous studies, only the Mongolia study, the 2 China studies, and the 2018 Kenya study evaluated government programmes.

Section 2 describes the intervention's main features and its theory of change. Section 3 describes the evaluation design. Section 4 presents findings of the intervention's impacts, and the strengths and weaknesses of its design and implementation. Section 5 details intervention costs. Section 6 presents limitations and external validity and section 7 concludes and provides recommendations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For details on the search methods, see Damon and colleagues (2019). We include only studies that involved teacher training and were published or in high-profile working paper series from 2000 to 2018. We consider three methodologies as credible: RCTs, difference-in-difference and regression discontinuity.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The paper by Lucas and colleagues (2014) also includes analysis of data from Uganda.

## 2. Intervention

#### 2.1 Description

The teacher training intervention invited all ninth- and tenth-grade maths and science teachers in selected government schools to enrol in relevant SSDP trainings. An initial SSDP document (Ministry of Education 2016) emphasised the need for new and improved teacher trainings by noting widespread beliefs that previous teacher trainings had not transferred effective teaching methods from the trainings to the classrooms.

In particular, it highlighted the apparent failure of the 'needs-based approach' of the previous wave of trainings, which encouraged individual Educational Training Centers (ETCs), of which there were then 29 across Nepal, to develop training curricula tailored to local teachers' requests. The SSDP trainings were, therefore, to be developed in a more centralised fashion by the National Centre for Educational Development (NCED).

The official curriculum for the trainings covered challenging maths or science concepts in the ninth- and tenth-grade curricula and included specific demonstration-based methods (often using teaching aids made from local materials) to teach specific concepts. Participants attended 10-day sessions at ETCs, and then were expected to complete 5 days of self-study project work that included completion of: (a) 10 lesson plans; (b) an action research project related to a classroom or school problem; and (c) 2 of several specified activities.<sup>5</sup>

Teachers were to submit a report on the project work, approved by their head teachers, within 52 days of completing the ETC-based training. Most ETC sessions took place on school days. Teachers received per diem living expense payments for their stay at the ETCs, but otherwise were offered no monetary incentives for attending. They were also to receive grades for the training based on attendance, participation, test performance at the end of the ETC session and project work. Adequate scores were required for teachers to obtain credit for the training in their general performance review records.

The teacher training intervention that was rolled out in the study schools differed slightly from the training that was to be rolled out nationwide. First, rather than wait for teachers and schools to request the trainings, the ETCs sent invitation letters to treatment schools (sometimes with follow-ups by phone), inviting them to send all secondary maths and science teachers to attend. They did not invite teachers in control schools or teachers in other schools in the same small geographic areas of the control schools. Second, while the broader roll-out prioritised teachers with permanent positions who were not trained under the previous education plan, the School Sector Reform Programme (SSRP), ETCs were asked to invite all teachers of ninth and tenth grade maths and science in study

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Possible activities for maths training were: (1) collect three-dimensional solids to use when teaching surface areas; (2) prepare a water tank model to study volume; (3) visit two local banks to obtain interest rate data for use in teaching compound interest rates; or (4) use a clinometer to calculate height and distance for objects near the school. For science training, the options were: (1) prepare a circuit and a related experiment for teaching electrical resistance; (2) create models of a human heart and a stethoscope and develop four related teaching exercises; (3) prepare a hydrocarbon model and methods to use it in teaching; or (4) prepare a planetarium model (on an umbrella) to teach about constellations.

schools, regardless of their employment status or previous training.<sup>6</sup> Third, while the SSDP trainings were designed to include two modules (each with 10 days of ETC training and five days of project work), in practice only the first module has been rolled out. The training roll-out throughout the country has stalled because of a dramatic 'federalising' reform of government institutions, which accelerated in September 2018, when the ETCs were shifted from federal-level government administration to administration by the new provincial governments.

The curricula for the SSDP maths and science trainings were described in two documents the NCED sent to the ETCs (NCED 2017a, 2017b). These documents are brief (11 pages each) and the NCED faced challenges in exercising oversight of the trainings at local ETCs. Therefore, we conducted a telephone survey of 98 teachers (from all 16 study districts) who had attended SSDP trainings and 23 trainers (from 12 of the 14 ETCs serving our study districts) to learn the de facto content and methods used during the trainings (Schaffner et al. 2019a). The descriptions of training content from the telephone interviews are broadly consistent with the official documents, though details vary across the ETCs. The interviews confirm that the sessions devoted significant time to helping teachers learn practical methods (often involving teaching aids made from local materials) for teaching specific secondary level maths and science concepts.

To identify the maths or science topics that teachers found most memorable, we asked them to list up to four 'maths or science concepts or skills in the secondary curriculum that were explained, discussed or practiced during the training', focusing on the topics to which most time was devoted. The most frequently mentioned maths domains were mensuration (with mentions of activities such as making cylinders from pieces of paper to help students learn to calculate surface areas) and trigonometry (often referring to use of a clinometer). Among science topics, the domains most often mentioned were biology (with mentions of bringing plants to class when teaching about roots, stems and leaves) and chemistry (where responses were more varied).

In answer to other more open-ended questions about their training experience, teachers mentioned making and using litmus paper and using special seating methods to teach about sets or the periodic table of elements. Some, but not all, trainings appeared also to emphasise the pedagogical practice of having students work in groups; over one third of teachers and 9 out of 23 trainers mentioned group work or pair work as a discussion topic. For details, see Schaffner and colleagues (2019a) and section 4.1, below.<sup>7</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> While this means that the study intervention differs somewhat from the SSDP intervention in non-study districts, we believe that it is very relevant for policy discussions in Nepal. Indeed, there is precedent for providing government training to non-permanent teachers. Moreover, baseline data reveal that 73 per cent of ninth- and tenth-grade maths and science teachers are in non-permanent positions, suggesting that policymakers will face important choices about whether, and how much, to invest in training of non-permanent teachers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The content of the teacher trainings that were actually conducted differed from the content we expected based on the SSDP document we had when we planned our evaluation. The SSDP document (Ministry of Education 2016) and conversations with policymakers at that time suggested that the trainings would focus on pedagogy for child-centred learning, inclusive education, formative assessment and differentiated teaching to meet student needs (thus, our baseline instruments give special attention to these topics). In practice, there were delays in defining the content for the trainings and their focus was shifted to the demonstration-based teaching methods described above. Our endline instruments were designed for the revised training content.

#### 2.1.1 Target populations

The intervention's immediate targets were teachers of ninth- and tenth-grade maths and science. Our baseline data show that these teachers are almost all male (98% for maths and 89% for science), with an average age of 35 years<sup>8</sup> Only 45% of maths teachers and 24% of science teachers had previously lived in their current schools' communities. Approximately 81% have at least a bachelor's degree in maths or science; 46% of maths teachers and 36% of science teachers have at least a master's degree (in any field, including education).

About one quarter of the teachers (30% maths and 23% science) have permanent positions that are funded by the federal government; the rest have diverse positions that are less secure and differ in funding source and salary. Among maths teachers, 31% report receiving maths (science) teacher training and 24% of science teachers report receiving science teacher training under the SSRP (the previous education policy plan); 70% of maths teachers and 59% of science teachers report receiving any past in-service maths or science teacher training from government or non-government sources.

During the study period, because of uncertainties related to the federalising reforms of Nepal's government institutions, other government training was scant for ninth- and tenth-grade maths and science teachers. Some NGOs may have offered trainings during this period, but their reach is limited and their focus tends to be on primary education. At endline, only 14 per cent of maths teachers reported having ever had an NGO maths teacher training, and only 9 per cent of science teachers reported having ever had an NGO science teacher training.

The schools in our sample include at least basic (1–8) and secondary (9–10) grades. Such schools educate 97 per cent of Nepal's ninth- and tenth-grade public school students (based on education management information system statistics). Our baseline data show that these schools are large, with 86 per cent having over 200 students. Yet the typical school is also quite remote, with only 22 per cent within a 15-minute walk of a motorable road and 38 per cent more than a three-hour walk from a motorable road. Median class sizes (number of students per 'section') were 43 in grade 9 and 39 in grade 10 at baseline, but these vary greatly, with sizes at the ninety-fifth percentile of 97 for grade 9, and of 79 for grade 10.

The intervention's ultimate targets are ninth- and tenth-grade students, who were in grades 8 and 9 at baseline. More than half of these students at baseline are female (55%) in grades 8 and 9, perhaps reflecting that boys are more often sent to private schools. Data for ninth graders at baseline indicate low levels of parental education; students report that only 83% of fathers and 60% of mothers can read and write; and only 28% of fathers and 12% of mothers obtained at least some secondary education (grade 9 or higher).

Asset data suggest that while typical secondary students' families are not among Nepal's poorest, they are poor by global standards. Most families of ninth graders have mobile

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> For statistics reported in this section, we use baseline data and population weights. The results are roughly representative of Nepal's government schools with that include at least grades 1–10 (see the methods section below).

phones (95%), 55% have televisions and 36% have bicycles; but only 13% have refrigerators and only 10% have computers. Our endline data show that 40% of tenth graders are Brahmins or Chhetris, 36% are Janajatis, 13% are Dalits, 7% are from Terai or Madhesi castes, 3% are Newaris, and fewer than 1% are Muslims.<sup>9</sup> Importantly, head teacher and teacher responses to qualitative questions suggest that many students enter grades 9 and 10 with skills significantly below grade level. We examine this challenge more closely below.

#### 2.2.2 Impact heterogeneity

As indicated in our pre-analysis plan (Appendix C), SSDP training impacts may be greater for teachers who did not participate in the previous (SSRP) training and for teachers with non-permanent appointments (who can be dismissed for inadequate performance). Impacts may also differ by teachers' years of experience, although we have no strong prior expectation regarding the role of teacher experience. Teachers with less experience may gain more from the trainings, since they have had less time to learn on the job, but they may also gain less from the trainings, since their pre-service education may have been superior to that of earlier cohorts.

We were especially interested in whether training impacts are larger in schools with higherquality management. The school management quality indexes we use are described in the appendix of our pre-analysis plan (Appendix C). Our baseline data suggest that most management tasks are undertaken by head teachers, who may visit classrooms, give feedback, convene meetings and provide other practical leadership. Head teachers' management inputs seem to vary widely across schools, in part because some have more management training and lower teaching loads than others. We hypothesise that teacher training has larger impacts on teaching practices and students' learning when high-quality management does more to support new teaching methods and hold teachers accountable for using new teaching methods. Programme impacts on learning may also differ by student types. Of special concern is that the trainings, which focus on improving the teaching of advanced ninth- and tenth-grade concepts, may have no effect on students who enter those grades with below-grade-level subject knowledge. We also check for impact heterogeneity by student gender, ethnicity, and parental education and assets.

#### 2.2 Theory of change

We began articulating the theory of change and determining its underlying assumptions by identifying all decision-making actors along the logical chain linking the SSDP training policy to its ultimate objective of improving student learning. We then asked, for each of these actors, how they must respond to new the opportunities created by the policy (or what roles must they play) for the policy to improve student learning; and what they might lack in motivation, resources or capacity that could prevent them from responding in ideal ways. We focused on trainers (who must conduct high-quality trainings), teachers (who must attend and learn from the trainings, and then implement improved teaching practices in their classrooms on a daily basis) and students (who must study and have the potential to learn more effectively from the improved teaching practices).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> For baseline data, we must infer ethnicity/caste/religion from surnames, while at endline the head teacher reports ethnicity for each student. We use endline data here because we believe them to be more accurate.

We illustrate the theory of change and list underlying critical assumptions in Figure 1. We examine these assumptions in sections 4.1, 4.2.4 and 4.3. Section 4.1 uses administrative data to examine the training session roll-out and teacher attendance. Section 4.2.4 estimates programme impacts on intermediate outcomes related to teachers' subject knowledge and teaching practices, as well as final student learning outcomes. Section 4.3 uses mixed methods to examine the motivation, resources and capacity that trainers, teachers and students bring to their roles in generating training programme impact.

#### 2.3 Monitoring plan

Because monitoring practices within government TT institutions are weak, we devised additional monitoring activities of our own. We collected data on training session dates, number of trainers involved, teacher invitation activities and teacher attendance through frequent phone calls by research team members to the ETCs (see Shrestha 2019). Unfortunately, we could not obtain any scores that ETCs might have recorded the quality of teachers' participation during the trainings. These calls also provided qualitative information on the difficulties ETCs experienced in rolling out the trainings (and video assignment recording sessions).

In addition, we designed two qualitative studies, and some endline survey questions, to understand the nature and quality of the training sessions and of teachers' completing their self-study project work. While the research team's involvement in monitoring may have improved programme governance, thereby reducing the external validity of the study, we believe this effect was very small, because the ETC personnel we spoke to did not seem to consider themselves accountable to us. In fact, repeated phone calls were needed to obtain even basic data, and one ETC provided no information.

#### Figure 1: SSDP training theory of change



#### Assumptions

|         | - Trainers have adequate command of      | - Teachers have permission from     | - Teachers have adequate skill to         | - Students have adequate      |  |
|---------|--|-------------------------------------|---|-------------------------------|--|
|         | maths and science subject content        | their schools to attend             | translate ideas learned in trainings into | background knowledge          |  |
| apacity | - Trainers have adequate guidelines,     | - Teachers have adequate command    | new lesson plans for most class           | acquired in previous grades   |  |
|         | training and skill to translate SSDP     | of maths and science subject        | sessions                                  | to understand ninth- and      |  |
|         | outline into 10 days of high-quality     | content to understand SSDP content  | - Teachers are willing to experiment      | tenth-grade content, and thus |  |
| O       | training plans and materials             | - Teachers do not already have the  | with new teaching methods, which may      | benefit from improved         |  |
|         |  | knowledge and skills covered in     | be difficult to execute at first and may  | methods for teaching this     |  |
|         |  | SSDP trainings                      | not be well received by students          | material                      |  |
| (0      | - Trainers have adequate teaching        | - Teachers are provided with        | - Teachers have time to devote to         | - Students receive adequate   |  |
| čě      | supplies and access to adequate          | adequate per diem living expense    | preparation of teaching materials for     | nutrition and rest at home so |  |
| our     | facilities                               | payments and/or room and board      | demonstration-based methods               | they can concentrate in       |  |
| kes     | - Trainers have adequate time to         |                                     | - Teachers have adequate means to         | school and thus benefit from  |  |
| ĽĽ.     | prepare the training plans and materials |                                     | acquire necessary teaching materials      | improved teaching methods     |  |
| с       | - Trainers are motivated to provide      | - Trainers perceive personal or     | - Teachers perceive personal or           | - Students are motivated to   |  |
| atio    | transformative trainings                 | professional benefits to attendance | professional benefit to creating new      | pay attention and study, and  |  |
| tiva    |  | that outweigh the costs             | lesson plans and materials for most       | thus benefit from improved    |  |
| Μο      |  |                                     | class sessions that outweigh the costs    | teaching methods              |  |
|         |  |                                     |   |                               |  |

## 3. Evaluation

#### 3.1 Primary and secondary questions

As indicated in the introduction, the main evaluation questions that guided the study's design are:

- What are the impacts on student learning outcomes of the SSDP teacher training for ninth- and tenth-grade maths and science teachers?
- What are the impacts on teacher subject knowledge and teaching practices of these SSDP teacher trainings?
- What assumptions underlie the SSDP teacher training programme's theory of change? In what ways might these assumptions be flawed? What are the resulting strengths and weaknesses of the design and implementation of the SSDP?

Our secondary question is:

• How do the SSDP teacher training impacts differ across schools with stronger and weaker initial school management?

#### 3.2 Design and methods

We designed an RCT to estimate SSDP training impacts on intermediate and final outcomes, and designed several qualitative studies to complement the RCT.

#### 3.2.1 RCT sample design

Our RCT sample design was shaped by four objectives, which we identified through conversations with our government collaborators. First, the sample should be large enough to yield sufficiently precise impact estimates. Conservative power calculations suggested the need to include about 100 treatment and 100 control schools to estimate the impact of the treatment on student test scores with adequate power.<sup>10,11</sup> Second, the sample should be approximately representative (using population weights) of all schools in Nepal that have at least grades 1–10. This would make the data useful for describing national secondary education challenges about which little was known; policymakers also deemed it important to include districts from all major regions of the country. Third, during the development of the SSDP teacher training curriculum it seemed that there could be substantial overlap with the SSRP training content; therefore, we stratified the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> We aimed for a sample of schools large enough to give an 80 per cent chance of detecting (at the 95%, two-tailed significance level) an intervention impact on average student test scores of at least seven percentage points (about 0.3 standard deviations of the distribution of students' scores). The estimate of the standard deviation of a test score variable was about 20, and the estimate of the intra-cluster correlation coefficient was around 0.65, which is very high and indicates a need for a large sample of schools. We anticipated gaining more precision by using baseline test scores as controls in endline impact regressions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Budget constraints precluded inclusion of an additional 100 schools in estimating the impact of the training intervention with the video assignment. Thus, we chose to randomly allocate half the 100 treatment schools to also receive the video assignment add-on intervention. While this approach did not guarantee adequate power to distinguish the effects of the teacher training intervention with and without the video assignment, we judged that the potential for learning from qualitative and quantitative study of the video assignment justified adding the low-cost video assignment to the study.

sample to over-sample schools where few teachers of ninth- and tenth-grade maths and science had completed SSRP training. Fourth, the sampling procedure should minimise the potential for spillover effects to lead to biased impact estimates. The following paragraphs describe the sample selection process in more detail.

To obtain a sample representative of most of Nepal while containing costs, we chose a two-stage design, first sampling districts and then sampling schools within districts. To reduce data collection costs, we (in consultation with our Nepalese government partners) eliminated from consideration 10 of the most remote or otherwise difficult districts. From the remaining 65 districts (where 94.3% of Nepal's schools with at least grades 1–10 are located), we randomly selected 16 districts and then sampled schools only within those 16 districts. Schaffner and colleagues (2018) describe the sampling in detail. Figure 2 shows the 16 selected districts.

We sorted schools within districts into two strata—'priority' and 'non-priority'—and oversampled the former. Priority schools were defined as those with no evidence (from NCED hard copy records) of any teacher with permanent or unknown contract type who completed all three SSRP training modules. This rule was dictated by the idiosyncrasies of the available records. Further details are given in Schaffner and colleagues (2018). Within each district, we selected two thirds of our sample schools from the priority stratum, and one third from the non-priority stratum.

To facilitate selecting two thirds of the sample within a district from the priority stratum, it was useful to choose a number of schools per district that is divisible by three. To allocate one quarter of the sample to the treatment without video assignment and one quarter to the treatment with video assignment (while allocating the other half to the control group), it was useful to choose a number divisible by four.

Therefore, we selected 12 schools per district in most study districts. At the request of government partners, we doubled the number of schools in Morang, one of the larger districts.<sup>12</sup> Thus, the aim was to select a total sample of 204 schools ( $12 \times 15 + 24 = 204$ ). In the end, it included only 203 schools, since Solukhumbu district had only three non-priority schools.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Morang was given a 'double' sample because it is the largest of the 16 districts; in the administrative data used to select schools, Morang has 154 of the 1,334 schools in the 16 districts – more than any other district.





Note: This map was generated using open access files at https://opennepal.wordpress.com and https://gadm.org/data.html.

Concerned about potential spillover impacts from treated to untreated schools, we selected priority and non-priority schools within districts in a way that reduced the probability of any two sample schools being near each other. We first grouped schools (within districts) by the village development committee (VDC) areas to which they belonged. The average VDC had 1.7 eligible schools.<sup>13</sup> We then sampled VDCs, and randomly selected only one school per VDC.

#### Figure 3: Randomised assignment of the study schools



#### Assignment of schools to study arms

As shown in Figure 3, the primary randomisation divided the 203 study schools, within district and priority stratum, into two groups of equal size: 'phase I' schools, which were to receive the SSDP teacher training in late 2017; and 'phase II' schools, which were to receive that training only after May of 2019, and which serve as the control group during the study period.

To minimise the potential for spillover effects of training onto phase II study schools, training was also to be delayed until after May of 2019 for non-study schools in the same VDCs as phase II schools. Random selection was done without replacement, using a random number generator in STATA 13 software. Within schools, we tried to include all teachers of ninth- and tenth-grade maths or science, and all students in grades 9 and 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Despite the intention of government collaborators to delay the roll-out of the SSDP trainings in the 16 selected districts until after baseline data were collected, a few such trainings did occur in these districts.

#### Randomly allocated assent and test administration procedures

Within each district-study arm combination, we randomly assigned one third of schools to a student informed assent process that was implemented before the endline assessments (as is standard and the same as was done for all schools at baseline, but which may have made the low stakes nature of the assessments more salient to students), while allocating the other two thirds of schools to an assent process administered immediately after the assessments (and before students submitted their assessment papers, giving them the opportunity to choose not to submit). Following Institutional Review Board directives, the assent process—whether conducted before or after the assessments—made clear that the assessments would not count towards the students' grades in school and that their scores would not be revealed to anyone at their school. We chose to delay the assent process until after students took the assessments after observing low scores and enumerator reports of poor assessment-taking discipline at baseline. We kept the baseline assent process in one third of the schools, however, in order to evaluate whether changing the assent process improved test performance.

According to data gathered during an enumerator debriefing, all students assented, although five 'ran away' between assessments. Procedures for asking teachers or head teachers to encourage students to do their best on the assessments were also strengthened at endline in all schools.

In addition, within each district-study arm combination, students in half the schools were assigned to take the maths assessment first, while the other half took the science assessment first. At baseline, all students took the maths assessment first. Since test-taking fatigue may reduce performance on the second test vis-à-vis the first, and therefore reduce the accuracy of the second test, this randomisation equalises assessment accuracy across the two tests.<sup>14</sup>

#### Population weights

To produce estimates of the mean or variance of a population characteristic, or the average of a heterogeneous effect, for the population of schools (with at least grades 1–10) in the 16 study districts, population weights are needed to adjust for differences in the number of schools per district and for district-specific population shares of priority and non-priority schools. We calculate these weights using Monte Carlo methods.<sup>15</sup> When using these weights, we interpret our sample as 'nearly' nationally representative. It is not fully nationally representative because: the sample frame excludes 10 remote districts; and our weights do not adjust for small departures from using sampling probabilities proportional to size when selecting the 16 districts.

#### 3.2.2 Data collection instruments for RCT study

We gathered endline data using head teacher, teacher, school management committee and student questionnaires; student assessments in ninth- and tenth grade maths and science; teacher evaluations of student assessment items (which allow indirect assessment of teachers' subject knowledge); student tracking forms; teacher turnover

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> We detected no impact of the timing of the assent process, nor of the order of the tests, so we do not report these results in any detail in this report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Monte Carlo methods were needed to account for the complex structure of sampling without replacement. The details of how these weights were constructed are shown in Appendix D.

forms; assessment administration conditions forms; and enumerator debrief forms. Some regressions also use baseline student assessment scores; school-, teacher- or student-level covariates from baseline questionnaires; or monitoring data on teacher participation in the SSDP trainings. All questionnaires and forms are available in Appendix B.

#### Monitoring data collection from ETCs

Research assistants made frequent phone calls to the ETCs during programme implementation in order to: acquire updates on training dates; obtain reasons for delays; ensure compliance with protocols for inviting teachers from treatment schools and for not inviting teachers from control schools and neighbouring schools; and gather data on training curriculum and attendance. Our econometric analysis relies on these data, rather than teachers' self-reports regarding their participation in the SSDP training. We found the self-reports to be inaccurate, probably because the names that teachers recognised for specific trainings were different from the official names and many teachers attended multiple trainings over the years. For more on monitoring of training roll-out, see Shrestha (2019), which may be found in Appendix E.

#### Telephone interview study

To obtain more detail on the nature and quality of de facto SSDP training than would be collected in the endline quantitative survey, and to examine more elements of the theory of change, we sought to interview by phone all teachers from the quantitative sample who were in treatment schools at baseline and completed the SSDP trainings. Of the 221 teachers of ninth- and tenth-grade 10 maths or science in the schools assigned to the treatment group, we have baseline data for 192. Of these, 120 completed SSDP training, and we were able to interview 98 by telephone. We also sought to interview one maths trainer and one science trainer in each of the 14 ETCs serving our 16 districts. We ultimately interviewed 12 maths trainers and 11 science trainers. The interview protocols (Appendix B) had both closed-ended and (short answer) open-ended questions. The final report for the telephone interview study (Schaffner et al. 2019a) is in Appendix E.

#### In-depth, in-person interview study

To confirm and deepen our understanding of the telephone interview study results, we commissioned a small-N qualitative study (Acharya and Upreti 2019). After consulting our government partners, they selected three of our quantitative study districts, one each in Nepal's Eastern Terai, Western Mid Hill and Far Western regions. In each district, interviews were conducted with two maths and two science teachers from the quantitative sample who were interviewed at baseline in treatment schools and had completed the SSDP trainings, plus another teacher (a local teachers' federation representative). In each district, the researchers also interviewed one trainer involved with the SSDP maths training and one involved with the SSDP science training. Interviews lasted about 60–90 minutes per interviewee. The two researchers were in frequent contact while in the field, to maintain consistency. They recorded the interviews with permission and transcribed their notes after returning to Kathmandu. They jointly developed a system to colour-code the data to organise and systematise their impressions. The interview protocols are found in Appendix B, and the final report (Acharya and Upreti 2019) is in Appendix E.

#### Strategies to avoid bias

We sought to avoid spillover effects by sampling schools in a way that reduced the likelihood of a control school being near a treatment school. We attempted to avoid bias due to Hawthorne and John Henry effects by presenting the study to all participants as part of an effort to 'improve learning in secondary schools' rather than as an evaluation of the teacher training programme, and by including questions about teacher training only at the end of questionnaires. While all study participants were aware that they were part of a study, our procedures aimed to prevent respondents from thinking of themselves as members of treatment or control groups, thereby preventing them from responding to observation differently.

#### Evaluation timeline

Figure 4 shows the evaluation timeline, which includes rows for intervention roll-out phases, important contextual factors, and qualitative and quantitative research stages.

#### 3.3 Ethics

All research protocols and instruments were reviewed and approved by institutional review boards at Tufts University and the University of Minnesota. The relevant protocols are 1707008, 1807017 and 1901005 at Tufts University; and STUDY00000915 at the University of Minnesota.

#### 3.4 Outcome variables and econometric specifications

The goal of the RCT is to estimate intention-to-treat (ITT) and local average treatment effect (LATE) impacts of the treatment on the final outcome, student learning, and on the intermediate outcomes of teachers' subject knowledge and teaching practices. With only a few exceptions (all noted in the text or footnotes), we use measures and methods reported in our pre-analysis plan.

#### Figure 4: Evaluation timeline



#### 3.4.1 Final outcome variables

Almost all ninth- and tenth-grade students present on the day of endline assessment completed two one-hour assessments, one in maths and one in science.<sup>16</sup> US-based consultants with psychometrics expertise and familiarity with international assessment item banks drafted the assessments. We provided them with English translations of student textbooks and SSDP teacher training curriculum documents and asked them to construct assessments tailored to the Nepalese curricula for these grades and subjects, giving special attention to curriculum content emphasised in the SSDP trainings, while including items at lower grade levels (to assess how many students enter grades 9 and 10 with skills below grade level). The consultants, as asked, included some items from the baseline assessments (to link with those assessments), but drew most of the questions from international assessment item banks, allowing incorporation of high-quality items that had been refined by intensive pre-testing.

Two assessment versions (versions 'A' and 'B') were drafted for each subject and grade, to reduce the risk of students copying from each other (students sitting in rows in crowded classrooms could be provided with alternating exam versions) and to increase the subject content covered by the assessments. The two versions included common items between them.

The drafts were reviewed, amended and translated into Nepali by local assessment consultants, to ensure the tests' relevance to Nepal's curriculum and testing style.<sup>17</sup> After pre-testing, six items with the lowest correct response rates were dropped from each assessment to produce the final assessments with 35 items each. All items are multiple choice. Unfortunately, printer errors caused some assessment copies to have the wrong page for the 'A' versions of the ninth- and tenth-grade maths assessments, which were distributed in a few schools before the problem was detected. We treat these as a third version ('version C') of the relevant maths assessments. Fortunately, most of their items link them to the correctly printed assessments.

For all students we estimate indexes (separately by grade and subject) using item response theory (IRT) methods to measure overall maths achievement and overall science achievement. For each grade and subject, we linked the two or three assessment versions using a two-parameter logistic IRT model.<sup>18</sup> Using the assessment consultants' item maps, we then identified the items closest to the content emphasised in the SSDP training. We used the same IRT methods to produce grade- and subject-specific achievement indexes in these more specific content areas.

#### 3.4.2 Intermediate outcomes

We examine impacts on a range of intermediate outcome variables, measuring teachers' subject knowledge, attendance and teaching practices. At endline, to assess teachers' subject knowledge without explicitly asking them to take assessments, we asked

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Appendix A gives the protocol that determined which students were included in the endline assessments.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> The local consultants had also prepared the baseline assessments.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Our pre-analysis plan stated that we would estimate 2- and 3-parameter logistic IRT models, using a 3-parameter model only if estimation was feasible and a likelihood ratio test rejected the 2-parameter model; in practice, we could not estimate a 3-parameter model as the algorithm did not converge. Tables A4–A7 in online appendix A show the discrimination and difficulty parameters for the two-parameter model.

teachers of ninth- and tenth-grade maths and science to fill out anonymous evaluations of selected student assessment items. The evaluation forms showed 12 items from the student assessments to the teachers and then asked them to: (1) rate their clarity; (2) provide the answers they thought the items' writers intended as the correct answers; (3) estimate what fractions of their students would answer the items correctly; and (4) rate how well-tailored the items are to the curriculum used in Nepal.<sup>19</sup> We created teacher-subject knowledge indexes employing IRT methods, using teachers' answers for the response options they believed the item designers intended as the correct ones.

We measured teacher attendance three ways, each with its own strengths and weaknesses. First, we instructed enumerators to interview all ninth- and tenth-grade maths and science teachers on the first day they visited a school, and to record which teachers were absent. (In some cases, enumerators interviewed absent teachers on the second day of a school visit.) We believe that this accurately describes teacher presence or absence on the first day a school is visited, but it may overstate typical teacher attendance, because all school visits were arranged in advance. Second and third, we asked head teachers and students about teachers' attendance rates. Teacher ratings were obtained only for teachers who were not the head teacher. We do not expect bias in student responses for teacher attendance, but the use of broad attendance rate categories and the need for students to report for a long recall period may reduce the precision of the student measure.<sup>20</sup>

Our teaching practice measures are derived from endline head teacher, teacher and student responses to questions about teachers' practices, which we describe when we present the impact estimates in section 4.2.4. Many teaching practice outcomes are categorical; some are dichotomous, while others have Likert-scale opinions or activity frequencies with 3–7 categorical options. We use probit models to estimate impacts on dichotomous outcomes. To estimate impacts on polychotomous outcomes, we first collapse categories (collapsing small categories into the adjacent category closer to the 'middle' score) if categories have less than 5 per cent of all observations, and then use ordered probit models. For brevity, we describe our estimation methods only for continuous outcome measures, such as test scores, for which we use linear regressions; these methods can be easily adapted for use with dichotomous or ordinal outcomes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> The 12 items were selected by the US-based consultants who drafted the endline student assessments. They were asked to select two items from lower grade levels (so that we could start the assessment with items that would not look daunting) and then pick 10 ninth- and tenth-grade items that correspond to topics covered in the official SSDP curriculum outline. We also asked them not to select items with large graphical elements, because we wanted to keep the assessment document short to encourage participation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Our pre-analysis plan also called for measuring teacher attendance through inspection of school attendance registers. We gathered these data but chose not to use them because two patterns in the data suggested that they contained significant errors. First, attendance rates as recorded in the registers rise from 77 per cent on the day of the visit to 88 per cent 5 days before the day of the visit. This finding is consistent with the hypothesis that, once they return after an absence, teachers may adjust the logs to indicate themselves present on preceding days. Second, while the attendance logs showed only 77 per cent of teachers to be present on the day of the school visit, the interviewers' efforts to track down teachers on the first day of the school visit showed that in fact 90 per cent of them were present, suggesting that teachers who are present do not rigorously record their attendance each day.

#### 3.4.3 Student-level ITT impact regressions

ITT impact estimates assess the impact on final or intermediate outcomes of inviting all teachers of ninth- or tenth-grade maths or science in a school to the SSDP trainings. The main regression equation for student-level outcomes, which we estimate for all endline sample students (including those without baseline data), has the form:  $Y_{is1} = \beta_0 + \beta_T Treat_s + A_s \beta_A + S_s \beta_s + \epsilon_{is1}$ 

where Y is a student learning measure, Treat is a dummy variable for schools randomly selected for the trainings, A is a vector of indicators showing allocation of schools to different assessment administration procedures (described above), S is a vector of district by priority/non-priority stratum fixed effects, i indexes student, and s indexes school. The subscript 1 refers to endline.<sup>21</sup>

Restricting attention to the 'panel sample' of students present at both baseline and endline, we also estimate impact on endline scores while controlling for baseline scores, as in this equation:

 $Y_{is1} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 Y_{is0} + \beta_T Treat_s + A_s \beta_A + S_s \beta_s + \epsilon_{is1}$ 

using the same notation as above, and the subscript 0 refers to baseline. The main specifications are estimated by weighted least squares (WLS), using the weights described above.

#### 3.4.4 School-level ITT impact regressions

The main regression equations for school-level outcomes, which use endline data only, have the form:

 $Y_{s1} = \beta_0 + \beta_T Treat_s + S_s \beta_s + \varepsilon_{s1}$ 

where Y is a school-level outcome variable, and the rest of the notation is as above (now without student subscripts). The main specification is estimated using WLS.

#### 3.4.5 Teacher-level ITT impact regressions

The main regression equations for studying teacher-level outcomes, which use WLS and only the endline sample, have the form:

 $Y_{ts1} = \beta_0 + \beta_T Treat_s + S_s \beta_s + \varepsilon_{ts1}$ 

where Y is a teacher-level outcome, t is the teacher subscript, and all other notation is as above.<sup>22</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Following our pre-analysis plan, we estimated variants of all equations described here that allowed the intervention's impact to differ between treated schools where treated teachers were and were not required to do the video assignment. After adjusting for multiple hypothesis testing, no differences in impact were significant. We present some of these results in Online appendix A.
<sup>22</sup> Our pre-analysis plan stated: 'If teacher interview data are missing for more than 5 per cent of a school's ninth and tenth grade maths and science teachers, we will adjust the weights to account for uneven non-response across schools, multiplying it by the ratio of the total number of relevant teachers in the school to the number of relevant teachers for which interview data are available'. We no longer believe this is a well-motivated adjustment and did not try it. The purpose of the adjustment was to make the estimates more representative of the full population of teachers. The teachers for which responses are missing, however, are often head teachers, who are likely to be systematically different from other teachers.

#### 3.4.6 LATE estimates

ITT impacts may be low in part simply because invited teachers do not take the training, or because trained teachers leave treatment schools and possibly move to control schools soon after their training. ITT impacts are relevant for assessing the impacts of policy interventions that cannot force participation; however, we also estimate LATE impacts, which measure the average effects of teachers' actual *receipt* of treatment.<sup>23</sup>

We matched students to their maths and science teachers, using student and teacher reports of the section names to which they belonged.<sup>24</sup> We instrumented the indicators of teachers' participation in the training by their schools' treatment assignment, both for the full endline sample, not controlling for baseline scores, and (for student test scores) for the panel sample, controlling for baseline scores. The LATE regression equations for student- and teacher-level outcomes are the same as above, except Treat (indicator of assignment to treatment) is replaced by an indicator of training participation and is instrumented by Treat.

#### 3.4.7 Estimating heterogenous impacts

We also examine impact heterogeneity by adding (one at a time, in our ITT regressions) interaction terms between the treatment indicator and measures of the heterogeneity dimensions discussed above. (We also include un-interacted heterogeneity variables.) We do this for the following variables: (1) extent of previous SSRP training among a school's teachers; (2) a 'school management quality' index (see the appendix to our pre-analysis plan, which is found in Appendix C); (3) teacher contract status (permanent or otherwise); (4) teachers' years of teaching experience (whether they have taught more than five years); (5) student preparation and ability (see section 4.3 for the three ways in which we do this); and (6) student socio-economic characteristics, including gender, caste/ethnicity, whether a parent has at least lower-secondary education, and a family asset index.

This asset index is constructed by applying IRT analysis to students' dichotomous answers to questions about whether their family owns a television, a bicycle, a scooter, a refrigerator and a computer, and is highly correlated with a simple sum of the five asset indicators. The mean family owned 1.3 of these assets.

#### 3.4.8 Standard errors

We cluster standard errors at the school level because treatment was assigned at that level.<sup>25</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> LATE estimates measure the average impact on students of having a teacher who was trained, averaged over the students whose teachers were trained; these estimates may not measure the impact that would have occurred for students of teachers (in treated schools) who did not participate if they had participated.

 $<sup>^{24}</sup>$  In grade 9, there were 154 students with more than one maths teacher (2.3%) and 281 with more than one science teacher (4.1%). In grade 10, there were 137 students with more than one maths teacher (2.4%) and 320 with more than one science teacher (5.5%). For these students, we used average teacher characteristics.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Our pre-analysis plan stated: 'In specifications that include the pre-estimated measure of school management quality (Appendix B), robustness will be assessed by calculating bootstrapped standard errors that account for this'. Our standard errors below are very large, so this bootstrapping adds no value.

#### 3.4.9 Attrition

For school-level outcomes, there is no attrition because head teachers were interviewed in all sample schools at endline. For teacher-level outcomes, we focus on the treatment status of teachers at endline, and thus with endline teacher questionnaire response rates, rather than with attrition per se. This is because we believe that the best measure of de facto treatment in a school is whether the teachers in that school at endline were treated, regardless of their presence in that school at baseline. It is likely that these teachers were relevant for students during most of the treatment period (the academic year that was just ending when endline data were collected in early 2019).

We have complete information (from monitoring data) on teachers' treatment status in the schools at endline, but teacher non-response is a potential issue for teacher-level outcomes measured in teacher questionnaires. These questions may lack responses for three reasons. First, interviewers were instructed not to administer the teacher questionnaire to the 6.9 per cent of teachers who were also respondents for the head teacher questionnaire. Second, interviewers also failed to attempt interviews for another 2.7 per cent of the teachers. Third, for another 6.9 per cent of the teachers, interviewers could not administer the questionnaire due to teacher absence.

All teachers who were present, and were asked to do so, completed the questionnaire. The difference between treatment and control samples in the rate of non-response for any reason is marginally significant (p-value = 0.088), with a rate five percentage points lower in the treatment group. This is based on WLS teacher-level regressions controlling for district-stratum fixed effects, with standard errors adjusted for school-level clustering and stratification. This mostly reflects a larger fraction of teachers in the treatment group who were head teachers (and for that reason were not administered the teacher questionnaire).

For student-level outcomes, we experienced various types of attrition. Among ninth graders who were in grade 8 at baseline, we can identify baseline students who were not present in the endline data for the first six reasons listed in Table 2. For 13 of our 203 schools (12 schools in Jumla district and 1 in Panchthar district), grade 10 classes were not in session for the endline data collection visit, as students were released to study for the Secondary Education Examination (SEE).

For these 13 schools, all tenth graders who were in grade 9 at baseline are missing from the endline data (though many were still enrolled in school), and we cannot distinguish between those missing due to school being out of session and those missing for other reasons (such as dropping out or moving to another school). For the other 190 schools, we observe attrition for the same 6 reasons recorded for ninth graders. (As seen in Table 2, average academic performance varies among students who leave the sample for different reasons.)

Table 1 shows that overall attrition rates, while high (36% in grade 8 and 43% in grade 9), are similar in treatment and control schools, differing by only 0.5 percentage points for grade 8 and 2.9 percentage points for grade 9. Also, attriters' average test scores are lower in the treatment groups than in the control group. Thus, including attriters at endline would tend to reduce test scores in treatment relative to control schools, reducing estimates of SSDP training impact on test scores. This would strengthen the results below, since most SSDP impact point estimates are negative.<sup>26</sup>

#### 3.4.10 Multiple hypothesis testing

We estimate impacts for many outcomes, and therefore may obtain at least some apparently significant impacts by chance. To account for this, we report false discovery rate-adjusted p-values (henceforth q-values), for three sets of tests: (1) tests of no difference in outcomes between treatment and control schools for all ITT estimates of the programme's impact on students' endline test scores (separately for estimates using all endline students and for students with panel data, and separately for scores that use all test items and scores using only items most closely related to the SSDP training); (2) tests of no difference across actual treatment status for all LATE estimates of programme impacts on test scores (also separately for estimates using all endline students and for students with panel data, and separately for scores that use all test items and scores using only items most closely related to the SSDP training); and (3) tests of no difference in outcomes across the treatment and control study arms for all ITT estimates of programme impact on teacher pedagogical practices from the head teacher, teacher and student questionnaires. We calculate q-values for each test, following the approach of Benjamini and Yekutieli (2001), which allows for any type of correlation across individual p-values within the group.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Regression-based testing finds that attrition rates are insignificantly different between treatment and control groups for eighth-grade baseline students, but significantly different for ninth-grade baseline students. We also find statistically significant differences between treatment and control groups in the types of attrition and average test scores of attriters. Our pre-analysis plan calls for using Lee bounds of impact estimates if: there are statistically significant differences in attrition across study arms; if there are differences of at least 5 percentage points in attrition rates across study arms; and if there are statistically significant or economically important differences in attrition types or average test scores among attriters. Following this rule requires us to calculate Lee bounds. Yet given the small differences in attrition between treatment and control, we do not believe Lee bounds calculations could alter our conclusions, and we do not report them.

#### Table 1: Description of student attrition

|   | Students in grade 8 at baseline  |  |  | Students in grade 9 at baseline  |  |  |
|---|----------------------------------|--|--|----------------------------------|--|--|
|   | % of all<br>baseline<br>students | Average<br>baseline<br>maths<br>scoreª | Average<br>baseline<br>science<br>scoreª | % of all<br>baseline<br>students | Average<br>baseline<br>maths<br>score <sup>a</sup> | Average<br>baseline<br>science<br>score <sup>a</sup> |
| Treatment group   |                                  |  |  |                                  |  |  |
| All types of attrition  | 35.4                             | -0.33                                  | -0.41                                    | 44.3                             | -0.20  | -0.25  |
| Enrolled in grade but absent  | 21.2                             | -0.33                                  | -0.44                                    | 27.1                             | -0.21  | -0.29  |
| Repeating previous grade  | 1.9                              | -0.50                                  | -0.58                                    | 2.3                              | -0.27  | -0.20  |
| Moved to other government school  | 3.1                              | -0.01                                  | 0.01                                     | 0.7                              | 0.05   | -0.39  |
| Moved to private school   | 0.1                              | 1.45                                   | 1.10                                     | 0.1                              | -0.79  | -0.37  |
| Not in school   | 7.9                              | -0.39                                  | -0.45                                    | 7.2                              | -0.34  | -0.36  |
| Unknown   | 1.2                              | -0.48                                  | -0.56                                    | 0.7                              | -0.54  | -0.57  |
| Classes not in session (school-level attrition)                                 | 0.0                              | NA                                     | NA                                       | 6.3                              | 0.03   | 0.07   |
| Control group   |                                  |  |  |                                  |  |  |
| All types of attrition  | 35.9                             | -0.21                                  | -0.30                                    | 41.4                             | -0.19  | -0.20  |
| Enrolled in grade but absent  | 17.8                             | -0.16                                  | -0.31                                    | 25.1                             | -0.05  | -0.06  |
| Repeating previous grade  | 4.7                              | -0.28                                  | -0.31                                    | 2.5                              | -0.05  | -0.14  |
| Moved to other government school  | 3.1                              | 0.04                                   | 0.03                                     | 0.4                              | -0.11  | -0.11  |
| Moved to private school   | 0.3                              | 0.29                                   | 0.31                                     | 0.0                              | 0.23   | -0.20  |
| Not in school   | 9.0                              | -0.34                                  | -0.36                                    | 7.2                              | -0.33  | -0.38  |
| Unknown   | 1.1                              | -0.36                                  | -0.54                                    | 0.4                              | -0.06  | -0.55  |
| Classes not in session (school-level attrition)                                 | 0.0                              | NA                                     | NA                                       | 5.9                              | -0.70  | -0.56  |
| p-values for tests of treatment/control difference in:                          |                                  |  |  |                                  |  |  |
| Attrition probability <sup>b</sup>  |                                  | 0.867                                  |  |                                  | 0.065  |  |
| Distribution of endline attrition status <sup>c</sup>                           |                                  | 0.000                                  |  |                                  | 0.011  |  |
| Difference in average maths score between attritters and stayers <sup>a</sup>   |                                  | 0.215                                  |  |                                  | 0.902  |  |
| Difference in average science score between attritters and stayers <sup>a</sup> |                                  | 0.093                                  |  |                                  | 0.648  |  |

Note: <sup>a</sup> = test scores are indexes constructed from joint IRT analysis of baseline and endline scores for a given grade-level cohort and subject; <sup>b</sup> = test of hypothesis that coefficient on Treat indicator is zero in a WLS student-level regression of an attrition indicator on the Treat indicator and district-stratum fixed effects; standard errors are adjusted for stratification and school-level clustering; <sup>c</sup> = chi-squared test in unweighted data of hypothesis that distribution of students by endline presence or attrition type is identical for treatment and control; <sup>d</sup> = test of hypothesis that coefficient on interaction term between an indicator of subsequently attritting and the Treat indicator is zero, in a WLS student-level regression of test score on attrition indicator, Treat indicator, their interaction and district-stratum fixed effects.

## 4. Findings

#### 4.1 Intervention implementation fidelity

This section uses monitoring data (Shrestha 2019) and selected endline data to describe the roll-out of, and teacher attendance at, the SSDP training sessions. Section 4.3 uses a wider range of qualitative and quantitative data to check assumptions underlying the programme's theory of change.

#### 4.1.1 SSDP training roll-out and uptake

The SSDP trainings appear to have been rolled out successfully in the study districts, though more slowly than we would have liked for the evaluation. Table 2 summarises data on the timing, curriculum content, and participation for the SSDP maths and science trainings for the 14 ETCs and 16 districts relevant to our study. The third and eighth columns show when the ETC maths and science trainings were conducted.

While the original evaluation plan was to roll out the trainings in October and November of 2017 (soon after baseline data collection), in practice no trainings began before December of 2017, and most took place in April or May of 2018. This was often due to delays in earmarking and disbursing government funds by the Ministry of Finance and the Ministry of Education, Science and Technology. By the end of 2017 the Ministry of Finance had made available adequate funds to finance trainings in only one subject per district.

We asked the ETCs to prioritise the maths trainings, if feasible, in order to study the impacts of at least one common training across all study districts even if funding did not arrive for another set of trainings. Twelve ETCs complied, conducting the maths training first, but the ETCs in Dang and Myagdi conducted the science training first, because they failed to elicit enough applicants for the maths training within the relevant time frame to warrant running that training first. Despite requests to the legislature by policymakers involved in this research to expedite funding for the remaining trainings, that funding was released only in mid-April 2018.<sup>27</sup>

The ETCs seem to have adhered to the plan to invite treatment schools to send their secondary maths and science teachers to the SSDP trainings, while not inviting teachers from control schools and other schools in their local areas (VDCs). Monitoring phone calls confirmed this, and administrative attendance data merged with our endline data indicate that, at endline, only teachers in schools assigned to treatment had attended the SSDP trainings.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Additional idiosyncratic problems led to further delays in some ETCs: a delay in sending to the ETCs an NCED circular officially approving the unusual elements of the roll-out dictated by the research design; delays in sending the NCED training curriculum guidelines; teacher unavailability during the winter break in mountain areas; teacher unavailability during March 2018 end-of-year exams and the start of the next academic year in April 2018; unavailability of ETC personnel to release funds or oversee trainings; delays because ETCs were already reserved for other trainings; and (later in 2018) uncertainty because of the likely dissolution of some ETCs due to larger government reforms.

| ETC       | Study        | ETC maths    | Total no.             | SSDP or              | No. of maths    | % of endline          | ETC science  | Total no.             | SSDP or              | No. of science  | % of endline          |
|-----------|--------------|--------------|-----------------------|----------------------|-----------------|-----------------------|--------------|-----------------------|----------------------|-----------------|-----------------------|
| name      | district     | training     | of maths              | earlier              | teachers in     | maths                 | training     | of science            | earlier              | teachers in     | science               |
|           | name         | session      | teachers              | curriculum           | endline schools | teachers who          | session      | teachers              | curriculum           | endline schools | teachers who          |
|           |              | dates from   | attend-               | used as              | assigned to     | completed             | dates from   | attending             | used as              | assigned to     | completed             |
|           |              | Dec. 2017 to | ing the               | base                 | SSDP treatment  | SSDP                  | Dec. 2017 to | the                   | base                 | SSDP            | SSDP                  |
|           |              | May 2018     | training <sup>a</sup> | (maths)              |                 | training <sup>b</sup> | July 2018    | training <sup>a</sup> | (science)            | treatment       | training <sup>b</sup> |
| Doti      | Achham       | 5/3–5/12     | 18                    | SSDP                 | 9               | 44                    | 5/23–6/1     | 28                    | SSDP                 | 8               | 38                    |
| Rupendehi | Arghakhanchi | 4/6-4/15     | 24                    | SSDP                 | 8               | 75                    | 5/17–5/26    | 23                    | SSDP                 | 7               | 57                    |
| Rupendehi | Kapilvastu   | 4/6-4/15     | 24                    | SSDP                 | 9               | 56                    | 5/17–5/26    | 23                    | SSDP                 | 7               | 43                    |
| Myagdi    | Baglung      | 5/6-5/15     | 25                    | SSDP                 | 8               | 75                    | 4/8-4/17     | 15                    | SSDP                 | 4               | 25                    |
| Chitwan   | Chitwan      | 4/1-4/10     | 25                    | SSDP⁰                | 12              | 33                    | 5/21–5/30    | 25                    | SSDP⁰                | 12              | 25                    |
| Surkhet   | Dailekh      | 1/5–1/14     | 14                    | Earlier <sup>d</sup> | 9               | 67                    | 6/13–6/22    | 22                    | Earlier              | 7               | 57                    |
| Kavre     | Kavre        | 4/30–5/9     | 25                    | SSDP                 | 7               | 71                    | 5/23–6/1     | 24                    | SSDP                 | 6               | 50                    |
| Kavre     | Solukhumbu   | 4/30–5/9     | 25                    | SSDP                 | 9               | 56                    | 5/23–6/1     | 24                    | SSDP                 | 9               | 22                    |
| Tanahu    | Lamjung      | 3/28-4/6     | 25                    | SSDP                 | 6               | 83                    | 5/29–6/7     | 23                    | SSDP                 | 6               | 67                    |
| Morang    | Morang       | 3/7–3/16     | 20                    | SSDP                 | 15              | 53                    | 5/10–5/19    | 22                    | Earlier              | 16              | 25                    |
| Nuwakot   | Nuwakot      | 2/2-2/11     | 24                    | SSDP                 | 6               | 83                    | 5/3–5/12     | 25                    | SSDP                 | 6               | 50                    |
| Illam     | Panchthar    | 2/6-2/15     | 19                    | SSDP⁰                | 6               | 50                    | 6/18–6/27    | 23                    | Unclear <sup>g</sup> | 8               | 50                    |
| Parsa     | Parsa        | 3/22-3/31    | 20                    | SSDP                 | 7               | 71                    | 7/7–7/16     | 23                    | SSDP                 | 8               | 50                    |
| Dang      | Salyan       | 5/17–5/26    | 25                    | SSDP <sup>e</sup>    | 6               | 67                    | 12/19–12/28  | 21                    | Earlier              | 6               | 50                    |
| Dhanusa   | Sindhuli     | 12/27–1/5    | 28                    | Earlier              | 8               | 63                    | 5/6-5/15     | 18                    | Unclear <sup>g</sup> | 8               | 50                    |
| Jumla     | Jumla        | 4/8-4/17     | 25                    | No data              | 8               | 25 <sup>f</sup>       | 4/29–5/7     | No data               | No data              | 7               | 43 <sup>f</sup>       |
| Total     |              |              | 366                   |                      | 133             | 60                    |              | 339                   |                      | 125             | 42                    |

 Table 2: SSDP maths and science training roll-out

Note: <sup>a</sup> = including teachers from both study and non-study schools who attended part or all of the 10-day trainings; <sup>b</sup> = teachers who signed up for training are counted as having completed the training unless we have attendance records showing that they attended fewer than six days. Among those for whom we have records, more than 90 per cent completed all 10 days, so we imputed completion to those without records; <sup>c</sup> = the ETC reported that it followed the NCED curriculum, but the training schedule it submitted was not specific enough to confirm; <sup>d</sup> = the ETC reported that it referred to the hard copy of the curriculum provided to the trainers during the master training of trainers. It was not informed of the new curriculum. Its training schedule lacks sessions for arithmetic, statistics and probability; <sup>e</sup> = the ETC reports that it mostly followed the NCED curriculum but also included some general pedagogy subjects. <sup>f</sup> = This total is likely to be an undercount, because the ETC provided incomplete information; <sup>g</sup> = the training schedule the ETC submitted was not specific enough to confirm whether it followed the new curriculum.

All ETCs conducted trainings for the required 10 days, but the degree of adherence to the NCED curriculum guidelines varied across ETCs (Shrestha 2019), as seen in the fifth and tenth columns of Table 3. Most of the 13 ETCs for which we have data used variants of the SSDP curricula distributed by the NCED for both maths and science, but two used a curriculum developed for secondary maths teachers prior to distribution of the SSDP guidelines. At least three used pre-existing curricula for the science trainings, explaining that they did not receive the new guidelines from the NCED before the trainings or that they were even unaware that new training guidelines existed.

In addition, the NCED guidelines allow ETCs to customise a small percentage of content based on local teachers' requests. Thus, the content varied even among ETCs using the NCED curriculum. For maths trainings, some ETCs added content in curriculum analysis, micro-teaching, student assessment or the nature, historical background and importance of maths. For science trainings, topics were added on the use of information and communication technology, curriculum analysis, student assessment, or child psychology and learning. Given SSDP designers' aim of employing a more uniform teacher training curriculum than had been used under the SSRP, the observed curriculum variation was probably greater than policymakers intended, though this is not surprising given the historically decentralised nature of teacher training in Nepal and the weak oversight of the training centres by central administrators (as discussed further in section 4.3).

Standard practice is for ETCs to implement trainings using their own staff and contracted 'roster trainers' (who often work elsewhere as school resource persons, head teachers, teachers, NGO staff or college professors). Among ETCs for which we have data, trainings were conducted by 0–5 staff trainers and 0–6 roster trainers. ETC staff tended to have skills for primary and pedagogy concerns, and roster trainers tended to have maths and science expertise.

Participation in the SSDP training by invited teachers was discouragingly low (see seventh and twelfth columns in Table 3). Among ninth- and tenth-grade maths and science teachers in the endline survey in schools assigned to SSDP training, only 60 per cent of maths teachers and 42 per cent of science teachers had completed the trainings. Participation was low because some of those present at baseline who participated in the trainings later left the schools (to be replaced by untrained teachers), and because some present at baseline (and endline) did not attend the trainings. Of the teachers present at endline in schools assigned to treatment who did not complete the training, 60 per cent were present at baseline. Possible reasons for low participation are examined in section 4.3.

On a more positive note, among teachers who did participate in the trainings, daily attendance was high, with nearly all teachers who enrolled in the trainings attending all 10 days.

#### 4.2 Impact analysis

#### 4.2.1 Descriptive statistics and balance tables

Tables 3 and 4 present descriptive statistics and balance tests for our baseline data. We see little evidence of imbalance; the last columns show significant differences in means between the treatment and control arms only for the number of students, the school having electricity, the head teacher having at least a master's degree and whether a teacher is female. The absolute sizes of the differences are not large, and the differences
lose significance after adjusting for multiple hypothesis testing. Below we check the robustness of our main findings to including controls for these variables. Following our pre-analysis plan, we also check robustness by including controls for key school-, teacher- and student-level variables of interest for studying impact heterogeneity.

Two dimensions of heterogeneity of interest to policymakers in Nepal are student gender and ethnicity. To assess heterogeneity in academic performance on these dimensions, we use endline rather than baseline test scores as we believe that the quality of our assessments and ethnicity indicators is higher in the endline data. Average scores for females are lower than for males on both maths and science for both grades. Muslim and Dalit students have lower scores than those from other ethnic groups, while Brahmin, Chhetri and Newar students fare better. This disparity is largest for tenth-grade students in science (for details, see Table F1 in Appendix F).

|                        | Number of                     | Mean      | Standard  | Mean for    | Mean for    | p-value                               |  |  |
|------------------------|-------------------------------|-----------|-----------|-------------|-------------|---------------------------------------|--|--|
| Variable               | observations                  | (standard | deviation | treated     | control     | for test of                           |  |  |
|                        |                               | error of  |           | sample      | sample      | β <sub>T</sub> = 0 <sup>a, b, c</sup> |  |  |
|                        |                               | mean)     |           | (std. dev.) | (std. dev.) |                                       |  |  |
| School-level characte  | eristics                      |           |           |             |             |                                       |  |  |
| Total number of        | 203                           | 427.7     | 249.8     | 402.1       | 453.1       | 0.036**                               |  |  |
| students in school     |                               | (15.4)    |           | (214.5)     | (277.7)     |                                       |  |  |
| Hours walking to       | 203                           | 3.16      | 4.54      | 2.85        | 3.47        | 0.395                                 |  |  |
| nearest all-weather    |                               | (0.35)    |           | (3.64)      | (5.26)      |                                       |  |  |
| road                   |                               |           |           |             |             |                                       |  |  |
| Students per section   | 203                           | 49.53     | 26.74     | 47.93       | 51.11       | 0.242                                 |  |  |
| in grade 9             |                               | (1.61)    |           | (25.47)     | (27.82)     |                                       |  |  |
| Students per section   | 203                           | 42.92     | 22.05     | 41.62       | 44.20       | 0.279                                 |  |  |
| in grade 10            |                               | (1.38)    |           | (20.73)     | (23.19)     |                                       |  |  |
| Days school was        | 203                           | 195.59    | 16.18     | 194.87      | 196.31      | 0.544                                 |  |  |
| open last year (grade  |                               | (1.21)    |           | (18.36)     | (13.68)     |                                       |  |  |
| 9)                     |                               |           |           |             |             |                                       |  |  |
| School has electricity | 203                           | 0.77      | 0.42      | 0.81        | 0.73        | 0.085*                                |  |  |
| (several hours most    |                               | (0.03)    |           | (0.40)      | (0.44)      |                                       |  |  |
| days)                  |                               |           |           |             |             |                                       |  |  |
| Whether head           | 203                           | 0.57      | 0.50      | 0.63        | 0.52        | 0.078*                                |  |  |
| teacher has at least a |                               | (0.04)    |           | (0.49)      | (0.50)      |                                       |  |  |
| master's degree        |                               |           |           |             |             |                                       |  |  |
| Hours per week head    | 203                           | 16.38     | 6.82      | 16.95       | 15.81       | 0.193                                 |  |  |
| teacher teaches        |                               | (0.49)    |           | (6.49)      | (7.08)      |                                       |  |  |
| Estimated              | 201                           | -0.02     | 0.90      | 0.04        | -0.07       | 0.454                                 |  |  |
| management quality     |                               | (0.07)    |           | (0.90)      | (0.89)      |                                       |  |  |
| index                  |                               |           |           |             |             |                                       |  |  |
|                        | Teacher-level characteristics |           |           |             |             |                                       |  |  |
| Female                 | 395                           | 0.07      | 0.25      | 0.09        | 0.04        | 0.030**                               |  |  |
|                        |                               | (0.01)    |           | (0.29)      | (0.20)      |                                       |  |  |
| Has at least a         | 361                           | 0.81      | 0.40      | 0.79        | 0.82        | 0.291                                 |  |  |
| bachelor's degree in   |                               | (0.02)    |           | (0.41)      | (0.38)      |                                       |  |  |
| maths/science          |                               |           |           |             |             |                                       |  |  |

#### Table 3: Baseline descriptive statistics and balance tests: schools and teachers

|                     | Number of    | Mean      | Standard  | Mean for    | Mean for     | p-value                   |
|---------------------|--------------|-----------|-----------|-------------|--------------|---------------------------|
| Variable            | observations | (standard | deviation | treated     | control      | for test of               |
|                     |              | error of  |           | sample      | sample       | βτ = 0 <sup>a, b, c</sup> |
|                     |              | mean)     |           | (std. dev.) | (std. dev.)  |                           |
| Had SSRP training   | 395          | 0.31      | 0.46      | 0.30        | 0.32         | 0.481                     |
|                     |              | (0.03)    |           | (0.46)      | (0.47)       |                           |
| Years of experience | 393          | 11.09     | 8.12      | 10.69       | 11.49 (8.42) | 0.168                     |
|                     |              | (0.44)    |           | (7.80)      |              |                           |
| Hours spent         | 393          | 0.81      | 0.96      | 0.79        | 0.82         | 0.505                     |
| preparing for class |              | (0.05)    |           | (0.85)      | (1.07)       |                           |

Note: std. dev. = standard deviation; <sup>a</sup> = for all p-values, \* indicates significance at the 10% level, \*\* indicates significance at the 5% level and \*\*\* indicates significance at the 1% level; <sup>b</sup> = the pvalues from tests of the hypothesis that the coefficient on Treat is zero, based on WLS regressions of each variable on a treatment indicator and district and priority stratum fixed effects; <sup>c</sup> = for binary outcome variables, weighted probit regressions were used instead of WLS.

| Variable  | Number of observations | Mean<br>(standard | Standard deviation | Mean for<br>treated | Mean for<br>control | p-value for<br>test of                |
|---|------------------------|-------------------|--------------------|---------------------|---------------------|---------------------------------------|
|   |                        | error of          |                    | sample              | sample              | β <sub>T</sub> = 0 <sup>a, b, c</sup> |
|   |                        | mean)             |                    | (std. dev.)         | (std. dev.)         |                                       |
| Student-level characteristics in grades 8 and 9 |                        |                   |                    |                     |                     |                                       |
| Female  | 16,435                 | 0.55              | 0.50               | 0.55                | 0.55 (0.50)         | 0.875                                 |
|   |                        | (0.01)            |                    | (0.50)              |                     |                                       |
| Father can read and                             | 15,594                 | 0.83              | 0.38               | 0.83                | 0.82 (0.38)         | 0.470                                 |
| write   |                        | (0.01)            |                    | (0.37)              |                     |                                       |
| Father has at least                             | 15,753                 | 0.28              | 0.45               | 0.28                | 0.28 (0.45)         | 0.881                                 |
| secondary                                       |                        | (0.01)            |                    | (0.45)              |                     |                                       |
| education                                       |                        |                   |                    |                     |                     |                                       |
| Mother can read                                 | 14,830                 | 0.59              | 0.49               | 0.59                | 0.59 (0.49)         | 0.964                                 |
| and write                                       |                        | (0.01)            |                    | (0.49)              |                     |                                       |
| Mother has at least                             | 15,831                 | 0.11              | 0.32               | 0.11                | 0.12 (0.33)         | 0.384                                 |
| secondary                                       |                        | (0.01)            |                    | (0.31)              |                     |                                       |
| education                                       |                        |                   |                    |                     |                     |                                       |
| Nepali is main                                  | 16,251                 | 0.75              | 0.43               | 0.74                | 0.77 (0.43)         | 0.226                                 |
| language spoken at                              |                        | (0.02)            |                    | (0.44)              |                     |                                       |
| home  | 10.105                 |                   |                    | 0.00 (0.77)         |                     |                                       |
| Family IRT asset                                | 16,435                 | -0.04             | 0.77               | -0.03 (0.77)        | -0.04 (0.77)        | 0.950                                 |
| Index   |                        | (0.03)            |                    |                     |                     |                                       |
| Baseline test                                   |                        |                   |                    |                     |                     |                                       |
| scores  |                        |                   |                    |                     |                     |                                       |
| Grade 8 maths                                   | 7,651                  | 18.12             | 10.57              | 18.13               | 18.11               | 0.460                                 |
| percentage score                                |                        | (0.45)            |                    | (10.52)             | (10.62)             |                                       |
| Grade 8 maths IRT                               | 7,651                  | 0.01              | 0.86               | 0.01                | 0.01 (0.87)         | 0.414                                 |
| latent variable                                 |                        | (0.04)            |                    | (0.86)              |                     |                                       |
| Grade 8 science                                 | 7,651                  | 28.17             | 12.4               | 28.58               | 27.76               | 0.609                                 |
| percentage score                                |                        | (0.68)            |                    | (13.07)             | (11.66)             |                                       |
| Grade 8 science IRT                             | 7,651                  | 0.05              | 0.91               | 0.08                | 0.03 (0.86)         | 0.477                                 |
| latent variable                                 |                        | (0.05)            |                    | (0.95)              |                     |                                       |

#### Table 4: Baseline descriptive statistics and balance tests: students

|                     | Number of    | Mean      | Standard  | Mean for    | Mean for    | p-value for               |
|---------------------|--------------|-----------|-----------|-------------|-------------|---------------------------|
| Variable            | observations | (standard | deviation | treated     | control     | test of                   |
|                     |              | error of  |           | sample      | sample      | βτ = 0 <sup>a, b, c</sup> |
|                     |              | mean)     |           | (std. dev.) | (std. dev.) |                           |
| Grade 9 maths       | 8,784        | 28.53     | 15.64     | 27.95       | 29.06       | 0.168                     |
| percentage score    |              | (0.83)    |           | (15.00)     | (16.18)     |                           |
| Grade 9 maths IRT   | 8,784        | 0.02      | 0.92      | -0.01       | 0.04 (0.95) | 0.196                     |
| latent variable     |              | (0.05)    |           | (0.88)      |             |                           |
| Grade 9 science     | 8,784        | 28.07     | 11.11     | 27.61       | 28.48       | 0.314                     |
| percentage score    |              | (0.58)    |           | (10.61)     | (11.54)     |                           |
| Grade 9 science IRT | 8,784        | 0.02      | 0.84      | -0.01       | 0.04 (0.88) | 0.366                     |
| latent variable     |              | (0.04)    |           | (0.81)      |             |                           |

Note: std. dev. = standard deviation; <sup>a</sup> = for all p-values, \* indicates significance at the 10% level, \*\* indicates significance at the 5% level and \*\*\* indicates significance at the 1% level; <sup>b</sup> = the pvalues from tests of hypothesis that coefficient on a treatment indicator is zero, based on WLS regressions of each variable on the treatment indicator and district and priority stratum fixed effects; <sup>c</sup> = for binary outcome variables, weighted probit regressions were used instead of WLS; <sup>d</sup> = the family asset IRT index is defined in section 3.4.

|                  | Full sample        | an (std. dev.)     | Full sample<br>estimates |                | Sample | Panel samp          |                        | Sample         |       |
|------------------|--------------------|--------------------|--------------------------|----------------|--------|---------------------|------------------------|----------------|-------|
|                  | Treated<br>schools | Control<br>schools | Treat                    | R <sup>2</sup> | size   | Treat               | Baseline<br>test score | R <sup>2</sup> | size  |
| Full assessments |                    |                    |                          |                |        |                     |                        |                |       |
| Grade 9 maths    | -0.057<br>(0.931)  | 0.000<br>(1.000)   | -0.110*<br>(0.066)       | 0.229          | 6,800  | -0.107**<br>(0.050) | 0.532***<br>(0.020)    | 0.428          | 4,903 |
| Grade 9 science  | -0.051<br>(0.912)  | 0.000<br>(1.000)   | -0.109*<br>(0.060)       | 0.160          | 6,797  | -0.106*<br>(0.054)  | 0.494***<br>(0.022)    | 0.350          | 4,901 |
| Grade 10 maths   | -0.035<br>(0.998)  | 0.000<br>(1.000)   | -0.044<br>(0.072)        | 0.253          | 5,832  | -0.000<br>(0.050)   | 0.563***<br>(0.017)    | 0.494          | 4,992 |
| Grade 10 science | -0.002<br>(0.971)  | 0.000<br>(1.000)   | 0.006<br>(0.074)         | 0.181          | 5,829  | 0.025<br>(0.061)    | 0.502***<br>(0.021)    | 0.359          | 4,990 |
| SSDP focus items |                    |                    |                          |                |        |                     |                        |                |       |
| Grade 9 maths    | -0.004<br>(0.953)  | 0.000<br>(1.000)   | -0.046<br>(0.066)        | 0.163          | 6,800  | -0.054<br>(0.056)   | 0.444***<br>(0.021)    | 0.307          | 4,903 |
| Grade 9 science  | -0.061<br>(0.914)  | 0.000<br>(1.000)   | -0.100*<br>(0.057)       | 0.126          | 6,797  | -0.075<br>(0.054)   | 0.426***<br>(0.020)    | 0.254          | 4,901 |
| Grade 10 maths   | -0.044<br>(1.001)  | 0.000<br>(1.000)   | -0.037<br>(0.070)        | 0.207          | 5,832  | -0.024<br>(0.059)   | 0.444***<br>(0.018)    | 0.352          | 4,992 |
| Grade 10 science | 0.009<br>(0.979)   | 0.000<br>(1.000)   | 0.024<br>(0.072)         | 0.142          | 5,829  | 0.022<br>(0.063)    | 0.433***<br>(0.019)    | 0.267          | 4,990 |

Table 5: ITT estimates of impact of SSDP training on students' normalised test scores, full endline and panel samples

Note: std. dev. = standard deviation. Estimates of  $\beta_T$  from WLS regressions of normalised student assessment scores on the Treat variable, district by priority stratum fixed effects, and dummy variables for whether assent was requested before or after the test and whether the maths test was given first (followed by the science test). Panel estimates add baseline scores. Standard errors, in parentheses, account for random assignment within strata and are clustered at the school level. Statistical significance at .10, .05 and .01 levels indicated by \*, \*\* and \*\*\*.

#### 4.2.2 Estimated impacts on student test scores

Table 6 presents descriptive statistics and ITT impact estimates for the eight endline student test score variables: two grades (9 and 10), two subjects (maths and science), and two types of scores for each assessment: (1) a total score based on answers to all 35 questions in the assessment; and (2) an 'SSDP focus' score based on answers to about half of the questions that we deemed most closely tied to the SSDP training curricula. All scores were normalised by subtracting the mean and dividing by the standard deviation of the control group.<sup>28</sup>

Our main ITT regressions using the full endline sample (Table 5, fourth column) yield no evidence that SSDP teacher training increased student test scores: 5 of the 8 estimates are negative, and 1 is statistically significant at the 5 per cent level, while three others are significant at the 10 per cent level. The 95 per cent confidence intervals (not shown) rule out effects above 0.10 standard deviations (of the distribution of test scores) in 3 out of 8 cases and rule out effects above 0.18 standard deviations in all cases.

ITT regressions on the panel sample, with baseline test scores as controls (Table 5, seventh column), largely confirm these results. Baseline scores are highly significant, as expected, raising the R-squared measures. Adding them reduces slightly the standard errors of the estimates, ruling out positive effects at slightly lower thresholds.

ITT estimates may be small because only 60 per cent of endline maths teachers and 42 per cent of endline science teachers in the schools assigned to SSDP training actually attended those trainings. We report LATE in Table 6; these regressions include an indicator of whether students' teachers completed the SSDP trainings and use treatment assignment to instrument that variable. As expected, the LATE estimates of the impact of completion of treatment (rather than invitation to treatment) are larger in absolute value and less precise, but tell largely the same story as the ITT estimates: almost all point estimates are negative, and 14 of 16 are statistically insignificant. Note that LATE impact estimates apply only to teachers who participated in the training, and these may not extrapolate well to those who did not participate. However, among the teachers in treated schools when endline data were collected, there are few observable differences between those who participated in the training and those who did not. This is shown in Online appendix Table A2.<sup>29</sup> Thus it is possible that these estimates apply more broadly to all teachers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> For most of the regressions in Tables 5 and 6, when we run similar regressions that allow different impacts between SSDP training with and without the video assignment, we fail to reject the hypothesis that the two impacts are equal. The only exception is ninth-grade maths, where the difference is significant at the 10 per cent level for the total score and the 5 per cent level for the SSDP focus score. After adjusting the p-values of these tests for multiple hypothesis testing, these differences in impacts for the two training types are insignificant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> The only significant difference is that teachers who had received previous training were much more likely to participate in the SSDP training; 73 per cent of participating teachers had prior training, but only 40 per cent of those who did not participate had prior training.

|                  | Full endline sample treatment |                |             | Panel sample        |                     |                |             |
|------------------|-------------------------------|----------------|-------------|---------------------|---------------------|----------------|-------------|
|                  | effect                        |                | Sample size | treatment effec     |                     |                |             |
|                  | Treat                         | R <sup>2</sup> | 1           | Treat               | Baseline score      | R <sup>2</sup> | Sample size |
| Full assessments |                               |                |             |                     |                     |                |             |
| Grade 9 maths    | -0.143<br>(0.094)             | 0.240          | 6,048       | -0.145**<br>(0.069) | 0.526***<br>(0.022) | 0.433          | 4,353       |
| Grade 9 science  | -0.279<br>(0.178)             | 0.145          | 5,963       | -0.298*<br>(0.157)  | 0.516***<br>(0.023) | 0.350          | 4,336       |
| Grade 10 maths   | -0.100<br>(0.105)             | 0.262          | 5,098       | -0.023<br>(0.080)   | 0.537***<br>(0.020) | 0.476          | 4,343       |
| Grade 10 science | -0.050<br>(0.155)             | 0.175          | 5,003       | -0.026<br>(0.122)   | 0.501***<br>(0.021) | 0.363          | 4,310       |
| SSDP focus items |                               |                |             |                     |                     |                |             |
| Grade 9 maths    | -0.046<br>(0.093)             | 0.177          | 6,048       | -0.051<br>(0.076)   | 0.442***<br>(0.021) | 0.315          | 4,353       |
| Grade 9 science  | -0.252<br>(0.165)             | 0.117          | 5,963       | -0.167<br>(0.153)   | 0.445***<br>(0.021) | 0.262          | 4,336       |
| Grade 10 maths   | -0.100<br>(0.105)             | 0.263          | 5,098       | -0.055<br>(0.091)   | 0.412***<br>(0.019) | 0.336          | 4,343       |
| Grade 10 science | -0.037<br>(0.148)             | 0.137          | 5,003       | -0.048<br>(0.125)   | 0.433***<br>(0.020) | 0.266          | 4,310       |

Table 6: IV/LATE estimates of impact of SSDP training on students' normalised test scores, full endline and panel samples

Note: all estimates are for  $\beta_T$  from instrumental variable (IV) regressions of normalised student assessment scores on a variable indicating that the student's teacher received training (instrumented by treatment assignment), district by priority stratum fixed effects, and dummy variables for whether assent was requested before or after the test and for whether the maths test was administered first (followed by the science test). Regression standard errors, in parentheses, account for random assignment within strata and are clustered at the school level. Estimates statistically significant at the .10, .05 and .01 levels are indicated by \*, \*\* and \*\*\*, respectively.

Following our pre-analysis plan, we checked our results' robustness in five ways. The results are very similar if we: (1) use unweighted instead of weighted regressions; (2) omit controls for test-taking conditions; (3) add school, teacher and student controls; (4) add controls for variables not balanced at baseline; or (5) use normalised raw percentage scores instead of normalised IRT-based indexes the dependent variable. Details can be found in Table F2 in Appendix F.<sup>30</sup>

The descriptive statistics and results motivate two comments on our sample size calculations. First, the intra-school correlations (in the control group) ranged from 0.054 to 0.095, which is much lower than the value of 0.65 that we assumed for our power calculations (based on data from earlier assessments). Yet our standard errors are not much smaller than the sizes targeted in our minimum detectable effect (MDE) calculations. The main explanation for why the standard errors are not much smaller is the lower-than-assumed treatment rate among treatment schoolteachers.

Second, while our standard errors are about 0.07 standard deviations, and thus small enough to detect a true effect size of 0.14 standard deviations or larger (a reasonable MDE size for standard sample size calculations), they are still too large to rule out modest effects, such as 0.10 standard deviations, even for true effect sizes of zero.<sup>31</sup> This suggests that the MDE criteria often employed in sample size calculations will lead researchers to set samples that are too small to provide confident conclusions of no impact.

#### 4.2.3 Analysis of impact heterogeneity

We comply with our pre-analysis plan to analyse the heterogeneity of ITT impacts along diverse dimensions, despite detecting no positive average impacts, since it is possible to detect positive impacts in some subsets of the population. We do not report heterogeneity results for our LATE estimates since none of the 12 estimates for LATE heterogeneity was significant at the 5 per cent level. This is not surprising, given that we find little evidence of heterogeneity in our ITT estimates.

Regressions reported in Online appendix A (Table A13) allow treatment effect heterogeneity by teacher and school characteristics, including whether: (1) the teacher was trained under the SSRP (the most recent previous government teacher training); (2) the teacher has a permanent contract; (3) the teacher has five years of experience or less; and (4) the school's estimated management quality index is above the median. Only one of the 16 interaction terms is statistically significant at the 5 per cent level (another is significant at the 10% level), and in only two of 16 do we reject the null of no joint effect. The interaction terms' standard errors are large. We conclude that our data cannot detect impact heterogeneity in these dimensions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Following our pre-analysis plan, we also checked robustness using another measure of student achievement, the Secondary Education Examination scores (SEE scores). We checked balance according to these scores using the SEE results from shortly after the baseline data were collected (in March–April 2018), finding scores to be marginally significantly lower in treatment schools. Because of this we used data from March–April 2018 and March–April 2019 to obtain difference-in-differences estimates (with school fixed effects) of the treatment impact on maths and science SEE scores. The estimates are statistically insignificant and more imprecisely estimated than our main estimates. The point estimate for the SEE maths school is similar to ours, while the point estimate for science is positive but not significant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> A 95 per cent confidence interval of an unbiased estimate of a zero impact would range from -0.14 to 0.14, and thus would not rule out a true effect size of 0.10 standard deviations.

|   | Grade 9     |           | Grade 10    | Grade 10  |  |  |
|---|-------------|-----------|-------------|-----------|--|--|
|   | Mathematics | Science   | Mathematics | Science   |  |  |
| Heterogeneity by gender of student        |             |           |             |           |  |  |
| Treat                                     | -0.142*     | -0.161**  | -0.142*     | -0.071    |  |  |
|   | (0.068)     | (0.062)   | (0.081)     | (0.088)   |  |  |
| Female student                            | -0.329***   | -0.339*** | -0.475***   | -0.486*** |  |  |
|   | (0.049)     | (0.046)   | (0.044)     | (0.044)   |  |  |
| Treat × female student                    | 0.057       | 0.093     | 0.174**     | 0.138*    |  |  |
|   | (0.063)     | (0.059)   | (0.072)     | (0.075)   |  |  |
|   |             |           |             |           |  |  |
| p-value for test of joint significance of | 0.116       | 0.028**   | 0.045**     | 0.184     |  |  |
| Treat and interaction term                |             | 0.020     |             |           |  |  |
| <b>D</b> <sup>2</sup>                     | 0.253       | 0 183     | 0 202       | 0 227     |  |  |
| Sample size                               | 6 801       | 6 708     | 5.833       | 5 820     |  |  |
| Sample size                               | 0,001       | 0,790     | 5,055       | 5,029     |  |  |
| By education of parents                   |             |           |             |           |  |  |
| Treat                                     | -0.090      | -0.059    | -0.035      | 0.023     |  |  |
|   | (0.075)     | (0.072)   | (0.073)     | (0.079)   |  |  |
| At least one parent had secondary         | 0.327***    | 0.322***  | 0 254***    | 0 235***  |  |  |
| education                                 | (0.041)     | (0.047)   | (0.046)     | (0.056)   |  |  |
| Treat x at least one parent had           | -0.035      | -0.093    | -0.025      | -0.041    |  |  |
| secondary education                       | (0.065)     | (0.071)   | (0.064)     | (0.081)   |  |  |
| secondary education                       | (0.000)     | (0.071)   | (0.004)     | (0.001)   |  |  |
| p-value for test of joint significance of | 0.477       | 0.050*    | 0.750       | 0.077     |  |  |
| Treat and interaction term                | 0.177       | 0.052^    | 0.756       | 0.877     |  |  |
|   |             |           |             |           |  |  |
| R <sup>2</sup>                            | 0.253       | 0.181     | 0.266       | 0.192     |  |  |
| Sample size                               | 6,801       | 6,798     | 5,833       | 5,829     |  |  |
|   |             |           |             |           |  |  |
| By household wealth                       |             |           |             |           |  |  |
| Treat                                     | -0.111*     | -0.112*   | -0.032      | 0.016     |  |  |
|   | (0.062)     | (0.057)   | (0.070)     | (0.074)   |  |  |
| Household wealth index                    | 0.202***    | 0.194***  | 0.161***    | 0.116**   |  |  |
|   | (0.036)     | (0.038)   | (0.046)     | (0.047)   |  |  |
| Treat × household wealth index            | -0.004      | -0.076    | 0.021       | 0.048     |  |  |
|   | (0.056)     | (0.053)   | (0.064)     | (0.071)   |  |  |
| n value for test of joint significance of |             |           |             |           |  |  |
| p-value for test of joint significance of | 0.206       | 0.039**   | 0.826       | 0.793     |  |  |
| i reat and interaction term               |             |           |             |           |  |  |
| R <sup>2</sup>                            | 0.248       | 0.172     | 0.264       | 0.188     |  |  |
| Sample size                               | 6,739       | 6,736     | 5,769       | 5,763     |  |  |

 Table 7: Analysis of ITT combined-treatment impact heterogeneity by student and household characteristics, full endline sample

Note: all estimates are for  $\beta_T$  from WLS regressions of normalised student assessment scores on the treatment indicator, the heterogeneity variable, the interaction of the treatment indicator and heterogeneity variable, district by priority stratum fixed effects, and dummy variables for whether assent was requested before or after the test and for whether the maths test was administered first (followed by the science test). Regression standard errors, in parentheses, account for random assignment within strata and are clustered at the school level. Estimates statistically significant at the .10, .05 and .01 levels are indicated by \*, \*\* and \*\*\*, respectively.

The regressions in Table 7 allow for heterogeneity in treatment effects by student and household characteristics.<sup>32</sup> The variables themselves – whether the student is female, whether at least one parent has secondary education, and a household wealth index – are significantly associated with test scores in the expected directions. Yet only two of the 12 interactions are statistically significant, again in part due large standard errors. In just four of 12 cases are the treatment indicator and the interaction term jointly significant. Thus, while the point estimates suggest that the trainings' impact was less negative for girls than for boys in grade 9, positive for girls while negative for boys in grade 10, and slightly more negative for students with more educated parents, the statistical imprecision of these estimates prevents us from drawing any strong conclusions. Online appendix A Table A14 shows similarly inconclusive heterogeneity results by student ethnicity.

We investigated whether the impacts differ by student academic ability using two indicators of academic achievement they brought to secondary school: tercile in the baseline test score distribution and percentage correct on the endline assessment items pertaining to knowledge from earlier grades. (For the latter, the outcomes of interest are students' scores only on the endline assessment items that map to ninth- and tenth-grade curricula.) Online appendix A Table A15 shows that these interaction terms are all statistically insignificant at the 5 per cent level (2 of 12 are significant at the 10% level), in part due to large standard errors.

Table 8 shows the results of quantile regressions that together describe the treatment impacts at the tenth, twenty-fifth, fiftieth, seventy-fifth and ninetieth percentiles of the endline test score distribution. Our aim is to differentiate impacts across students from the tenth to ninetieth percentiles of the *unconditional* endline performance distribution, rather than students at those percentiles of the endline performance distribution *conditional on* their district, stratum, or student or school characteristics. Thus, these quantile regressions have no controls other than the treatment indicator.<sup>33</sup> In the top panel of Table 8, the standard errors account for clustering at the school level, but the estimation is not weighted (given limitations in STATA). Estimates in the bottom panel are weighted, but the standard errors do not account for clustering. The bottom panel confirms that weighting (or lack thereof) has little effect on the point estimates, so we focus on the top panel, which has clustered standard errors.<sup>34</sup> The point estimates suggest some tendency for any substantial negative impacts of SSDP teacher training to be concentrated among students at the upper end of the performance distribution, though again, standard errors (especially those adjusted for clustering) are large.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Analogous tables with separate effects by gender, parental education and teacher contract status are in Appendix Table A16. These are for researchers who want to conduct a meta-analysis using our results.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> In our pre-analysis plan we proposed to estimate these impacts using the generalised quantile regression method proposed by Powell (2017), which estimates impacts on unconditional quantiles while allowing for controls. Having encountered computational problems, we concluded that this method is infeasible for this report. Given that treatment was randomly assigned, we do not require other regressors for unbiasedness. Without additional controls, standard quantile regressions estimate the impacts of the treatment on quantiles of the unconditional distribution.
<sup>34</sup> For other regression results that allow for both weighting and clustered standard errors, we find that using population weights has relatively little effect on the results, while clustering the standard errors has a large negative effect on the precision of the estimates. Note that the results with clustered standard errors were estimated using a block (cluster) bootstrap with 50 replications.

It is plausible that there is a tendency for negative impacts to be concentrated among students who performed best prior to the intervention, and this is weakly suggested by our results. The teaching innovations promoted by the SSDP training (requiring demonstrations relevant to advanced topics using teaching aids made from local materials) may have been largely irrelevant for students entering grades 9 and 10 with

|   | Grade 9           |                 | Grade 10    |         |  |  |  |  |
|---|-------------------|-----------------|-------------|---------|--|--|--|--|
|   | Mathematics       | Science         | Mathematics | Science |  |  |  |  |
| Clustered standard errors (via bootstrapping), no weights |                   |                 |             |         |  |  |  |  |
| Treat, quantile 0.10                                      | 0.020             | 0.051           | 0.032       | 0.031   |  |  |  |  |
|   | (0.086)           | (0.081)         | (0.079)     | (0.077) |  |  |  |  |
| Treat, quantile 0.25                                      | 0.046             | 0.042           | -0.021      | 0.021   |  |  |  |  |
|   | (0.069)           | (0.064)         | (0.085)     | (0.088) |  |  |  |  |
| Treat, quantile 0.50                                      | -0.019            | -0.010          | -0.116      | -0.051  |  |  |  |  |
|   | (0.087)           | (0.076)         | (0.131)     | (0.122) |  |  |  |  |
| Treat, quantile 0.75                                      | -0.125            | -0.088          | -0.140      | -0.129  |  |  |  |  |
|   | (0.111)           | (0.104)         | (0.162)     | (0.148) |  |  |  |  |
| Treat, quantile 0.90                                      | -0.150            | -0.232**        | -0.184      | -0.169  |  |  |  |  |
|   | (0.116)           | (0.098)         | (0.141)     | (0.127) |  |  |  |  |
| Weighted estimation, standard                             | errors not adjust | ed for clusteri | ng          |         |  |  |  |  |
| Treat, quantile 0.10                                      | -0.010            | -0.009          | 0.002       | 0.041   |  |  |  |  |
|   | (0.039)           | (0.038)         | (0.039)     | (0.042) |  |  |  |  |
| Treat, quantile 0.25                                      | 0.011             | 0.017           | -0.033      | 0.025   |  |  |  |  |
|   | (0.033)           | (0.032)         | (0.033)     | (0.036) |  |  |  |  |
| Treat, quantile 0.50                                      | -0.035            | -0.049          | -0.083**    | 0.016   |  |  |  |  |
|   | (0.035)           | (0.033)         | (0.040)     | (0.036) |  |  |  |  |
| Treat, quantile 0.75                                      | -0.116***         | -0.085**        | -0.050      | -0.041  |  |  |  |  |
|   | (0.040)           | (0.040)         | (0.050)     | (0.050) |  |  |  |  |
| Treat, quantile 0.90                                      | -0.122**          | -0.210***       | -0.060      | -0.048  |  |  |  |  |
|   | (0.050)           | (0.053)         | (0.066)     | (0.052) |  |  |  |  |
| Sample size   | 6,801             | 6,798           | 5,833       | 5,829   |  |  |  |  |

 Table 8: Analysis of ITT combined-treatment impact on quantiles of the endline

 test score distribution

Note: all estimates are for  $\beta_T$  from quantile regressions of normalised student assessment scores on the treatment indicator. The standard errors are in parentheses; in the top panel they account for random assignment within strata and are clustered at the school level but are not weighted. In the bottom panel the standard errors are not adjusted for strata or clustering, but they incorporate school-level population weights. Estimates statistically significant at the .10, .05 and .01 levels are indicated by \*, \*\* and \*\*\*, respectively.

below-grade-level subject knowledge (leaving them with little impact), while having negative impacts on students who had done better prior to their teachers' SSDP training. This could be because, for example, the demonstration-based methods may have slowed teachers down, causing them to cover fewer curriculum concepts or fewer examples for any one concept.

#### 4.2.4 Estimated impacts on intermediate outcomes

Our aim in this evaluation was not just to estimate but also to understand the impacts of SSDP teacher training on student test scores. Having concluded that the trainings failed to raise student test scores, we now ask why this was so. In this section we examine the

programme's impact on outcomes related to teachers' subject knowledge and teaching practices. Section 4.3 below examines in greater depth the assumptions underlying the theory of change that might be violated, in ways that help to explain the disappointing lack of impact on intermediate and final outcomes.

| Table 9: Summary of ITT estimates of impact on teachers' subject know | ledge and |
|---|-----------|
| attitudes   |           |

| Intermediate           | Sample    | Descriptive statistics |                   | Estimation | p-value of           |
|------------------------|-----------|------------------------|-------------------|------------|----------------------|
| outcomes               | size      | Control                | Control Treatment |            | test of no<br>impact |
| Teachers' subject kno  | wledge as | ssessment sco          | res               |            |                      |
| Maths (mean/std. dev.) | 246       | 0.000 (1.000)          | -0.014 (1.010)    | WLS        | 0.907                |
| Science (mean/std.     | 233       | 0.000 (1.000)          | 0 136 (0 066)     | WIS        | 0 208                |
| dev.)                  |           | 0.000 (1.000)          | -0.130 (0.900)    | VVLS       | 0.290                |
| Head teacher reports   | on teache | r skill and inter      | rest              |            |                      |
| Whether teacher is     |           |                        |                   |            |                      |
| very interested in     | 443       | 46.9                   | 45.0              | Prohit     | 0 736                |
| learning ways to teach | 440       | 40.5                   | 40.0              | TTODIC     | 0.750                |
| more effectively (%)   |           |                        |                   |            |                      |
| Teacher's command of   |           |                        |                   | Ordered    |                      |
| subject matter (%      | 442       | -                      | -                 | probit     | 0.566                |
| distribution)          |           |                        |                   | probit     |                      |
| Very weak or partial   | _         | 11.7                   | 11.0              |            | _                    |
| Good                   | -         | 67.8                   | 70.6              | -          | -                    |
| Excellent              | -         | 20.5                   | 18.3              | -          | —                    |

Note: std. dev. = standard deviation. The unit of observation is the teacher. For continuous outcome variables, descriptive statistics columns report weighted means and standard deviations. For dichotomous outcomes, they report the weighted percentage for which the outcome is true. For ordered polychotomous variables, they report the weighted percentage distributions by category. Tests of no impact of the SSDP teacher training are based on regressions of the dependent variable on the treat variable and strata dummy variables, using WLS estimation for continuous variables, weighted probit estimation for binary variables and weighted ordered probit estimation for ordered categorical variables. The test statistics account for the stratified sample design and clustered standard errors at the school level. Teacher assessment scores are derived from 'student assessment item evaluations forms' that teachers were asked to complete anonymously.

Table 9 reveals little or no impact of the SSDP trainings on teachers' subject knowledge or attitudes; Online appendix A Tables A17–A19 give regression details. Aside from the teacher science evaluation outcome (where the treatment group mean is *lower* than the control group mean), the descriptive statistics are very close for treatments and controls.

Taking a broad view of teaching practices, we first examine impacts on teacher attendance at school. For our three measures of teacher attendance, we again detect no impact, as shown in Table 10. The measures come from direct observation by enumerators, head teacher reports and student reports. Descriptive statistics are very similar for treatment and control groups, suggesting that the failure to reject the null of no impact is not simply the result of imprecise estimation. Tables 11, 12 and 13 present results for teaching practice indicators derived from head teacher, teacher and student questionnaires (details are in Online appendix A Tables A23–A39). We find very few statistically significant differences in teaching practices between the treatment and control groups, yet two of the three exceptions – head teacher reports on teacher's frequency of using teaching materials or visual aids and teacher's frequency of having students work in small groups – involve dimensions of teaching practice that are most likely to be affected by the SSDP teacher trainings. The third exception – whether a teacher required students to work on longer-term projects – is not obviously related to SSDP training.

One other result that is nearly statistically significant at the 10 per cent level is unexpectedly negative, with treatment group teachers *less* likely to use written lesson plans. Multiple hypothesis-testing adjustments eliminate statistically significant differences. Comparisons of descriptive statistics for all these outcomes suggest, though, that even if some of differences are statistically significant, they are not very large, with the probabilities of teachers employing practices or employing them frequently differing between treatment and control groups by only a few percentage points.

|   | Sample | Descriptive statistics |           | Estimation            | p-value for          |
|---|--------|------------------------|-----------|-----------------------|----------------------|
| Intermediate outcome  | size   | Control                | Treatment | method<br>for testing | test of no<br>impact |
| Teacher is present on first day of school<br>visit (enumerator observation) (%)<br>Regularity of teacher attendance | 434    | 91.5                   | 90.5      | Probit                | 0.422                |
| (reported by head teacher) (%)  | 443    | 50.7                   | 57 7      | Ordered               | 0.167                |
| 80–89%  |        | 32.3                   | 27.6      | probit                |                      |
| Less than 80%<br>Frequency of maths teacher absence<br>(report by student) (%)                                      | 12,602 | 8.0                    | 14.7      | Ordered<br>probit     | 0.850                |
| Never absent  |        | 23.6                   | 21.0      | •                     |                      |
| Absent 1–2 times per month or less  |        | 55.4                   | 58.3      |                       |                      |
| Absent 3–4 times per month/ at least<br>once per week   |        | 21.0                   | 20.6      |                       |                      |
| Frequency of science teacher absence<br>(report by student) (%)   | 12,573 |                        |           | Ordered<br>probit     | 0.144                |
| Never absent  |        | 22.4                   | 18.7      |                       |                      |
| Absent 1–2 times per month or less  |        | 54.1                   | 55.5      |                       |                      |
| Absent 3–4 times per month/at least<br>once per week  |        | 23.5                   | 25.8      |                       |                      |

#### Table 10: Summary of ITT estimates of impacts on teacher attendance

Note: the unit of observation is the teacher. For dichotomous outcomes, the descriptive statistics columns report the weighted percentage for which the outcome is true. For ordered polychotomous variables, they report the weighted percentage distributions by category. Tests of no impact of the SSDP teacher training are based on regressions of the dependent variable on the treat variable and strata dummy variables, using weighted probit estimation for binary variables and weighted ordered probit estimation for ordered categorical variables. The test statistics account for the stratified sample design and clustered standard errors at the school level. Note that the probit regression is based on only 333 observations because adjusting the standard errors for stratification drops strata that have only one observation.

## Table 11: ITT estimates of impacts on maths teacher teaching practices (student reports)

|   | Sample | Descriptive |           | Estimation        | Test of no |
|---|--------|-------------|-----------|-------------------|------------|
| Intermediate outcome  | size   | statistics  | S         | method            | impact     |
|   |        | Control     | Treatment | for testing       | (p-value)  |
| Gives homework all days (%)   | 12,530 | 80.4        | 80.6      | Probit            | 0.960      |
| Homework checking frequency (% distribution):                       | 12,482 | _           | _         | Ordered<br>probit | 0.522      |
| Up to once a week   |        | 14.8        | 15.4      | _                 | —          |
| 2–3 times a week  |        | 32.1        | 33.9      | -                 | -          |
| Every day   |        | 53.1        | 50.6      | _                 | —          |
| Homework correction frequency (% distribution):                     | 12,505 | -           | -         | Ordered<br>probit | 0.925      |
| Up to once a week   |        | 13.9        | 15.1      | -                 | -          |
| 2–3 times a week  |        | 27.9        | 26.1      | -                 | —          |
| Every day   |        | 58.2        | 58.8      | _                 | —          |
| Interactive teaching frequency (% distribution):                    | 12,535 | -           | -         | Ordered<br>probit | 0.272      |
| Up to once a week   |        | 14.0        | 16.8      | -                 | -          |
| 2–3 times a week  |        | 32.7        | 32.7      | -                 | -          |
| Every day   |        | 53.3        | 50.5      | -                 | -          |
| Class time group work frequency (% distribution)                    | 12,572 | -           | -         | Ordered<br>probit | 0.755      |
| Never   |        | 32.5        | 31.4      | -                 | —          |
| Less than once a week   |        | 7.6         | 6.8       | -                 | -          |
| Once a week   |        | 16.9        | 20.5      | -                 | -          |
| 2–3 times a week  |        | 26.6        | 27.8      | -                 | -          |
| Every day   |        | 16.4        | 13.4      |                   |            |
| Frequency of using local materials or visual aids (% distribution): | 12,552 | -           | _         | Ordered<br>probit | 0.709      |
| Never   |        | 26.0        | 24.1      | -                 | -          |
| Less than once a week   |        | 11.9        | 11.5      | -                 | -          |
| Once a week   |        | 18.4        | 24.4      | -                 | -          |
| 2–3 times a week  |        | 24.6        | 24.1      | _                 | —          |
| Every day   |        | 19.2        | 15.9      | -                 | -          |
| Frequency of using materials from internet (% distribution):        | 12,574 | -           | _         | Ordered<br>Probit | 0.904      |
| Never   |        | 32.2        | 33.4      | -                 | -          |
| Less than once a week   |        | 9.9         | 9.4       | -                 | -          |
| Once a week   |        | 18.4        | 21.4      | -                 | -          |
| 2–3 times a week  |        | 23.3        | 23.0      | -                 | -          |
| Every day   |        | 16.2        | 12.8      |                   |            |

Note: for dichotomous outcomes, the descriptive statistics columns report the weighted percentage for which the outcome is true. For ordered polychotomous variables, they report the weighted percentage distributions by category. Tests of no impact of the SSDP teacher training are based on regressions of the dependent variable on the treat variable and strata dummy variables, using weighted probit estimation for binary variables and weighted ordered probit estimation for ordered categorical variables. The test statistics account for the stratified sample design and clustered standard errors at the school level.

|  | Sample  | Descriptive | e statistics | Estimation            | Test of no          |
|--|---------|-------------|--------------|-----------------------|---------------------|
| Intermediate outcome                             | size    | Control     | Treatment    | method for<br>testing | impact<br>(p-value) |
| Gives homework frequency (% distribution):       | 12,532  | _           | _            | Ordered probit        | 0.793               |
| Up to once a week                                |         | 14.9        | 16.0         | -                     | -                   |
| 2–3 times a week                                 |         | 33.0        | 32.0         | _                     | _                   |
| Every day  |         | 52.1        | 52.0         | _                     | _                   |
| Homework checking frequency (% distribution):    | 12,491  | _           | _            | Ordered probit        | 0.639               |
| Never  |         | 4.3         | 3.7          |                       |                     |
| Up to once a week                                |         | 19.7        | 22.3         | _                     | -                   |
| 2–3 times a week                                 |         | 35.7        | 36.2         | _                     | -                   |
| Every day  |         | 40.3        | 37.8         | _                     | -                   |
| Homework correction frequency (% distribution):  | 12,571  | _           | -            | Ordered probit        | 0.453               |
| Never  |         | 4.6         | 4.9          |                       |                     |
| Up to once a week                                |         | 16.1        | 17.7         | -                     | -                   |
| 2–3 times a week                                 |         | 33.7        | 33.5         | -                     | -                   |
| Every day  |         | 45.6        | 43.9         | _                     | -                   |
| Interactive teaching frequency (% distribution): | 12,550  | -           | _            | Ordered probit        | 0.519               |
| Up to once a week                                |         | 18.1        | 18.7         | -                     | -                   |
| 2–3 times a week                                 |         | 35.9        | 37.2         | -                     | -                   |
| Every day  |         | 46.0        | 44.1         | _                     | -                   |
| Class time group work frequency (% distribution) | 12,559  | _           | -            | Ordered probit        | 0.985               |
| Never  |         | 26.9        | 25.7         | -                     | -                   |
| Less than once a week                            |         | 7.4         | 7.5          | -                     | -                   |
| Once a week                                      |         | 19.1        | 21.7         | -                     | -                   |
| 2–3 times a week                                 |         | 28.3        | 29.5         | -                     | -                   |
| Every day  |         | 18.2        | 15.7         |                       |                     |
| Frequency of using local                         | 10 57 1 |             |              |                       | 0.054               |
| materials or visual aids (% distribution):       | 12,574  | _           | _            | Ordered probit        | 0.951               |
| Never  |         | 18.7        | 17.0         | -                     | -                   |
| Less than once a week                            |         | 10.1        | 10.7         | -                     | -                   |
| Once a week                                      |         | 21.8        | 24.8         | -                     | -                   |
| 2–3 times a week                                 |         | 29.3        | 29.8         | _                     | -                   |
| Every day  |         | 20.1        | 17.8         | -                     | -                   |
| Frequency of using materials                     | 12,561  | _           | _            | Ordered probit        | 0.391               |
| Irom the internet (% distribution):              |         | 00 F        | 05.0         |                       |                     |
|  |         | 23.5        | 25.3         | -                     | -                   |
| Less than once a week                            |         | 9.9         | 10.7         | -                     | -                   |
|  |         | 20.4        | 22.1         | -                     | -                   |
| 2–3 times a week                                 |         | 29.6        | 28.6         | -                     | -                   |
| Every day  |         | 16.5        | 13.3         |                       |                     |

Table 12: ITT estimates of impacts on science teacher teaching practices (student reports)

Note: see notes to Table 11.

|  | Sample | Descriptiv   | ve statistics | Estimation            | Test of no          |
|--|--------|--------------|---------------|-----------------------|---------------------|
| Intermediate outcome   | size   | Control      | Treatment     | method for<br>testing | impact<br>(p-value) |
| Head teacher reports   |        |              |               |                       |                     |
| Teacher ever creates<br>teaching materials from local<br>resources (%)           | 437    | 61.0         | 59.0          | Probit                | 0.960               |
| Teacher's frequency of using teaching materials or visual aids (% distribution): | 438    | -            | -             | Ordered probit        | 0.072*              |
| Never  |        | 21.5         | 16.8          | _                     | _                   |
| Sometimes (less than once per week)  |        | 69.5         | 65.2          | -                     | -                   |
| Often (one or more times<br>per week)  |        | 8.9          | 18.0          | -                     | -                   |
| requires students to collect<br>local information (%)                            | 422    | 35.4         | 35.2          | probit                | 0.816               |
| Teacher frequency requiring students to work in small groups (% distribution):   | 441    | _            | -             | Ordered<br>probit     | 0.079*              |
| Never  |        | 19.6         | 13.7          | _                     | _                   |
| Sometimes (less than once per week)  |        | 67.5         | 67.0          | -                     | -                   |
| Often (one or more<br>times per week)  |        | 13.0         | 19.2          | -                     | -                   |
| Teacher ever requires<br>students to work on longer-<br>term projects (%)        | 439    | 50.7         | 58.6          | Probit                | 0.013**             |
| Propagation par class accession  | T      |              |               |                       | 1                   |
| (minutes)  | 401    | 32.3 (2.9)   | 30.4 (2.6)    | WLS                   | 0.423               |
| plan (%)   | 401    | 12.0         | 6.3           | Probit                | 0.101               |
| students to work in small<br>groups (% distribution):                            | 401    | -            | -             | Ordered<br>probit     | 0.953               |
| Never  |        | 15.3         | 13.0          | _                     | _                   |
| Less than once a   |        | 28.7         | 23.7          | _                     | _                   |
| week   |        |              |               |                       |                     |
| Опсе а weeк<br>Two or more times a<br>week                                       |        | 30.5<br>25.4 | 39.8<br>23.5  | -                     | -                   |
| Frequency of using<br>classroom<br>examples/homework                             | 401    | _            | -             | Ordered<br>probit     | 0.478               |

## Table 13: ITT estimates of impacts on teaching practices: head teacher and teacher reports

|                               | Sample Descriptive statistics |         |                   | Estimation | Test of no          |
|-------------------------------|-------------------------------|---------|-------------------|------------|---------------------|
| Intermediate outcome          | size                          | Control | Control Treatment |            | impact<br>(p-value) |
| involving local information   |                               |         |                   |            |                     |
| (% distribution):             |                               |         |                   |            |                     |
| Less than once a              |                               | 24.2    | 20.3              |            | _                   |
| month or never                |                               | 24.2    | 20.5              |            |                     |
| Once a month                  |                               | 26.0    | 28.8              | -          | -                   |
| Less than once a week         |                               |         |                   |            |                     |
| but more than once a          |                               | 4.9     | 12.3              | -          | -                   |
| month                         |                               |         |                   |            |                     |
| Once a week                   |                               | 25.7    | 23.0              | -          | -                   |
| Two or more times a           |                               | 19.2    | 15.8              | _          | _                   |
| week                          |                               | 10.2    | 10.0              |            |                     |
| Frequency of requiring        |                               |         |                   | Ordered    |                     |
| students to collect local     | 401                           | -       | -                 | probit     | 0.561               |
| information (% distribution): |                               |         |                   | proble     |                     |
| Never                         |                               | 36.4    | 29.9              | -          | -                   |
| Less than once a              |                               | 16.7    | 19.0              | _          | _                   |
| month                         |                               |         |                   |            |                     |
| Once a month                  |                               | 21.3    | 26.3              | -          | -                   |
| Less than once a              |                               |         |                   |            |                     |
| week but more than            |                               | 7.1     | 6.8               | -          | -                   |
| once a month                  |                               |         |                   |            |                     |
| Once a week or more           |                               | 18.6    | 17.9              | -          | -                   |

Note: The unit of observation is the teacher. For continuous outcome variables, the descriptive statistics are weighted means and standard deviations. For dichotomous outcomes, the descriptive statistics are weighted percentages for which the outcome is true. For ordered polychotomous variables, they report the weighted percentage distributions by category. Tests of no impact of the SSDP teacher training are based on regressions of the dependent variable on the treat variable and strata dummy variables, using weighted probit estimation for binary variables and weighted ordered probit estimation for ordered categorical variables. Test statistics account for the stratified sample design and clustered standard errors at the school level. Note that the probit regressions use fewer observations because adjusting the standard errors for stratification drops strata that have only one observation; see online appendix tables for those sample sizes.

# 4.3 Violations of the assumptions underlying the SSDP training programme's theory of change

This section examines the assumptions underlying the SSDP teacher training programme's theory of change (Figure 1) and seeks to understand why the trainings failed to raise ninth- and-tenth grade students' maths and science test scores. We examine potential barriers to desirable impact by three key sets of actors along the logical chain connecting the teacher training policy idea to the ultimate desired impact on student learning: (1) trainers, who must exercise skill and care in delivering the training curriculum; (2) teachers, who must attend the trainings, learn from them and then implement new or improved teaching methods in their classrooms; and (3) students, who must be prepared to learn more when teaching improves.

For each of these groups we ask: under what conditions would this group respond to the policy mandate or invitation in ways that lead to strong, positive impacts on learning? More specifically, what must be true of the actors' capacity (knowledge, skills, guidance and decision-making scope), the resources provided to them and their motivation (either intrinsic or induced through external accountability) for them to respond well? Which of these conditions seem to have been fulfilled well and which may not have been fulfilled well?

We draw on four complementary types of data (often finding agreement across multiple sources): (1) monitoring data gathered directly from ETCs via research team phone calls (Shrestha 2019); (2) a small-N study using in-depth, in-person interviews (Acharya and Uprety 2019); (3) a telephone survey with trainers and teachers who attended SSDP trainings (Schaffner et al. 2019a); and (4) data from the baseline and endline quantitative surveys.

#### 4.3.1 Trainers

For SSDP training to succeed, trainers must have adequate knowledge and skills to follow any directions given to them, and to develop and deliver high-quality training content. In addition, they must have adequate time for preparation, adequate materials and facilities and adequate motivation to work hard towards the objective of helping teachers improve their teaching practices. The motivation may be internal, arising out of their own desire to do a good job or to advance educational development, or it may be external motivation, arising out of the knowledge that they will be held accountable for their performance, in the sense that they will receive (monetary or non-monetary) rewards if they do well or penalties if they do poorly.

Many trainers seem to have executed SSDP trainings with at least a moderate level of good will. According to administrative and phone interview data, all the trainings in our study districts lasted the mandated 10 days and trainers developed training materials laid out in more detail than in the documents provided by the NCED, suggesting that they spent some time preparing. In phone interviews, trainers clearly described the changes in teaching practices they wanted participants to make and all but one had suggestions for improving the trainings (demonstrating engagement with their assignments).

Telephone interview data also suggest that trainers' instruction methods were reasonably interactive. Three quarters (74%) of teachers mentioned group problem-solving as the first- or second-largest use of time during the ETC sessions. Using such methods may be beneficial not only to help teachers learn other methods, but also as an example for teachers to follow. (We know from baseline data that teachers typically make little use of group work in their classes, spending most of their teaching time lecturing from the blackboard.)<sup>35</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> According to Stallings classroom observation data collected at baseline (involving 10 snapshots during a full class period), an average of 86 per cent of teaching time is spent on traditional teaching activities (such as explaining and lecturing, reading aloud, having students copy information or running drills), verbal instruction or classroom management, while only 14 per cent is spent engaged in 'question and answer or discussion' with students. Teachers were recorded using blackboards or whiteboards in more than half of snapshots (57%), while students were involved in group work in only 0.25 per cent of the snapshots.

The data also suggest, however, that the training quality fell significantly short of the ideal. When trainers were asked in telephone interviews to describe the guidance and training they had been given by the NCED to prepare them for the trainings, all responded that they had received a syllabus to guide their preparation, but 19 out of 23 mentioned that they received no training of trainers for the SSDP trainings (though they had received training of trainers for previous waves of training). Many mentioned a lack of detail in the guidelines for the trainings and said they received the syllabus with too little time to prepare for the sessions. In open-ended responses, teachers reported that trainers seemed inadequately prepared.<sup>36</sup> In addition, some trainers' attitudes may have diminished their training efforts: 61 per cent mentioned inadequate teacher motivation, poor teacher attitudes and/or lack of monitoring of teachers when asked what main obstacles might prevent teachers from implementing new teaching methods.

When asked to rate trainers' performance directly, many teachers responded positively, perhaps out of respect or politeness. Over 60 per cent rated their trainers as very good or excellent. Yet teachers' answers to more open-ended questions revealed significant discontentment with the performance of the trainers. When asked what they most disliked about the trainings, over one fifth of teachers expressed displeasure with trainer content knowledge or preparation. When asked what problems the trainers ran into that reduced trainings' effectiveness, 14 per cent of teachers mentioned trainings starting late, often because trainers arrived late, and 11 per cent mentioned lack of skilled trainers or subject experts. In open-ended responses about how to improve the trainings, 31 per cent of teachers said that trainers should be content experts, and 8 per cent said that the trainers should be better trained. Teachers stated that sometimes when they asked for clarification, trainers were unable to answer, and sometimes could not solve problems that teachers were asked to solve. A lack of subject experts seemed to be more common in remote locations, where it was more costly and difficult to find and pay for subject experts to participate as trainers.

While the ETCs' facilities, equipment and supplies seemed adequate for standard lectures and small group discussion, in some cases they were inadequate for practice with lab experiments, classroom methods or information technology tools. When asked about problems that prevented trainings from being more effective, 15 per cent of teachers mentioned inadequate materials and 11 per cent mentioned inadequate facilities, including a need for labs and information technology equipment. Several trainers also mentioned lack of materials or poor facilities (including lack of electricity) as problems with the trainings.

When asked for suggestions of how to improve trainings, 18 per cent of teachers mentioned the need for more teaching materials and 35 per cent mentioned the need for a lab at the training centre. Several trainers also suggested that trainings could be improved by guaranteeing adequate facilities and materials; 9 per cent of teachers also mentioned the need for better accommodation. Given the SSDP emphasis on equipping

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Of the 98 teachers interviewed over the phone, 20 (20.4%) brought up inadequately trained trainers when asked what they disliked about the training; 11 respondents (11.2%) cited it when asked about the problems that hindered training from being effective; and 38 respondents (38.7%) said that trainers should be skilled or better content experts when asked about the ways that can make the training more valuable.

teachers to use materials and demonstrations when teaching, the lack of materials and lab facilities is especially significant.

Overall, teachers were reasonably positive about the training experience, though their responses suggested much room for improvement. Over 80% of interviewed teachers responded that they found at least half the content to be very valuable, while 28% found at least three quarters of it to be very valuable; more science teachers (40%) than maths teachers (17%) found at least three quarters of the content to be very valuable.

#### 4.3.2 Teachers

For the training to succeed, teachers must attend trainings and learn new concepts and practices while at the ETCs. They must also take time to think about how to apply new ideas in their own classrooms. They may have to prepare visual aids, write lesson plans, or think about how to express ideas to their students, which takes time and effort. Then they must follow through and implement new classroom practices well.

For teachers to respond in this way, the logistics of training attendance must not entail significant difficulties; teachers must come to training with adequate knowledge and skill, ready to understand the training content; the training content must be valuable and presented effectively; and teachers must have adequate time to prepare new lessons, as well as adequate materials and local support. They also require adequate internal motivation or external accountability so that they perceive benefits that outweigh the costs of attending the trainings and implementing new methods.

As indicated in section 4.1, rates of SSDP teacher training participation among teachers in treated schools at endline were disappointingly low, in part because some of those teachers had joined the schools after the training occurred, and in part because many of the invited teachers who were in the schools at the time of the training did not participate.

Invited teachers may not have attended because they opted not to or because their head teachers did not allow them to participate. Comments during monitoring calls with ETC personnel revealed that some schools did not send their secondary maths or science teachers because the trainings were during regular school days, and they had no adequate substitutes. Our baseline data show that 78 per cent of schools have only one secondary maths teacher and 83 per cent have only one secondary science teacher; this suggests difficulty in finding someone with subject expertise to cover for absent teachers. Our data confirm that many schools have difficulty finding substitutes for secondary maths or science teachers; over one fifth reported that if a teacher leaves for training, their classes are either cancelled or have no adult supervision.

We suspect that some teachers opted not to attend, even though their head teachers allowed and even encouraged them. Some teachers may have thought that the training would be very similar to previous trainings. We cannot quantify this possibility directly, but several training participants reported arriving with little expectation of learning anything new because of past training experiences and were pleasantly surprised that they did learn useful skills. Others declined the invitation for personal reasons, such as the need to prepare for teacher examinations (an unusual opportunity by which temporary teachers could gain permanent teacher status), travel, illness and family obligations. A few said that the per diem or accommodations were inadequate, suggesting that the costs of participating may have dissuaded some teachers. Among teachers who attended the SSDP trainings, some may have been ill-prepared to benefit from them. Endline data suggest that many may have lacked adequate subject knowledge to fully benefit from the training, which focused on relatively advanced maths and science concepts. As indicated in section 3.4, we indirectly tested teachers' subject knowledge by asking them to complete forms evaluating items from the student assessments. In retrospect, we believe the evaluation was not sufficiently challenging, but the results still offer important insights. For each item, the teachers were asked to select the response they believed the question's designer intended as the correct response. Responses were submitted anonymously and teachers were (surprisingly) willing to complete the evaluations. Only two of the 429 teachers approached refused to complete them. Enumerators reported that teachers in 80 per cent of the schools were enthusiastic about completing the forms, while in the other schools they had no objections to completing them.

There is both good news and bad news in the teacher evaluation results. Encouragingly, many maths teachers received perfect or nearly perfect scores. Of the 12 questions included in the maths evaluation, we eliminated one from the analysis because it proved to be poorly designed. Thus, the maximum score teachers could obtain was 11 points. Table 14 presents the 11 questions, together with the percentages of responding teachers who selected the correct answer. Over one third (36%) of responding teachers answered all 11 questions correctly, while 72 per cent answered 10 or 11 correctly.

Weaker performance on questions 8 and 9 (Table 14), however, raises questions about the preparedness of a significant minority of maths teachers to benefit from the SSDP training. One fifth of teachers gave incorrect answers to question 9, which was a straightforward algebra problem. Given that the SSDP training was supposed to deal with more advanced algebra techniques, such as factoring polynomials, teachers weak in basic algebra might find it difficult to follow. More concerning, nearly 40 per cent of responding teachers gave incorrect answers to question 8, which requires understanding of how to calculate the perimeter of a rectangle. Again, having difficulty with this basic problem may prevent a teacher from understanding the more advanced SSDP training discussion of surface area calculations for three-dimensional solids.

The data raise at least as much concern about science teachers' subject knowledge. Again, many teachers performed well. After removing the question that the fewest teachers answered correctly (which many found unclear and inappropriate to the curriculum), the maximum score was again 11 points. Table 15 lists the 11 questions, with teacher performance results. Lower total scores for science relative to maths may reflect that our science evaluation was more difficult. Only 9 per cent of science teachers answered all 11 questions correctly, but 33 per cent obtained scores of 10 or 11, and 81 per cent obtained scores of 9, 10 or 11.

### Table 14: Maths teacher responses to evaluations of student assessment items<sup>a</sup>

| Assessment item   | Number of<br>teachers<br>responding | %<br>selecting<br>correct | % reporting<br>they found<br>item | % reporting they<br>found item very<br>appropriate to |
|---|-------------------------------------|---------------------------|-----------------------------------|---|
|   |                                     | answer                    | completely clear                  | secondary<br>curriculum                               |
| 1. Which of these has the same value                    |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
| as 342?   | 246                                 | 07.2                      | 05.1                              | 20.2  |
| a. 3000 + 400 + 2 c. 30 + 4 + 2                         | 240                                 | 91.2                      | 95.1                              | 30.2  |
| b. 300 + 40 + 2 d. 3 + 4 + 2                            |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
| 2. All of the students in a class cut out               |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
| paper shapes. The teacher picked one                    |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
| out and said, 'This shape is a triangle'.               |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
| Which of the following statements                       |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
| MUST be correct?  | 246                                 | 92.7                      | 67.1                              | 48.4  |
| a. The shape has three sides                            |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
| b. The shape has a right angle                          |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
| c. The shape has equal sides                            |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
| d. The shape has equal angles                           |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
| 3. It takes Diksha 4 minutes to wash a                  |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
| window. She wants to know how many                      |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
| minutes it will take her to wash 8                      | 246                                 | 97.6                      | 93.0                              | 62.2  |
| windows at this rate. She should:                       | -                                   |                           |                                   | -   |
| a. Multiply 4 by 8 c. Subtract 4 from 8                 |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
| b. Divide 8 by 4 d. Add 8 and 4                         |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
| 4. Which of the numbers below is $\frac{7}{7}$          |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
| equal to $\frac{7}{10}$ ?                               | 246                                 | 91.5                      | 93.0                              | 57.7  |
| a. 70 b. 7 c. 0.7 d. 0.07                               |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
| 5. There were <i>m</i> boys and <i>n</i> girls in a     |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
| parade. Each person carried two                         |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
| balloons. Which of these expressions                    |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
| represents the total number of balloons                 | 246                                 | 96.3                      | 77.3                              | 65.9  |
| that were carried in the parade?                        |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
| a. 2( <i>m</i> + <i>n</i> ) c. 2 <i>m</i> + <i>n</i>    |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
| b. 2 + (m + n) d. m + 2n                                |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
| 6. What is 15 × 9?                                      | 246                                 | 91.9                      | 93.9                              | 40.2  |
| a. 100 b. 135 c. 130 d. 531                             |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
| 7. Which of these is the reason that                    |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
| triangle <i>PQR</i> is a right-angle triangle?          |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
|   |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
| 3 cm Scm  | 246                                 | 98.8                      | 91.4                              | 84.1  |
|   |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
|   |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
| a. 3 + 4 = 3 $C. 3 + 4 = 12 - 5$                        |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
| U. J > J = 4<br>Q = A thin wire 20 continuetres long is |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
| formed into a rootangle. If the width of                |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
| this rectangle is 4 continetros, what is                |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
| its length?   | 246                                 | 60.6                      | 80.2                              | 68.7  |
| a 5 centimetres c 12 centimetres                        |                                     |                           |                                   |   |
| b. 6 centimetres d. 16 centimetres                      |                                     |                           |                                   |   |

| Assessment item  | Number of<br>teachers<br>responding | %<br>selecting<br>correct<br>answer <sup>b</sup> | % reporting<br>they found<br>item<br>completely<br>clear | % reporting they<br>found item very<br>appropriate to<br>secondary<br>curriculum |
|--|-------------------------------------|--|--|--|
| 9. If x + 3y = 11 and 2x + 3y = 13, then<br>y = ?<br>a. 3 b. 2 c2 d3   | 246                                 | 80.1   | 90.6   | 78.0   |
| <ul><li>10. If the volume of a cube is 216 cubic cm, what will be the side of the cube?</li><li>a. 36 centimetres b. 6 centimetres</li><li>c. 54 centimetres d. 24 centimetres</li></ul> | 246                                 | 91.5   | 96.7   | 75.6   |
| <ul> <li>11. What is the sum of mode and<br/>median of the following data?</li> <li>12, 15, 11, 13, 18, 11, 13, 12, 13</li> <li>a. 26 b. 31 c. 36 d. 25</li> </ul>                       | 246                                 | 83.7   | 75.1   | 64.2   |

Note: <sup>a</sup> = the percentages reported do not employ population weights. They are intended to describe only the sample of teachers who completed the forms voluntarily and anonymously; <sup>b</sup> = based on response to the question: 'Which do you think the item's designer had in mind as the correct answer?'

Many science teachers, however, gave incorrect answers to questions on concepts that seem foundational for understanding the more advanced concepts addressed during the SSDP trainings. One fifth (20%) gave incorrect answers to question 4, which asks about the main function of red blood cells and is likely to be an important building block for the SSDP's focus on the circulatory system. Nearly half (48%) incorrectly answered question 8, which relates to evaporation. Again, this is likely an important foundation for the SSDP training's discussion of the more complicated topic of climate change.<sup>37</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> The evaluation forms were submitted anonymously, so we cannot regress scores on teacher characteristics. However, the correct response rates were very similar when we focused on schools where all secondary teachers in the given subject had at least bachelor's degrees in maths or science or were permanent teachers. The weaknesses thus are found even for teachers with more education and permanent contracts.

#### Table 15: Science teacher responses to evaluations of student assessment items<sup>a</sup>

| Assessment item   | Number of teachers | %<br>selecting                 | % reporting they found      | % reporting they<br>found item very       |
|---|--------------------|--------------------------------|-----------------------------|---|
|   | responding         | correct<br>answer <sup>b</sup> | item<br>completely<br>clear | appropriate to<br>secondary<br>curriculum |
| <ul> <li>1. All living things can be grouped as plants or animals. Which of these in the list below are ANIMALS?</li> <li>Fish Fern Man Grass Algae Crocodile</li> <li>a. All are animals c. Algae, Fern and crocodile are animals</li> <li>b. All are plants</li> <li>d. Fish, man, and crocodile are animals</li> </ul>   | 234                | 93.2                           | 80.3                        | 49.6                                      |
| 2. What is the chemical formula of water? a. H <sub>2</sub> 0 b. NaCl c. NaOH d. H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub>  | 234                | 97.4                           | 95.7                        | 70.1                                      |
| <ul><li>3. What is the rate of change in velocity per unit of time?</li><li>a. Acceleration b. Relative velocity c. Speed d. Velocity</li></ul>   | 234                | 92.7                           | 94.4                        | 76.9                                      |
| 4. What is the main function of red blood cells?a. To fight disease in the bodyc. To remove carbon monoxide from all parts of the bodyb. To carry oxygen to all parts of the bodyd. To produce blood proteins which cause blood to clot   | 234                | 79.1                           | 64.1                        | 64.1                                      |
| 5. Which of the following is the major cause of tides?a. Evaporating ocean water by the heat of the sunb. Gravitational pull of the moonc. Earthquakes on the ocean floord. Changes in wind direction   | 234                | 85.0                           | 70.1                        | 67.5                                      |
| <ul> <li>6. Which one of the following statements about liquid evaporation is correct?</li> <li>When a liquid evaporates:</li> <li>a. The temperature in the air above the liquid decreases</li> <li>b. Fast-moving liquid molecules near the surface escape to the air and the liquid gets warmer</li> <li>c. The gas pressure of the substance directly above the liquid depends only on atmospheric pressure</li> <li>d. Fast-moving liquid molecules near the surface escape to the air and the liquid gets colder</li> </ul> | 234                | 34.6                           | 29.1                        | 34.6                                      |
| 7. Which of the following grows from a seed? a. Ant b. Grass c. Mosquito d. Caterpillar   | 234                | 88.0                           | 79.5                        | 55.6                                      |
| <ul> <li>8. When a small volume of water is boiled, a large volume of steam is produced. Why?</li> <li>a. The molecules are further apart in steam than in water</li> <li>b. Water molecules expand when heated</li> <li>c. The change from water to steam causes the number of molecules to increase</li> <li>d. Atmospheric pressure works more on water molecules than on steam molecules</li> </ul>   | 233                | 52.4                           | 61.5                        | 55.1                                      |

| Assessment item  | Number of<br>teachers<br>responding | %<br>selecting<br>correct<br>answer <sup>b</sup> | % reporting<br>they found<br>item<br>completely<br>clear | % reporting they<br>found item very<br>appropriate to<br>secondary<br>curriculum |
|--|-------------------------------------|--|--|--|
| 9. Some students used an ammeter A to measure the current in the circuit for different voltages. The table below shows some results.         Voltage (volts)       Current (milliamperes)         1.5       10         33.0       20         6.0   | 234                                 | 75.6   | 62.8   | 62.0   |
| <ul> <li>10. Which one of the following statements best describes a comet?</li> <li>a. A comet is made of an icy substance and dust particles</li> <li>b. A comet is smaller than the sun c. A comet is very close to the sun</li> <li>d. A comet revolves around the sun in highly elliptical orbit and is made up of an icy substance</li> </ul> | 234                                 | 59.8   | 52.1   | 54.7   |
| 11. The symbol of the element nitrogen is: a. N b. He c. O d. H  | 234                                 | 96.2   | 95.3   | 71.4   |

Note: <sup>a</sup> = the percentages reported do not employ population weights. They are intended to describe only the sample of teachers who completed the forms voluntarily and anonymously; <sup>b</sup> = based on response to the question: 'Which answer do you think the item's designer had in mind as the correct answer?'

These weaknesses in teachers' subject knowledge shed both positive and negative light on the SSDP trainings. On one hand, the evidence supports the choice of training designers to spend time on improving teachers' subject knowledge. On the other hand, it raises questions about focusing SSDP trainings on relatively advanced concepts in the ninth- and tenth-grade curricula, without offering opportunities to strengthen teachers' knowledge of prerequisite materials. Aiming the trainings 'too high' may have limited their impact for some teachers. Lack of subject expertise among the trainers, as mentioned above, compounds this concern. Unfortunately, as indicated above, we found no impact of the SSDP trainings on these measures of teachers' subject knowledge.

Even if the SSDP trainings did not improve teachers' subject knowledge, they may have improved student learning by improving teachers' pedagogical methods. We learned at baseline that teachers mostly lecture from the blackboard in a traditional teacher-centred approach, with little student engagement and probably only weak knowledge of students' levels of comprehension. Given the focus of the SSDP training curriculum, we might hope, in particular, to see increased use of demonstration methods. Given the nature of the required self-study project work, we may hope to see greater use of lesson plans or of efforts to incorporate local information into classroom and homework activities. Given the exposure of some teachers to the use of group work as a teaching method during the SSDP trainings, we may also hope for some impact in this area. The trainings may also have influenced teaching methods by increasing teachers' enthusiasm or exposing them to the ideas of other teachers. Unfortunately, as we saw above, we detected little or no impact of the trainings on teaching practices (though it remains possible that the programme had impacts we were unable to detect, as a result of the imprecision of estimation).

What might explain this lack of the SSDP training impact on teaching practices? Despite some weaknesses in the roll-out of the ETC training sessions, qualitative data suggest that teachers did learn some demonstration techniques that they found potentially useful. When asked, 'On the basis of what you heard or learned during this training, what changes do you most hope or expect to make in the way you teach secondary maths or science?', nearly two thirds of teachers (64%, in both subjects) responded by referring to materials, demonstrations or experimental methods. A small percentage (13%) also mentioned an intention to use group work more.

Qualitative evidence suggests that diverse features of the physical and institutional environment may help explain why we find little evidence of change in teaching practices, despite evidence that teachers were exposed to new methods that they viewed as useful. When asked, 'What obstacles have you run into, if any, when trying to apply what you learned during the training in your own classrooms?', 59 per cent of teachers mentioned lack of teaching materials. This suggests that teachers and schools have difficulty obtaining funds for even the relatively low-cost teaching materials made from local resources that were emphasised in the trainings. The great majority of teachers (78%) pointed more broadly to lack of either materials or facilities, including lack of (14%) or poorly equipped (6%) labs, lack of information and communication technology infrastructure (18%) and other infrastructure problems (19%). Other obstacles cited by teachers included low student attendance (5%), too many students or difficulty managing students (15%), unmotivated students (7%) and lack of teacher time (17%).

Answers to open-ended questions about the video assignment revealed that these demonstration methods can be difficult to implement during class sessions that are only 40–45 minutes long, which is the case in all but one of our sample schools. It may also be difficult for teachers to use these more time-consuming teaching methods, given the pressure they feel to complete an ambitious curriculum during the school year. Total instruction time per year varies greatly across schools, primarily because of variation in the number of days school is in session (rather than variation in hours of instruction during a typical school week without holidays). The number of instruction days (including any day on which at least one class period of instruction took place) ranges from 184 at the twenty-fifth percentile to 208 at the seventy-fifth percentile for ninth grade; and from 175 at the twenty-fifth percentile to 198 at the seventy-fifth percentile for tenth grade. In both grades, schools at the seventy-fifth percentile had 13 per cent more days of instruction in the past academic year than schools at the twenty-fifth percentile. Implementing new methods may have been more difficult in schools with shorter academic years.

We also suspect that teachers felt only weak motivation to invest time in preparing to adopt the new methods. Limiting attention to endline teachers who were reported as having attended SSDP trainings both by their head teachers and in the monitoring data, head teachers said they believed that only 34 per cent were highly motivated to try new teaching materials or methods after the training. When teachers were asked during phone interviews if they were either 'requested' or 'required' to provide reports on what happened during the trainings (after returning to their schools), most (85.7%) reported that they were required to provide reports, but none indicated that they were required to report. The largest fraction (69.4%) responded that their head teacher had asked for a report and many (under 44%) were asked by other teachers.

Yet only a few (11.2%) were asked by anyone to report what they were doing differently in their teaching as a result of the training. The baseline data indicate that the actors most likely to hold teachers accountable for change are head teachers, but many of these are very busy teaching and have little opportunity to observe what teachers do in classrooms. We also know from the video assignment (Online appendix B) that at least some teachers welcomed the monitoring and feedback it embodied, and thought this should be more widespread. When asked about how to improve the trainings, five teachers expressed interest in having monitoring and follow-up after the training. Many also had positive reactions to the video assignment and expressed interest in receiving immediate feedback on their teaching from the focal persons.

Teachers seemed to lack accountability even for the narrower, short-term task of completing the self-study project work component of the SSDP teacher training. Focusing again on teachers who attended the SSDP training, according to both head teachers and the monitoring data 37 per cent were reported by head teachers as not completing the lesson plan development assignment. Moreover, the SSDP curriculum requires teachers to complete one of three or four specific additional projects, but when we asked trained teachers at endline to name which one of these projects they had completed, very few could even name any of the options. Of the 38 maths teachers who attended SSDP maths trainings, according to both self-reports and monitoring data only one could describe a project that plausibly may be one of the project options in the official curriculum document. Over one quarter (26%) of these teachers said they did not

do these projects and another 58 per cent said they did not know or could not recall the projects they carried out. Of the 35 science teachers who attended SSDP science trainings according to both self-report and monitoring data only five could describe projects that plausibly might be one of the options in the official curriculum document. One quarter (25%) of these teachers said they did not do these projects and another 38 per cent said they did not know or could not recall the projects they carried out, while others gave short phrases that were irrelevant to any of the official project options. Since the unusual projects should have been memorable, we conclude that it is highly unlikely that many teachers gave serious consideration to doing any of the self-study project work.

One in-person interview gave further reason to believe that there was little accountability for doing the self-study project work well. The teacher reported: 'I developed lesson plans and did project work. The resource person stamped [my paper] but nobody checked it.' Thus, we suspect that few teachers completed this potentially important part of the training.

Trainers' opinions also point to reasons why teachers might fail to adopt new methods. When asked about their hopes for how teachers would change their teaching practices after training, most trainers pointed to the use of practical or experimental methods, demonstrations or low-cost teaching materials. But when asked how likely it was that teachers would change their teaching in these ways, only 1 of 23 trainers responded 'very likely', while just over half responded 'somewhat likely' and 43 per cent responded 'somewhat unlikely'.

When asked about main obstacles to adoption, 61 per cent of the trainers mentioned inadequate motivation, poor attitudes and/or lack of monitoring. Some specifically mentioned that teachers are not motivated to introduce new materials because they teach many classes and do not have the time required to prepare and implement new methods. Over one third also mentioned a lack of materials or equipment in the schools.

#### 4.3.3 Students

For teacher training to increase students' learning, students must: be exposed to improved teaching; be sufficiently nourished to profit from good teaching; have suitable prerequisite subject knowledge from earlier grades; and be sufficiently motivated to attend class and invest in learning.

While we find little evidence of changes in teaching practices, teachers may have improved their teaching in subtle ways not captured by our measures. Even if students did not receive better teaching, it is useful to check if they were well positioned to benefit from any changes in teaching.

While our data offer only a limited view of students' circumstances, they suggest that inadequate student nutrition is unlikely to explain the programme's lack of impact. Most of the students (95%) reported having a meal before coming to school. Family assets (reported above) also suggest that these families are not from the poorest in Nepal, probably because families that succeed in enrolling their children in secondary level are, on average, better off than the general population.

Our data do, however, raise major concerns about students' preparedness to learn the advanced ninth- and tenth-grade maths and science concepts emphasised in the SSDP curriculum. At baseline, 93 per cent of head teachers reported that students starting the school year with below-grade-level knowledge was a major challenge to teaching and learning in grades 9 and 10. Therefore, at endline we added assessment items to test students' grasp of material that they should have learned in earlier grades, and which is needed to learn the more advanced concepts in the SSDP curriculum.

Tables 16 and 17 illustrate some results that suggest that many students have trouble with prerequisite concepts. For example, consider question 3 in Table 16, which local experts associate with the eight-grade mathematics curriculum in Nepal. At endline, 56 per cent of ninth-grade students and 46 per cent of tenth-grade students failed to answer this correctly, suggesting that they had not fully learned or retained knowledge from grade 8. More worryingly, over one fifth (21%) of ninth-grade students failed to correctly answer question 6 ('What is 6 divided by 3?'), which tests basic division facts at approximately third-grade level. The results for question 8, which 33 per cent of ninth-grade students answered incorrectly, are also troubling. While this question is more difficult, requiring students to convert a narrative into mathematical symbols, it requires only basic maths knowledge. Table 17 raises even more concerns about students' preparation for ninth- and tenth-grade science. For three of the eight questions, only half or fewer of ninth and tenth graders answered correctly.

To address concerns that correct responses were low for some questions because students did not take the assessments seriously (rather than because they did not know the material), we used enumerator team reports to identify schools where: (a) the head teacher or teacher encouraged students multiple times to put effort into the assessments; (b) enumerators rated the students as taking the assessments at least moderately seriously; and (c) enumerators reported that there was little distracting behaviour during the assessments.<sup>38</sup> When we limit to these schools, we obtain very similar results. For the maths questions in Table 16, none of the percentages of correct answers in grade 9 rise by more than 1.5 percentage points, while four of the percentages fall. None of the percentages of correct answers in grade 10 rise by more than 3.5 percentage points and four of them fall. For the science questions in Table 17, the changes are similar, with only one rising by 3.2 percentage points, no others rising more than 2.1 percentage points and 10 of 16 percentages falling.

#### 4.4 Promising directions for improving programme impact

In the past, the designers and administrators of Nepal's teacher training policies were decision makers at the NCED, Ministry of Education (now Ministry of Education, Science and Technology) and Department of Education in Kathmandu. Moving forward in the wake of recent government reforms, they will increasingly include decision makers at provincial or local levels, perhaps with technical assistance from Kathmandu. The evidence presented thus far suggests that, regardless of their level or branch of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> The enumerators gave separate reports for each section within each grade. For the calculations described here, we selected only schools for which enumerators gave the indicated high rankings to all sections of the given grade within the school. At the ninth-grade level, this stringent criterion limits the sample to 80 schools, while at the tenth-grade level, it limits the sample to 75 schools.

government, they will need to exercise great care in redesigning and developing a more effective governance structure for new waves of teacher training, so that the funds spent on training lead to significant improvements in student learning.

| Question              |   | Crada        | Ninth gra | ders       | Tenth graders |            |
|-----------------------|---|--------------|-----------|------------|---------------|------------|
|                       |   | Grade        | Number    | Percentage | Number        | Percentage |
|                       |   | level        | tested    | correct    | tested        | correct    |
| 1. If A = {a, e, i    | , o, u}, what is the value of n(A)?       |              |           |            |               |            |
| a. 4                  | c. 3                                      | 8 (BL)       | 6,801     | 74.7       | 5,833         | 81.7       |
| b. 5                  | d. 2                                      |              |           |            |               |            |
| 2. If a square h      | as a side of 6 cm, what is its area?      |              |           |            |               |            |
| a. 24 cm <sup>2</sup> | c. 12 cm <sup>2</sup>                     | 8 (BL)       | 3,404     | 61.7       | 2,899         | 67.1       |
| b. 36 cm <sup>2</sup> | d. 64 cm <sup>2</sup>                     |              |           |            |               |            |
| 3. What is the        | volume of a cube with a side of 2 cm?     |              |           |            |               |            |
| a. 16 cm³             | c. 6 cm <sup>3</sup>                      | 8 (BL)       | 6,801     | 44.0       | 5,833         | 54.3       |
| b. 4 cm <sup>3</sup>  | d. 8 cm <sup>3</sup>                      |              |           |            |               |            |
| 4. Which of the       | following is NOT a parallelogram?         | 889          |           |            |               |            |
| a. Rectangle          | c. Rhombus                                | (BL)         | 3,404     | 25.1       | 2,899         | 28.9       |
| b. Square             | d. Trapezoid                              |              |           |            |               |            |
| 5. What is 15 x       | : 9?                                      |              |           |            |               |            |
| a. 100                | c. 130                                    | 7 (YL)       | 3,397     | 86.8       | 2,934         | 91.1       |
| b. 135                | d. 531                                    |              |           |            |               |            |
| 6. What is 6 ÷        | 3?  |              |           |            |               |            |
| a. 18                 | c. 3                                      | 7 (YL)       | 3,404     | 79.3       | 2,899         | 86.7       |
| b. 2                  | d. 9                                      |              |           |            |               |            |
| 7. One of these       | e angles is a right angle. Which one?     |              |           |            |               |            |
| a.                    | b. c. d.                                  | 4<br>(TIMSS) | 3,397     | 46.0       | 2,934         | 51.9       |
| 8. Shaheen ha         | s 2 pencil boxes. Each box has 5          |              |           |            |               |            |
| pencils. How w        | vill you find the total number of pencils |              |           |            |               |            |
| in the two pend       | cil boxes?                                | 4 (SLS)      | 6,801     | 66.9       | 5,833         | 71.5       |
| a. 2 + 5              | c. 2 x 5                                  |              |           |            |               |            |
| b. 5 - 2              | d. 2 + 2                                  |              |           |            |               |            |

Table 16: Student performance on below-grade-level maths questions

Note: BL = assessment item from the baseline assessment; YL = assessment item from the Young Lives study (see www.younglives.org.uk); TIMSS = assessment item from the Trends in International Mathematics and Science Study (see timssandpirls.bc.edu); SLS = assessment item from the Student Learning Study conducted in India (see www.ei-

india.com/study\_on\_student\_learning). The percentage correct are unweighted averages. The number of students for each question varies because some questions were used in both versions of the tests while others were used only in one version.

Teacher training programmes achieve high impacts on student learning only if their designers and administrators create a curriculum and approach, and related institutional structure, that satisfy several stringent criteria. First, the training curriculum must focus on material that: (a) addresses true gaps in teacher knowledge or practice that significantly inhibit student learning; (b) equips teachers with new teaching practices that can be implemented without too much additional time and cost; and (c) addresses subject content that students are adequately prepared to understand. Second, the trainings must be rolled out within an institutional structure that equips and motivates trainers to deliver the curriculum well and fulfil well any other roles that they have been

given (e.g. in following up with teachers after the training). Third, the trainings must be rolled out through an institutional structure in the schools that equips and motivates teachers to complete any self-study project work and, over the long term, implement improved teaching methods in their classrooms.

| Question                                     | Creada    | Ninth graders |            | Tenth graders |            |
|--|-----------|---------------|------------|---------------|------------|
|  | Grade     | Number        | Percentage | Number        | Percentage |
|  | level     | tested        | correct    | tested        | correct    |
| 1. What is the rate of change in velocity    |           |               |            |               |            |
| per unit of time?                            | 0 (DL)    | 6 901         | 74.0       | E 022         | 70.7       |
| a. Acceleration b. Relative velocity c.      | 0 (DL)    | 0,001         | 74.9       | 5,655         | 70.7       |
| Speed d. Velocity                            |           |               |            |               |            |
| 2. What is the name of the liquid used in    |           |               |            |               |            |
| the instrument below?                        | 8 (BL)    | 6,801         | 65.7       | 5,833         | 68.7       |
| a. Water b. Alcohol c. Mercury d. Milk       | . ,       |               |            |               |            |
| 3. Study the given atomic structure and      |           |               |            |               |            |
| select the name of the element.              |           |               |            |               |            |
| ( and )                                      |           |               |            |               |            |
|  |           |               |            |               | aa -       |
|  | 8 (BL)    | 3,368         | 62.3       | 2,883         | 66.7       |
|  |           |               |            |               |            |
| a Calcium b Oxygen c Magnesium d             |           |               |            |               |            |
| Sodium                                       |           |               |            |               |            |
| 4 Which of the following is a satellite of a |           |               |            |               |            |
| nlanet?                                      | 8 (BL)    | 6 801         | 52.3       | 5 833         | 53.6       |
| a Earth b Mercury c Jupiter d Moon           | 0(02)     | 0,001         | 02.0       | 0,000         | 00.0       |
| 5 Which of the following grows from a        |           |               |            |               |            |
| seed?  | 4 (QES)   | 3 433         | 81.6       | 2 950         | 78.8       |
| a Ant b Grass c Mosquito d Caternillar       | 1 (QLO)   | 0,100         | 01.0       | 2,000         | 70.0       |
| 6 Mahesh dave some dood reasons why          |           |               |            |               |            |
| kettles and kitchen pans are often made of   |           |               |            |               |            |
| copper. Which reason is correct?             |           |               |            |               |            |
| a Copper is a good conductor of heat         | 4         | 3 433         | 67.0       | 2 950         | 74.6       |
| b Copper is easy to melt                     | (TIMSS)   | 0,100         | 01.0       | 2,000         | 7 1.0      |
| c. Copper is difficult to shape              |           |               |            |               |            |
| d. Copper dissolves in hot water             |           |               |            |               |            |
| 7 The figure shows the Earth the Moon        |           |               |            |               |            |
| and the Sun Each body is labelled by a       |           |               |            |               |            |
| number. The arrows show the direction        |           |               |            |               |            |
| each body is moving. Which is the body       |           |               |            |               |            |
| labelled 2?                                  |           |               |            |               |            |
|  |           |               |            |               |            |
|  | 4         |               | 10.0       |               | /          |
|  | (TIMSS)   | 3,433         | 49.8       | 2,950         | 55.1       |
|  | ( )       |               |            |               |            |
|  |           |               |            |               |            |
|  |           |               |            |               |            |
| a. The Earth b. The Moon c. The Sun          |           |               |            |               |            |
| d. It is not possible to say with the        |           |               |            |               |            |
| information provided                         |           |               |            |               |            |
| 8. Neeraj put a thermometer in a glass       |           |               |            |               |            |
| filled with hot water. Why does the liquid   | 4         |               |            |               |            |
| inside the thermometer rise?                 |           | 3,368         | 34.6       | 2,883         | 40.6       |
| a. Gravity pushes it up                      | (111/155) |               |            |               |            |
| b. Air bubbles are released                  |           |               |            |               |            |

| Table <sup>•</sup> | 17: Student | performance | on belov | v-grade-level | science | questions |
|--------------------|-------------|-------------|----------|---------------|---------|-----------|
|                    |             |             |          |               |         |           |

| c. Heat from the water makes it expand      |  |  |  |
|---|--|--|--|
| d. Air pressure above the water pulls it up |  |  |  |

Note: BL = assessment items from the baseline assessment; TIMSS = assessment item from the Trends in International Mathematics and Science Study (see timssandpirls.bc.edu); QES = assessment item from the Quality Education Study in India (see https://www.ei-india.com/Quality\_education\_study\_qes). The per cent correct are unweighted averages. The number of students for each question varies because some questions were used in both versions of the tests while others were used only in one version.

With these criteria in mind, we see several strengths in the design and roll-out of the SSDP trainings. First, more than in the past, the SSDP trainings focused on practical, specific teaching methods rather than general theories of teaching and learning. In their review of six recent academic reviews of what works to improve student learning. Evans and Popova (2016) conclude that teacher training has the potential to improve student learning significantly, but that merely 'providing teachers with general guidance tends not to improve student learning' (p. 260). Rather, teacher trainings are most successful when they are part of larger efforts to improve pedagogical methods used to teach specific subject content. Snilstveit and colleagues (2015) also find that education programmes with the largest and most consistently positive effects on student learning are 'structured pedagogy' interventions that provide a package of teacher training and materials for teachers and students, which aim to help teachers apply specific new methods to teach specific subject content. The teachers in our study also liked the practical focus: when asked what they most appreciated about the SSDP training, half the teachers in our phone interview study provided answers such as 'practical way to teach', 'use of teaching materials' or 'experimental methods'.

Another strength of the SSDP secondary maths and science trainings was to move teachers away from lecturing at the blackboard, towards a more engaging way to teach, using more demonstrations and experiments. Many programmes meant to improve teaching and learning (in developing and developed countries) encourage teachers to use 'active learning' pedagogy. These approaches invite more student engagement – and challenge students to think more analytically – than traditional lecturing at the blackboard. In their review of pedagogy, curriculum and teacher education in developing countries, Westbrook and colleagues (2013) identify six very effective teaching materials made from local resources, namely: 'frequent and relevant use of learning materials beyond the textbook; open and closed questioning, expanding responses, encouraging student questioning; [and] demonstration and explanation, drawing on strong pedagogical content knowledge'.<sup>39</sup>

Other potential strengths are the use of group work during the ETC training sessions, the creation of opportunities for teachers to share experiences with each other and the required self-study project work. Use of group work in trainings may encourage teachers to use group work in their classrooms, encouraging student engagement. Providing teachers sharing opportunities may allow them to learn from each other's experiences to address practical problems. The self-study project work was presumably to help teachers

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> The other three were: 'flexible use of whole-class, group and pair work where students discuss a shared task; use of local language and code switching; and planning and varying lesson sequences'. (p. 2).

overcome the hurdle of preparing and implementing new teaching plans. This hurdle seems large, so it is good that the programme acknowledges this, even though accountability for completion of this project work seems to have been lacking.

We also see four critical weaknesses in the SSDP design and administration. First, the trainings were rolled out with little attention to equipping trainers and holding them accountable for delivering high-quality training. Trainers appear to need more detailed curriculum guidelines, training of trainers and more time to prepare the final training content. ETCs also require adequate funding to hire subject content experts and buy teaching supplies to use during training.

This weakness suggests the need for reform of teacher training institutions, so that they equip, support and motivate ETC personnel and trainers to train more effectively. With ETCs recently placed under provincial oversight, the new provincial governments should be encouraged to consider several changes. First, they should invite ETC personnel, relevant roster trainers (and subject content experts) and teachers to be more involved in developing new waves of training. This may give planners more practical knowledge of the typical barriers to effective training and may also increase trainers' motivation by giving them more ownership of the trainings. There should be more direct oversight of ETCs, trainers and training sessions, including more in-person observation of trainings. It may require a new protocol for following up training sessions with phone calls (from provincial or local government officials) to teachers who attended the training, asking about the content covered, instruction quality, likes and dislikes, and any problems that reduced the trainings' usefulness. We raise this possibility because our phone interviews for process evaluation were relatively inexpensive and were useful in learning the de facto strengths and weaknesses of the ETC trainings. For phone calls to increase trainers' accountability, it is important to announce a policy of conducting such follow-up interviews on a regular basis. Still, efforts to improve training implementation should be done carefully, since attempts to improve governance in other contexts have failed or even backfired (Finan et al. 2015).

Second, the trainings provided teachers with inadequate motivation and mentoring to implement new methods in their classrooms after the ETC training sessions. While further experimentation can be useful to identify effective reforms, we believe that NCED and provincial policymakers should consider new training modes that emphasise mentoring of teachers in their schools. Evans and Popova (2016 pp.260-261) find that 'one-time, in-service trainings at a central location...are not among the [teacher training interventions] found to be highly effective'. By contrast, Conn (2017) finds evidence that 'pedagogical interventions involving long-term teacher mentoring or in-school teacher coaching...produce a sizeable (albeit not always significant) effect on student learning'. Similarly, Albornoz and colleagues (2019) compared different trainings of science teachers in Argentina. Teacher training combined with ongoing coaching had a much larger impact on students' science test scores than did training alone. For SSDP training policies, this may consist of follow-up visits to observe teachers implementing new methods in their classrooms after ETC training sessions, with explicit feedback, discussion of challenges, and possibly multiple visits over weeks or months. Other modes of mentoring can also be explored, such as using social media to connect secondary maths or science teachers within districts; and developing internet-mediated mentoring sessions to teachers from centralised experts in subject content or pedagogy.

Third, SSDP teacher training was not delivered as part of a larger package (such as distribution of lesson plans and teaching materials) that teachers could easily adopt in their classrooms. To implement the demonstration methods promoted in the SSDP trainings, teachers would have to spend much time preparing new lesson plans and creating new teaching materials. Lack of time, motivation for preparation and funds to acquire even very modest local resources seems to have hampered adoption of new teaching methods. One rigorous study finds that teacher training combined with new materials and lesson plans raises student learning more than teacher training alone. Piper and colleagues (2018) compare three interventions in Kenya: a teacher training programme; the training programme plus revised student textbooks; and a programme combining training, revised textbooks and structured lesson plans. The programme combining all three increased student learning the most. The value of combining teacher training with lessons plans and materials is suggested by the success of 'structured pedagogy' programmes (Snilstveit et al. 2015).

Finally, we strongly suspect that the trainings focused too exclusively on the teaching of relatively advanced ninth- and tenth-grade subject content. While our evidence suggests that some teachers would benefit from training to improve their mastery of this content, exclusive focus on this may render the trainings unhelpful for other teachers, who first need remedial work with lower-grade subject content – as well as for the many students entering grades 9 and 10 with large deficits in understanding lower-grade-level maths and science concepts.

We suggest encouraging 'teaching at the right level', both by teachers in their classrooms and by trainers when instructing teachers. Interventions that group students at different levels of current performance and provide differentiated instruction to those groups are promising. Duflo and colleagues (2011) show that tracking students into 'high' and 'low' achievement increased maths and literacy scores of both groups in Kenya. A similar intervention is the provision of remedial instruction to students who are falling behind. Banerjee and colleagues (2007) show that, in India, providing low-performing third- and fourth-grade students with two hours of daily remedial instruction greatly increased their reading and maths scores. Evans and Popova (2016) point out that training teachers to use formative assessment and targeted instruction within classrooms raises student learning. Such studies show the value of carefully targeting instruction to student learning levels; however, they are not directly applicable examples as they focus on primary instead of secondary education.

The challenges our government collaborators faced in rolling out the SSDP trainings motivate three smaller suggestions. First, some teachers invited to the SSDP trainings did not attend because their schools had difficulties finding substitutes to teach their classes while they were at the trainings for two weeks. In some cases, teachers did attend but their students were left without supervision. This problem is especially acute for secondary-level maths and science teachers, who are in short supply. This implies that one should consider scheduling trainings during school vacations or using new training modes that reduce the need for teachers to be away from their classes. Second, some teachers may have chosen not to attend because they expected not to learn anything at the training. More effort may be needed to 'market' trainings to teachers, convincing them that there will be new material and conditions will be comfortable and conducive to learning. Third, some teachers reported difficulties in implementing the new

teaching methods promoted at the SSDP trainings because they require class sessions longer than the 40–45-minute sessions that are typical in Nepal's secondary schools. Schools should consider whether altering class schedules to allow teachers of some subjects to have some longer class sessions may be useful.

In this section we identified strengths and weaknesses in the design and implementation of the SSDP teacher trainings, and suggested ways for policymakers to improve the design and implementation of future trainings. We should point out, however, that none of these suggested changes is guaranteed to succeed. We think that policymakers should start experimenting with innovative training programmes on a small scale, in conjunction with careful evaluation and iterated improvements, developing the most promising designs before taking them to scale.

## 5. Cost analysis

Estimating costs for the SSDP teacher training intervention is difficult because it was rolled out by government institutions that use shared resources for many interventions and made use of personnel and institutional investments from previous waves of teacher training. It is therefore important to emphasise that our cost estimates are rough approximations.

We estimated the SSDP training costs in three steps (Table F3 in Appendix F summarises the steps). First, we listed all the activities required to develop the training curriculum and roll it out with the government institutions in place before the training began. This list has three categories: (1) costs incurred only once for the entire programme, regardless of the number of schools in which it is rolled out; (2) costs incurred only once per ETC, regardless of the number of schools and teachers that participated in the programme in the ETC catchment area (usually 1–3 districts); and (3) costs incurred each time the ETC rolls out a training session for about 20 teachers.

Our second step was to estimate the category three costs from actual training session costs in one of the seven ETCs that continued operating after the recent reform. Because the Ministry of Finance and the Ministry of Education, Science and Technology tend to provide nearly identical budgets to all ETCs implementing the same training sessions, we believe it is reasonable to extrapolate from this ETC to the others. We recorded both category two items as zero, because there were no new activities of this type as part of the SSDP trainings, but we include these line items in the table, since such costs may occur if similar trainings are rolled out in other contexts.

The third and final step, which yields numbers with the most uncertainty, was to estimate category one costs at national level and some category three administrative costs at training session level, working with one of our local partners, the Centre for Policy Research and Consultancy, which has a long history of experience collaborating with, and performing research on, educational institutions in Nepal. With this partner we developed rough estimates of the time required to complete each task and the pay grade at which that task would be done, using government pay scales.

Note that international organisations that work with education policymakers in Nepal, such as the Asian Development Bank, United Nations Children's Fund and the World Bank, also contributed to the design of the SSDP trainings and we have not included the costs of their contributions.

We estimate that the total cost for all 16 study districts to roll out 2 trainings (1 maths, 1 science) in the 14 ETCs relevant to the study was about US\$73,000 (using an exchange rate of NR110 per US\$). Each training had about 20 teachers. These costs work out to about US\$2,600 per training session or US\$130 per teacher. The average number of ninth-grade students per section (and so, usually, per science or maths teacher) is 50; for tenth-grade students the average is 43. The cost per student of training their teachers in 1 subject is thus about US\$2.60 for grade 9 and US\$3.00 for grade 10.

According to our calculations, by far the largest cost of the trainings is the per diem living expense payments or lodging for the participating teachers. This suggests that adding more trainings in these 14 ETCs for additional sets of 20 teachers would entail marginal costs nearly equal to the total cost per teacher. Expanding the trainings to catchment areas of new ETCs would likely cost more, especially if those ETCs conducted trainings of trainers and made other one-time preparations.

To put these costs into perspective, we turn to Damon and colleagues (2019), who present cost information for some of the most effective interventions in their review, which increase average test scores from 0.2 to 0.4 standard deviations. The costs per student (per year) range from US\$19 (excluding administration costs) for a girls' scholarship programme; to US\$24 (excluding administration costs) for private school vouchers; US\$15 for a relatively expensive computer-based programme; US\$3–9 (excluding administration costs) for student incentive programmes; and US\$2–3 (excluding administration costs) for teacher incentive programmes.

Overall, while the SSDP intervention has a relatively low per-student cost, when used for other education interventions in other contexts this cost has generated large increases in learning. This highlights the need to improve the SSDP programme's effectiveness or replace it with an intervention that can increase student learning.

### 6. Discussion

This mixed methods evaluation estimates the impacts of the SSDP training for ninth- and tenth grade maths and science teachers on student learning and evaluates the strengths and weaknesses of the programme's design and implementation. Based on an RCT involving 203 schools in 16 districts from all provinces of Nepal, we find no evidence of positive programme impacts on learning. In fact, our estimates rule out anything more than a small positive impact, and even suggest negative impacts, especially for better students (as measured at baseline).

Using both qualitative and quantitative data, we described key strengths and weaknesses of the programme's design and implementation (section 4.3). We summarise the findings and recommendations in section 7, below. This section discusses the study's limitations and external validity, describes our efforts to encourage evidence uptake, and draws lessons for future evaluations of education interventions (including, but not limited to, teacher training interventions) in Nepal.

#### 6.1 Limitations and external validity

#### 6.1.1 Limitations

Challenges during the intervention's roll-out led to two main limitations of the study. First, the delayed roll-out reduced the time available before endline data collection, reducing the time over which any improved teaching could increase learning. The average time between the maths training in the treatment schools and the endline testing was 11 months, with a range of 9–14 months. The average time between the science training and the endline testing was 9.4 months, with a range of 7–15 months. While we believe that this was enough time for most teachers to implement improved teaching methods across most of the curriculum content, and so enough time to affect student learning, perhaps with additional time teachers would have integrated more new methods into lesson plans and gained skills by practising the new methods, leading to greater impacts.<sup>40</sup> Extending the study by another year would have allowed us to estimate impacts after two years for the students in grade 8 at baseline. Yet this was not feasible, since policymakers were reluctant to withhold training from control schools for another year.

Second, teacher turnover, and especially teachers' non-uptake of training, led to low rates of completed training among teachers in our study schools. This reduction in numbers of teachers trained in treated schools reduced the precision of our estimates of treatment impacts.

#### 6.1.2 External validity

Compared to many studies, this evaluation was well-designed for external validity, at least within the policy environment that prevailed during the evaluation's design phase. We collected a (nearly) nationally representative sample of public schools, involving 16 districts from all areas of Nepal.<sup>41</sup> In addition, this intervention was rolled out by the government, largely through the institutions and procedures in place for government education policy prior to the study.

Some departures from standard practice were needed, however, in order to carry out high-quality, informative research under a budget constraint. Some teachers invited for training in our study would have been excluded under status quo ante protocols, which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> This variation in months of exposure to trained teachers suggests that it may be of interest to replace the Treat dummy variable in the regressions in Table 5 (and other tables) with the number of months or days that students were 'exposed' to trained teachers. This would capture the variation in students' exposure to the treatment that is missed by the Treat dummy variable and a quadratic specification could be used to check for heterogeneity in the impact by length of exposure. Yet this variation in days of exposure was not randomly assigned, so it is unclear whether a causal interpretation can be given to the results. Even so, Online appendix Table A.12 provides such estimates for Table 5 (full sample, using the full assessments). The linear estimates shown (quadratic terms were all far from significant) are very similar to those in Table 5, with negative and at most marginally significant impacts for tenth-grade maths and science.
<sup>41</sup> In addition to increasing our impact estimates' external validity, the use of a nationally representative sample increases the value – for policymakers and education researchers – of our datasets, since this is one of the first efforts in the last 15 years to collect systematic, quantitative data on secondary education in Nepal.
prioritised including teachers with permanent contracts who had not been trained under a previous education policy (the SSRP). Also, schools received explicit invitations to send their teachers to the trainings, while the status quo ante protocol was to wait for teachers and schools to request training. More importantly, as the NCED did not collect systematic data from ETCs on training dates, training attendance and other monitoring indicators, and because the NCED seemed not to have communication channels or personnel in place to ensure that the ETCs invited teachers from treated schools and not from control schools, research team members made frequent phone calls to the ETCs for data gathering and oversight. This may have raised the ETC personnel's perceptions of accountability somewhat, relative to status quo procedures, though our impression is that this effect was small.

A larger external validity question concerns Nepal's recent dramatic government reform (which accelerated after our intervention rolled out). It created new local and provincial governments and seeks to shift governing authority from the federal (central) level to the provincial and local levels in particular; Schaffner colleagues (2019b) summarise the implications for education policy. In principle, the new structure shifts the responsibility for providing basic and secondary education to local governments, with federal institutions such as the former NCED playing only a facilitating role. In fact, the exact form of the new institutional structure is still unclear. Legislation to reform the education sector has not yet been enacted, and many positions in the new provincial and local governments' education departments are unfilled. While this reform means that trainings identical to those we evaluated will no longer be rolled out, thereby limiting our external validity, in a broader sense it creates a good opportunity for policymakers at all levels to learn from the study and design new institutions that pay greater attention to issues highlighted in this report. The results are also valuable outside of Nepal, as they suggest possible ways of improving the performance of training centre-based, in-service teacher training programmes.

#### 6.2 Policy and programme relevance: evidence uptake and use

At all stages of this project, we strived for a strong partnership with government collaborators. As explained in section 2, we worked extensively with policymakers to identify the study intervention and develop the evaluation questions, hoping to build buyin and engagement. The strong support and leadership of Dr Teertha Dhakal, then National Planning Commission joint secretary, were essential for bringing together representatives from the National Planning Commission, Ministry of Education, Science and Technology, Department of Education and (later) NCED, to participate not only in large workshops and trainings, but also in a technical committee that provided specific input to the evaluation, especially while preparing and executing baseline data collection and rolling out the intervention.

Government participation waned after roll-out and up through preparation of endline data collection, as accelerating government federalisation brought transfers to new positions for many government officials initially involved with the study. Interest revived somewhat during analysis of the endline data, with a good turnout at our final dissemination workshop in August 2019, which drew representatives from the main federal-level government agencies involved in education policy, as well as planning members from four of Nepal's seven new provincial governments. Policymakers' reactions during this

event indicated that they heard the main message (of ineffective trainings and the need for overhaul) and appreciated the need to act on the findings. Yet whether and how they will act is unclear, given uncertainties about the large ongoing government reforms. The study may also affect policy through the SSDP Technical Working Group, which brings together senior government officials and international development partners (and which we discussed in our preliminary report), and through staff from the National Planning Commission and other organisations for whom we provided an impact evaluation workshop in January 2020. Lessons for collaboration between researchers and government officials on major evaluations, based on our experience, are in Online appendix C.

#### 6.3 Challenges and lessons

Sections 3.1 and 3.3 described challenges encountered when rolling out the teacher training intervention and examined the possible policy implications (summarised in section 7 below). In this section, we describe eight challenges we faced while implementing the evaluation and discuss the implications for future evaluations of education policies in Nepal.

First, we found it difficult to obtain even the basic data required to construct a sample frame. In principle, the Department of Education collected administrative data on numbers of students and teachers by grade for all schools. In practice, government officials were slow to share these data with us. Other information we needed, such as accurate records on the past teacher training experience of current teachers, was unavailable. A well-functioning education management information system could have raised the quality and speed, and reduced the cost, of our evaluation.

Second, after finding problems in the design of the baseline student assessments, we devised a new approach for developing assessments that we believe led to significant improvement. This process, described in section 3.4, involved a team that included both international and local assessment experts.

Third, suspecting that teachers may be reluctant to participate in assessments of their subject knowledge, we devised an indirect method that seemed to work well. For a description of the instrument we asked teachers to complete anonymously, see section 3.4.

Fourth, having difficulties obtaining detailed descriptions of the curricula and methods used for the SSDP trainings, we designed and implemented a telephone interview study, involving some trainers and most of the teachers who had been interviewed at baseline and had subsequently attended the SSDP trainings. This was a relatively low-cost component of our study, but the answers to closed-ended and short-answer, open-ended questions were very useful for understanding the training content, methods and quality of the training sessions. The telephone study was made feasible and inexpensive by requesting teachers' phone numbers during baseline data collection.

Fifth, we found that the combination of constraints imposed on us by government collaborators, our funder and our institutional review boards tended to create severe timing problems that may have reduced the study's quality. To be evaluable and ready for evaluation funding, interventions must be ready or nearly ready to roll out; however,

policymakers are reluctant to delay an intervention that is ready to go. This can result in a short window – between the time that funds are awarded and the deadlines for roll-out that have been set by policymakers – to design samples and develop baseline instruments. These time constraints are even more severe because of institutional review board processes that cannot begin until the sample and instruments are finalised.

We were fortunate to find funds from another source to finance a preliminary qualitative study before 3ie approved the full proposal, which helped us meet our tight schedule for baseline development. We suggest that 3ie and other funders consider modifying their funding rules to permit the release of some funding for preliminary qualitative research and baseline development before approving an evaluation's full funding, at least when previous funder interactions with the research team suggest a high probability that a full proposal will be approved.

Sixth, as indicated above, we believe we could have improved our study's quality and impact if we had embedded a research team member in a key policy-implementing agency for a few days per week during much of the study period. Even if we had realised the importance of this before developing our proposal, it was not possible due to budget constraints. We suggest that 3ie and other funders set funding limits that accommodate embedding a research team member in the implementing government agency when funding evaluations of government programmes.

Seventh, despite taking what we considered to be a conservative approach to power calculations (e.g. assuming an unusually high value for the intra-cluster correlation coefficient) and thus choosing a relatively large sample size, we believe our sample was too small to produce adequately precise impact estimates.<sup>42</sup> This leads us to offer one practical suggestion regarding power calculations and to highlight a potential flaw in current power calculation practice.

The practical suggestion is to integrate conservative predictions regarding programme uptake into power calculations. While we made conservative assumptions regarding several power calculation parameters, we failed to consider possible lack of compliance among teachers assigned to treatment. We assumed perfect compliance, but in practice 40 per cent of endline maths teachers and 58 per cent of endline science teachers did not attend training, increasing imprecision in estimation.

The potential flaw in power calculation best practice that we wish to point out concerns MDE targeting. Current best practice calls for calculating the sample size required to achieve, for example, an 80 per cent probability of obtaining a statistically significant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Our main sample size calculation aimed for an MDE of approximately 0.2 standard deviations on assessments for ninth- and tenth-grade maths and science students, with a significance level of 95 per cent and power of 80 per cent. Based on analysis of earlier nationally representative academic achievement tests, we set the intra-cluster correlation coefficient to 0.65, which is unusually high and implies the need to include many schools in the study. We assumed the inclusion of at least 30 students per school (in any subject and grade). While the MDE in a sample of 200 schools based on these calculations was slightly higher than the target, we anticipated being able to improve power by including baseline student test scores and district-stratum fixed effects as controls. In practice, across grades and subjects at endline, the intra-cluster correlation coefficients ranged from 0.063 to 0.095.

impact estimate (e.g. at the 95% confidence level) if the true effect is equal to an MDE selected by the researchers. This MDE is often an effect size that is just large enough that policymakers would see it as an indication of an effective programme (and thus want to be able to detect it). The MDE is, therefore, typically modestly large. Pressure to prove to funders that samples of adequate size are feasible given grant size limits may create incentives to raise these target MDEs even higher.

Yet this MDE-based approach to sample size calculations sets a low standard regarding the likely precision of impact estimates. An estimate equal to the MDE can meet the standard of statistical significance even if the confidence interval for that estimate ranges from only just slightly above zero to nearly twice the size of the MDE. When MDEs are modestly large, estimates with confidence intervals this wide are not precise enough to provide useful calculations for benefit and cost comparisons. Further, if the true effect is zero, confidence intervals this wide (ranging from nearly as high as the MDE down to the negative of that effect size) are not narrow enough to rule out modestly large effects, and thus are too wide to allow definitive conclusions regarding a programme's ineffectiveness. While in many cases our standard errors were small enough to allow detection of true effects equal to our MDE, and in some cases allowed us to rule out anything more than small positive impacts (because our point estimates were negative), the standard errors were nonetheless larger than desirable for precise impact estimation. Estimates of heterogeneous effects were even more imprecise. This inadequacy raises important questions about funding ceilings and what type of programmes it is feasible to evaluate. Had we cut our MDE in half in order to obtain more precise impact estimates, we would not have been able to proceed with the evaluation; it would not have been feasible to include a large enough sample while remaining within the 3ie budget limit for this evaluation.

Eighth, we believe that the current government reform, which aims to shift policymaking from the federal to provincial and local levels, constrains the types of evaluation that will be feasible in Nepal over the next few years. The reform introduces great uncertainty regarding how long policymakers will remain in their current positions, which policies and programmes will continue in their current forms, and for how long, and which institutional structures will provide oversight for specific policies. This raises the risk that evaluations will lose institutional support and be ended before reaching conclusions, especially if they require collaboration with many government institutions for long durations.

In this environment, we suggest that evaluations be somewhat smaller in geographic scope and less complex than our study. Several more tractable types of evaluation can be valuable. First, since costly large-scale evaluations should be carried out only for programmes with high probabilities of success, policy designers need evaluators to help them develop programmes with a high probability of success. In particular, evaluators could help policy designers to raise and answer important questions about proposed programmes' objectives, theories of change and design details, and then help them design and analyse small-scale policy experiments. The process of design modification and experimentation should continue until programmes have a high success probability. Second, for programmes that are ready for rigorous evaluation, evaluators should consider implementing experiments in a single province (or an even smaller geographic area) to reduce administrative complexity. This would allow evaluators to maintain good communication with relevant policymakers and programme personnel. Third, evaluators

should look for possible innovations in programme governance with the potential to improve the implementation of specific programmes and should consider rigorous study of the impacts of those changes on programme implementation outcomes. For example, an evaluation might study the impact of specific changes in the monitoring and supervision of trainers on training session quality outcomes, such as trainer promptness and time use during training sessions, quality of training materials and teacher satisfaction. We suggest this as we believe that better governance should be a high priority, and we suspect that impact evaluations could be carried out more easily and quickly if the main impact focus was on implementation outcomes rather than final outcomes (such as student test scores).

## 7. Conclusions and recommendations

This mixed methods evaluation estimated the impacts of Nepal's SSDP trainings for secondary maths and science teachers on their subject knowledge, teaching practices and student learning, and analysed the strengths and weaknesses of the programme's design and implementation. It combined an RCT of 203 schools in 16 districts with several qualitative research components, including the collection of monitoring data, a small-N study involving in-person interviews, and a larger-N qualitative-quantitative study involving telephone interviews of teachers and trainers who participated in the SSDP trainings.

We found no evidence that the SSDP training for secondary maths and science teachers raised student test scores. In fact, our main results allow us to rule out anything more than small positive effects and in some cases we estimate statistically significant negative impacts. We find weak but suggestive evidence that any negative effects are largest for students who were highest-performing at baseline.

At about US\$130 per teacher, or US\$2.60–3.00 per student, the cost of the SSDP trainings is similar to that of interventions that have been found to raise student learning significantly in other contexts. We thus conclude that Nepal's policymakers must improve teacher training or replace it with demonstrably more effective interventions. We hope the findings are useful for education policymakers at the federal level, education officials in the new provincial and local governments, and for other stakeholders in Nepal's education sector, such as local NGOs and international development partners. The findings also point to potential weaknesses in training programme design and implementation that education policymakers in other low- and middle-income countries should look for and address.

Drawing on qualitative and quantitative evidence, we describe five sets of problems that may explain why the SSDP trainings did not improve student learning. First, weak governance likely reduced the quality of the ETC trainings. It appears that trainers were given inadequate time and guidance to prepare training materials, were given no training of trainers and in some cases lacked relevant teaching materials. Some ETC trainers lacked adequate expertise in maths and science. Second, scheduling training sessions on regular school days may have prevented some teachers from participating, as substitute teachers were unavailable to teach their classes during the trainings. Teachers' low expectations of the novelty and value of the SSDP trainings may also have lowered participation. Third, we find evidence of serious weaknesses in some teachers' prerequisite subject knowledge, which may have impeded them from grasping training content focused on advanced maths and science concepts. Fourth, few teachers seem to have completed the post-ETC self-study project work or adopted new classroom teaching methods and our evidence suggests two possible explanations: (1) teachers' lack of accountability for the time-consuming development of lesson plans and teaching aids; and (2) teachers' lack of budgets for required teaching materials. Finally, we find that many students enter grades 9 and 10 with below-grade-level maths and science skills. SSDP trainings focused entirely on new methods to teach advanced ninth- and tenth-grade maths and science concepts may, therefore, have equipped teachers with skills that are largely irrelevant for many students' learning needs.

Our study has two limitations. First, it is possible that SSDP training impacts grow over time and we estimated impacts after only one year. Second, the training completion rates in our study schools at endline were unusually low due to high teacher turnover and low teacher uptake of the training invitations; this reduced precision.

Compared to many studies, this evaluation was designed relatively well for external validity, because we use a nearly nationally representative sample of schools to study an intervention rolled out through the institutions that were responsible for government training at the start of the study period. A dramatic government reform, however, recently shifted responsibility for basic and secondary education to new local governments, so that trainings identical to those we evaluated will no longer be offered. This limits our external validity in a narrow sense. Yet in a broader sense, the reform creates a valuable opportunity for policymakers at all levels to learn from the evidence and pursue improvements in teacher training programme design and implementation.

Considering our evidence on the problems that may have reduced the SSDP training programme's impacts, we recommend that policymakers in Nepal – and in other countries with similar weaknesses in training programme design and implementation – experiment with changes such as the following: (1) allocating more training time for methods to identify and differentiate instruction for students entering grades 9 and 10 with below-grade-level subject knowledge; (2) redesigning trainings to better accommodate teachers with gaps in prerequisite subject knowledge; (3) combining trainings with distribution of related lesson plans and materials (to reduce potential barriers to adoption of new teaching methods); (4) connecting trainings to periodic classroom visits (either in person or virtual) by mentors or coaches who can advise, monitor and hold teachers accountable for improved teaching; (5) improving the ways in which trainers are trained, equipped and motivated to deliver high-quality trainings; (6) scheduling trainings outside of school hours or during school breaks to increase participation; and (7) increasing efforts to motivate teachers for training by informing them about the novelty and value of the planned training curriculum.

## **Appendix A: Field notes**

New Era Pvt. Ltd., which has been in operation since 1971, was hired to collect both baseline and endline quantitative data. The collection of the baseline data took place between August 2017 and January 2018. For this data collection, New Era created 18 teams, each consisting of two enumerators and one supervisor, to administer questionnaires and student assessments during visits to schools that usually lasted 2-3 days. All the enumerators and supervisors had either a bachelor's or master's degree, and many had experience in the education sector. Travel between schools usually took between several hours and a full day. The data collection, which consisted of administration of questionnaires and assessments, was done in two phases, with a gap of several weeks in between the two phases, to accommodate the holidays that most schools took for at least three weeks between September and October of 2017. Multiple teams sometimes worked in the same district at the same time to complete the fieldwork in all the schools within the district before the holiday break. The first phase of the fieldwork, which took place in 12 districts, started on 17 August 2017 and was completed on 18 September. The second phase of fieldwork in the remaining four districts -Baglung, Morang, Nuwakot and Parsa – started on 24 October and was concluded on 27 November.

For the baseline data collection, New Era also selected 12 individuals with supervisorlevel qualifications to perform Stallings classroom observations, which took place at a minimum of two weeks after the initial school visit. While schools were informed that such visits would take place, they were not told the specific date for the classroom observation visit. The Stallings classroom observations were conducted from 30 August 2017 to 18 January 2018.

All baseline enumerators participated in a 10-day training led by the research team. Those selected to perform classroom observations also received an additional three-day training course on 10–12 August 2017 led by Rashmi Menon and Anuja Venkatachalam, senior research associates at J-PAL South Asia.

For the endline data collection, New Era created 17 teams, with 2 teams assigned to Morang district (where the sample of schools was twice as large) and 1 team assigned to each of the other districts. A team's visit to a sample school usually lasted 1.5–2 days. Again, each team had a supervisor and two other enumerators, and all the enumerators and supervisors had either a bachelors or a master's degree. Enumerators and supervisors were trained by the research team over 10 days between 28 January and 9 February 2019. The research team worked closely with New Era to ensure that both enumerators and supervisors fully understood how to administer the questionnaires and the protocols to follow for introducing themselves, administering informed consent, ethical treatment of human subjects, administering assessments and completing other forms.

When first arriving in a study district, each baseline and endline enumerator team first visited the offices of the District Education Development and Coordination Unit (which were called the District Education Offices at baseline), with a letter of introduction from the Ministry of Education, Science and Technology to inform officials about the research. The officials there were largely cooperative and responsive and drafted letters to our

sample schools attesting to their support for the study. The field team then took the same letters of introduction from Ministry of Education, Science and Technology and the letter from the District Education Development and Coordination Unit (or District Education Office) to the head teacher or assistant head teacher at each sample school.

During the baseline, the following questionnaires were administered:

- A head teacher questionnaire, administered mostly by a supervisor using a tablet.
- A questionnaire for teachers of ninth- and tenth-grade maths and science, administered by either a supervisor or an enumerator using a tablet.
- A student questionnaire, which students in grades 8 and 9 were asked to fill out on their own on paper copies.
- Student assessments in eight- and ninth-grade maths and science.
- Measures of classroom teaching practices and student engagement derived from use of the Stallings method of classroom observation (World Bank 2015).

During the endline, more instruments were administered. The main questionnaires and assessments were:

- A head teacher questionnaire, administered mostly by a supervisor using a tablet.
- A questionnaire for teachers of ninth- and tenth-grade maths and science, administered by either a supervisor or an enumerator using a tablet.
- A student questionnaire, which students in grades 9 and 10 were asked to fill out on their own on paper copies.
- Student assessments in ninth- and tenth-grade maths and science.
- A School Management Committee respondent questionnaire, administered mostly by a supervisor.

In addition, enumerators at endline completed forms related to:

- Teacher attendance from school logbooks.
- Identity and movements of teachers in and out of the school between baseline and endline.
- Tracking of baseline students (a form that also included questions for head teachers about students' ethnicity and performance on the previous year's end-of-year exams).
- Teacher evaluations of student assessment items, which at least one teacher of ninth- or tenth-grade compulsory maths and at least one teacher of ninth- or tenth-grade science was requested to complete anonymously on paper copies.

The head teacher/assistant head teacher was asked about who he or she could assign to help the field team member with the Teacher Turnover Form and the Teacher Attendance from Log Book Form. Often, they volunteered to provide this help themselves.

Early in the endline fieldwork, the survey firm discovered that the numbers of students present at endline in some schools were significantly greater than the numbers present at baseline. Concerned that the teams would run out of the paper copies of questionnaires and assessments that they carried with them to their study districts (some of which are quite remote), the survey firm, in consultation with the research team, implemented the following rule: *In all schools, administer assessments to all students* 

from the baseline study who are present at endline and who assent to participation. In schools where the number of 'new' students (i.e. students not present at baseline but present at endline) was less than or equal to 10 per cent of the baseline number of students, administer assessments to all new students who assent to participation. In schools where the number of new students exceeded 10 per cent, administer assessments to only one third of the 'new' students. In a few cases in which the rule dictated including only one third of the new students, head teachers requested that all students be included, and the enumerator teams complied. In the end, all students who were present in the school at endline were included in the study in 71 per cent of the schools for grade 9 and 83 per cent for grade 10.

The major problems that the survey firm encountered were unexpected public holidays and internal school exams. These problems were particularly severe during the baseline as the survey team did not have the contact numbers for head teachers or teachers in the schools. The survey team would be made aware of these holidays only after reaching the school. Given the remoteness of many schools in our sample, it made more sense for the teams to wait in the school until the students were done with their exams, or the holiday was over, rather than attempting to visit another school.

During the endline survey, coordinating with schools was easier given the teams' access to phone numbers of head teacher and teachers, but unexpected school closure was still a problem. There were five or six unexpected school closures that the teams faced during fieldwork (a public holiday due to the death of a minister, a strike by *rahat* teachers, a strike by a political party and a public holiday to commemorate the anniversary of the provincial government's formation). Since these holidays were declared at the last moment, it posed severe logistical challenges to the field teams, not least because they were under severe time pressure as schools were about to be closed for the year. In addition, the field teams had to change their plans in some schools since they coincided with the schools' exams. There were also instances where it was difficult to contact head teachers, especially in remote areas via phone due to cell phone network problems and/or out-of-date phone numbers.

# Appendix B: Survey instruments and other evaluation tools (qualitative and quantitative)

https://www.3ieimpact.org/sites/default/files/GFR-PW3.10-appendix-B-Instruments.zip

## Appendix C: Pre-analysis plan

https://www.3ieimpact.org/sites/default/files/GFR-PW3.10-appendix-C-Pre-analysis-plan.zip

## Appendix D: Sample design and calculation of population weights

This appendix describes the selection of our study sample and our construction of school-level population weights, which can be used to produce statistics based on the sample of 203 schools that are representative of the 16 districts chosen for the study. The secondary schools in these 16 districts, in turn, are nearly representative of all secondary schools in Nepal (as discussed in the main text).

#### I. Selection of 203 schools

As described in the main text, the 203 schools in the study were chosen using a two-step process. For complete details, see subsection IV.A in Schaffner, Glewwe and Sharma (2018). First, 20 districts were randomly selected to be representative of 65 of Nepal's 75 districts. These 20 districts were later reduced to 16 districts, as explained below. Second, within the 16 districts, schools were randomly selected from 2 strata within each district.

Selection of 20, and then 16, districts. When the sample was drawn in January 2017, Nepal had 75 districts (it now has 77). Of these 75 districts, 10 districts (Bajura, Dolpa, Humla, Kalikot, Manang, Mugu, Mustang, Nawalparasi, Rukum and Taplejung) were dropped from consideration due to extreme remoteness or other challenges that would raise data collection costs. According to a database provided by the Ministry of Education, in 2016 there were 8,681 public schools (which are called 'community schools' in official statistics) that include at least grades 1–10 in Nepal. These combined primary-secondary schools educate 97 per cent of Nepal's ninth- and tenth-grade public school students and are considered to be the model of what most schools will soon be in Nepal (see Schaffner, Glewwe and Sharma 2018). Of these, 497 were in the 10 excluded districts, so the 65 districts that are represented by the sample included 94.3 per cent of Nepal's public schools with at least grades 1–10.

These 65 districts were grouped into 14 strata by 'terrain' (mountains = 1, hills and plains = 2), and by the 7 provinces in Nepal, each of which contained, on average, about 10 districts. The probability that any given district was selected into the stratified random sample of 20 was proportional to the number of public schools with grades 1–10 in the district. The one exception to this was that, at the request of policymakers in Nepal, districts in Province 6 were given a 'double probability' of being selected (see Schaffner, Glewwe and Sharma 2018 for details). The 20 districts randomly selected were: Solukhumbu, Jumla, Khotang, Panchthar, Morang, Parsa, Mahottari, Nuwakot, Kavrepalanchok (Kavre), Sindhuli, Chitwan, Lamjung, Tanahun, Baglung, Arghakhanchi, Kapilvastu (Kapilbastu), Dailekh, Salyan, Baitadi and Achham.

Constraints on the personnel time available for working with districts to obtain sample frame data necessitated dropping four districts. After assessing data availability and the challenges associated with each district, and wishing to retain at least one district per province, the research team together with policymakers chose to drop Baitadi, Khotang, Mahottari and Tanahun districts (see Schaffner, Glewwe and Sharma 2018, for further details).

Selection of 203 schools within the 16 districts. Power calculations suggested that we aim for a sample of approximately 200 schools, of which half would be randomly assigned to the treatment group and half to a control group. After further discussions with Nepalese officials in the summer of 2017, we decided to stratify the sample not only by district, but also by schools' 'priority' or 'non-priority' status, selecting two thirds of the sample from among priority schools and one third from non-priority schools. Priority schools are those for which official hardcopy NCED records showed that no permanent maths or science teacher (and no maths or science teacher whose permanent or temporary status was unknown) had completed SSRP training (i.e. training under the previous seven-year education plan). Non-priority schools are those for which the records showed that at least one permanent or temporary status was unknown) had completed SSRP training (i.e. training under the records showed that at least one permanent or temporary status was unknown) had completed SSRP training (i.e. training under the records showed that at least one permanent or temporary status was unknown) had completed SSRP training (i.e. training the status was unknown) had completed SSRP training (i.e. training the status was unknown) had completed SSRP training (i.e. training teacher (or one maths or science teacher whose permanent or temporary status was unknown) had completed SSRP training.

To facilitate the two thirds/one third stratification, we required a number of schools per district that is divisible by three. It was also decided that, within each district, half of the schools would randomly be assigned to the control group, one quarter would be randomly assigned to the 'standard' treatment group and one quarter randomly assigned to the 'treatment plus video assignment group. This rendered it convenient to select 12 schools per district. To accommodate a request by Nepalese officials, the largest district, Morang district, was allocated a 'double' sample of 24 schools. This increased the target sample size to 204 schools. In practice, the sample included only 203 schools, because the Solukhumbu district population of schools included only 3 non-priority schools. In what follows we describe sampling and weight calculations for the districts for which we sampled 12 schools; the same procedure was followed for Morang district, but all numbers in the following are doubled.

To reduce the probability of spillover from treatment to control schools, we chose the sample in a way that would reduce the probability than any given school in the sample was geographically proximate to any other school in the sample. This was done by randomly drawing small geographic areas called village development committees (VDCs) and then drawing only one school per VDC. In the 16 districts from which the schools were drawn, there were 1,251 'eligible' schools (with at least grades 1–10 that had not received SSDP training) spread over 751 VDCs, so the average VDC had 1.67 eligible schools.

Within each district, we first sampled non-priority schools, by randomly sampling VDCs from among VDCs where any non-priority schools were located, with probability proportional to the number of such schools in the VDC, and then randomly sampling one non-priority school per selected VDC (if the VDC had more than one non-priority school). We then sampled priority schools by selecting VDCs from among those that had not been selected for inclusion in the non-priority stratum. Because some of the excluded VDCs included non-priority as well as priority schools, and because VDCs that include both non-priority and priority schools might be systematically different from VDCs included both non-priority schools, we increased the weight for the VDCs that included both non-priority and priority schools at this stage, with the aim of rendering the priority stratum sub-sample closer to representative of all priority schools within the district (see Schaffner, Glewwe and Sharma 2018, for details).

Aiming for an ultimate sample of 4 schools within the non-priority stratum and 8 schools within the priority stratum, we sampled 6 non-priority schools and 15 priority schools, so as to have 2 (7) backup non-priority (priority) schools. <sup>43</sup> All sampling was done without replacement. More specifically, for selection within each stratum, all eligible VDCs were put into a list, with each VDC given as many rows in the list as there are eligible schools in the VDC. (A VDC's probability of selection depended on the number of lines it takes up in the list but not the order in which it appears in the list.) A random number was then selected for identifying the first line in this list to include in the sample, and then the sampling was completed by selecting lines at equal intervals down the list. The VDCs associated with the schools in the selected lines constituted the sample of VDCs. Unweighted random sampling was then used to select one eligible school per VDC (if the VDC had more than one eligible school). Further details are provided in Schaffner, Glewwe and Sharma (2018).

#### II. Procedure for calculating weights

Our aim was to create school-level population weights equal to the inverse of schools' probabilities of selection into the sample (from the population of schools with grades 1– 10 in the 16 districts). Given the complicated process of sampling without replacement described above, we chose to calculate those probabilities using Monte Carlo methods. More specifically, we repeated the above process for sampling schools 10,000 times, each time randomly selecting a new set of starting points for selection of VDCs within the ordered lists of schools from eligible VDCs. For each VDC, the probability selection was calculated as the fraction of the 10,000 draws that the VDC was selected. For any given priority (non-priority) school, the probability of selection into the sample was the probability of its VDC being selected into the sample divided by the number of eligible priority (non-priority) schools in that VDC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> In fact, during the actual data collection there were very few cases where the fifth or sixth nonpriority school was included in the sample due to problems collecting data for the first four selected non-priority schools. Similarly, there were very few cases where the ninth or higher selected priority school was included in the sample because in almost all districts there were no problems collecting data from the first eight selected priority schools. Note that the selection of these 'spare' schools, whether used or not, does not change the probability that any given school is selected into the sample; that is, selecting additional schools that may be used in the sample does not affect the probability that the first four or eight schools were selected into the sample.

## Appendix E: Two qualitative studies

https://www.3ieimpact.org/sites/default/files/GFR-PW3.10-appendix-E-Qualitative-and-phone-interview-report.zip

## **Appendix F: Supplementary tables**

### Table F1: Average endline test scores by student gender and ethnicity

| Group (sample sizes for     | Mean (std. dev.) endline | Mean (std. dev.) endline |
|-----------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|
| maths and science score     | maths assessment         | science assessment       |
| average calculations)       | percentage score         | percentage score         |
| Grade 9-Males(n=2857,2857)  | 29.82 (9.34)             | 30.65 (9.23)             |
| Brahmin and                 |                          |                          |
| Chhetri(n=1102,1102)        |                          |                          |
| Terai and                   | 30.57 (9.62)             | 32.10 (9.39)             |
| Madheshi(n=322,322)         | 29.23 (11.06)            | 28.57 (10.79)            |
| Dalit(n=344,344)            | 28.67 (9.01)             | 29.11 (8.31)             |
| Newar(n=78,78)              | 29.07 (8.62)             | 29.85 (7.44)             |
| Other Janajati(n=936,936)   | 29.36 (8.49)             | 30.06 (8.65)             |
| Muslim(n=56,56)             | 25.73 (11.89)            | 26.37 (11.13)            |
| Grade 9–                    |                          |                          |
| Females(n=3847,3847)        | 26.85 (9.31)             | 27.84 (8.53)             |
| Brahmin and                 |                          |                          |
| Chhetri(n=1391,1391)        |                          |                          |
| Terai and                   | 27.42 (9.72)             | 28.27 (8.82)             |
| Madheshi(n=397,397)         | 24.48 (10.39)            | 25.15 (9.86)             |
| Dalit(n=480,480)            | 26.00 (9.05)             | 26.64 (7.65)             |
| Newar(n=104,104)            | 28.92 (7.79)             | 29.83 (8.20)             |
| Other Janajati(n=1423,1423) | 26.66 (8.72)             | 28.01 (8.06)             |
| Muslim (n= 26,26)           | 26.04 (11.83)            | 25.43 (12.03)            |
| Grade 10–Males              |                          |                          |
| (n=2567,2568)               | 30.28 (9.73)             | 34.13 (9.87)             |
| Brahmin and                 |                          |                          |
| Chhetri(n =1025,1026)       |                          |                          |
| Terai and                   | 31.17 (9.71)             | 35.24 (9.52)             |
| Madheshi(n=264,264)         | 28.86 (12.10)            | 31.48 (11.86)            |
| Dalit(n=341,341)            | 27.83 (9.35)             | 31.66 (9.22)             |
| Newar(n=63,63)              | 34.14 (9.26)             | 36.09 (8.93)             |
| Other Janajati(n=814,814)   | 30.27 (9.12)             | 34.12 (9.95)             |
| Muslim(n=36,36)             | 28.63 (10.84)            | 33.22 (11.39)            |
| Grade 10–                   |                          |                          |
| Females(n=3265,3265)        | 26.53 (9.34)             | 30.67 (9.00)             |
| Brahmin and                 |                          |                          |
| Chhetri(n=1339,1339)        |                          |                          |
| Terai and                   | 26.76 (9.39)             | 31.26 (9.06)             |
| Madheshi(n=304,304)         | 22.99 (10.88)            | 27.24 (9.62)             |
| Dalit(n=364,364)            | 24.63 (8.49)             | 28.77 (8.06)             |
| Newar(n=92,92)              | 29.10 (8.56)             | 32.79 (7.75)             |
| Other Janajati(n=1118,1118) | 27.28 (9.01)             | 31.03 (8.84)             |
| Muslim(n=21,21)             | 24.73 (14.05)            | 30.23 (14.87)            |

Note: test score means and standard deviations are weighted.

|  | Grade 9          |                 | Grade 10        |          |  |  |
|--|------------------|-----------------|-----------------|----------|--|--|
|  | Maths            | Science         | Maths           | Science  |  |  |
| Without weights  |                  |                 |                 |          |  |  |
| Treat  | -0.082***        | -               | 0.075***(0.024) | -0.050** |  |  |
|  | (0.021)          | 0.089***(0.022) | -0.075 (0.024)  | (0.025)  |  |  |
|  |                  |                 |                 |          |  |  |
| R <sup>2</sup>   | 0.212            | 0.160           | 0.249           | 0.197    |  |  |
| Sample size  | 6,800            | 6,797           | 5,832           | 5,829    |  |  |
| Without controls for tes   | st-taking condit | ions            |                 |          |  |  |
| Treat  | -0.110           | -0.111          | -0.046          | 0.007    |  |  |
|  | (0.066)          | (0.061)         | (0.073)         | (0.074)  |  |  |
|  |                  |                 |                 |          |  |  |
| R <sup>2</sup>   | 0.228            | 0.158           | 0.251           | 0.181    |  |  |
| Sample size  | 6,800            | 6,797           | 5,832           | 5,829    |  |  |
| Adding controls for variables that were not balanced at baseline           |                  |                 |                 |          |  |  |
| Treat  | 0 114(0 063)     | -               | 0.005           | 0.059    |  |  |
|  | -0.114(0.003)    | 0.104*(0.058)   | (0.073)         | (0.071)  |  |  |
|  |                  |                 |                 |          |  |  |
| R <sup>2</sup>   | 0.243            | 0.176           | 0.276           | 0.211    |  |  |
| Sample size  | 6,800            | 6,797           | 5,832           | 5,829    |  |  |
| Adding school, teacher and student controls                                |                  |                 |                 |          |  |  |
| Treat  | 0 107(0 065)     | -0.085          | -0.063          | -0.014   |  |  |
|  | -0.107(0.065)    | (0.063)         | (0.063)         | (0.084)  |  |  |
|  |                  |                 |                 |          |  |  |
| R <sup>2</sup>   | 0.288            | 0.201           | 0.281           | 0.206    |  |  |
| Sample size  | 5,658            | 5,383           | 4,752           | 4,602    |  |  |
| Raw scores (percent of questions correctly answered) as dependent variable |                  |                 |                 |          |  |  |
| Treat  | 0.114*           | 0.121**         | 0.032           | -0.033   |  |  |
|  | (0.067)          | (0.057)         | (0.070)         | (0.075)  |  |  |
| R <sup>2</sup>   | 0.218            | 0.150           | 0.250           | 0.175    |  |  |
| Sample size  | 6.800            | 6,797           | 5.832           | 5.829    |  |  |

Table F2: ITT estimates of impact of SSDP training on students' normalised testscores: full sample, all items: robustness checks

Note: estimates of  $\beta_T$ . The 'default' estimates underlying the results in this table are those given in Table 5, which are from WLS regressions of normalised student assessment scores on the treat variable, district by priority stratum fixed effects, and dummy variables for whether assent was requested before or after the test and whether the maths test was given first (followed by the science test). Standard errors, in parentheses, account for random assignment within strata and are clustered at the school level. Each panel of this table reports on regressions that depart from this default in just one dimension. The first panel uses ordinary least squares rather than WLS estimation. The second omits the test-taking condition controls. The third adds school variables that were not balanced at baseline: log of total number of students; whether the school had electricity; whether the head teacher had a master's degree; and the percentage of the school's teachers who are female. The fourth adds the following variables: father had at least secondary education; mother had at least secondary education; an index of family assets; dummy variables for whether the teacher had SSRP training, had a permanent position or less than five years of experience; and the time it takes to walk from the school to the nearest all-weather motorable road (in indicator of remoteness). The fifth tests for impact on raw scores of students (i.e. percent of questions correctly answered). Estimates that are statistically significant at the .10, .05 and .01 levels are indicated by \*, \*\* and \*\*\*, respectively.

## Table F3: Costs for SSDP trainings of ninth- and tenth-grade maths and science teachers

| Activity        | Approach to estimation        | Total in US\$               | Cost per             | Cost per             |
|-----------------|-------------------------------|-----------------------------|----------------------|----------------------|
| -               |                               | equivalents for             | ETC training         | teacher <sup>3</sup> |
|                 |                               | study roll-out <sup>1</sup> | session <sup>2</sup> |                      |
| Category 1: Cos | sts incurred once for entire  | country                     |                      |                      |
| Curriculum      | 2 months of time at under-    | 1,244.40                    | 44.4                 | 2.2                  |
| development     | secretary level per subject   |                             |                      |                      |
| and writing of  | * 2 subjects (maths and       |                             |                      |                      |
| guidelines      | science).                     |                             |                      |                      |
| Category 2: Cos | sts incurred once per ETC re  | egion                       |                      |                      |
| Selection and   | This was not done afresh      | We cost this at zero        | 0                    | 0                    |
| training of ETC | for this programme and        | for our study               |                      |                      |
| personnel,      | these personnel and           | intervention, but           |                      |                      |
| creation of     | rosters are shared across     | note that these costs       |                      |                      |
| trainer roster  | many government teacher       | might be required for       |                      |                      |
|                 | training programmes.          | replication in other        |                      |                      |
|                 |                               | contexts.                   |                      |                      |
| Training of     | In practice, there was no     | We cost this as             | 0                    | 0                    |
| trainers        | new training of trainers for  | zero, but note that         |                      |                      |
|                 | this programme, but the       | replication                 |                      |                      |
|                 | programme was rolled out      | elsewhere would             |                      |                      |
|                 | by ETCs in which trainers     | require training of         |                      |                      |
|                 | had received related          | trainers.                   |                      |                      |
|                 | training of trainers for      |                             |                      |                      |
|                 | related training              |                             |                      |                      |
|                 | programmes in previous        |                             |                      |                      |
|                 | years.                        |                             |                      |                      |
| Category 3: Cos | sts incurred once per trainin | ig session                  |                      |                      |
| Central         | 1 month of time at under-     | 311.1                       | 11.1                 | 0.6                  |
| oversight of    | secretary level. Ministry of  |                             |                      |                      |
| financing       | Education, Science and        |                             |                      |                      |
| arrangements    | Technology approves the       |                             |                      |                      |
|                 | programme and budget for      |                             |                      |                      |
|                 | teacher training and NCED     |                             |                      |                      |
|                 | gives permission to           |                             |                      |                      |
|                 | release funds                 |                             |                      |                      |
|                 | (AKHATHARI) to related        |                             |                      |                      |
|                 | ETCs. This estimate is for    |                             |                      |                      |
|                 | the cost of administering     |                             |                      |                      |
|                 | funds for all 28 trainings in |                             |                      |                      |
|                 | our study. Similar cost       |                             |                      |                      |
|                 | would be incurred again       |                             |                      |                      |
|                 | for additional waves of       |                             |                      |                      |
|                 | training sessions.            |                             |                      |                      |
| Selection of    | 1 week of time at section     | 1,940.9                     | 69.3                 | 3.5                  |
| trainers by     | officer level * 14 ETCs * 2   |                             |                      |                      |
| ETC             | trainings (1 in maths and 1   |                             |                      |                      |
|                 | in science) per ETC.          |                             |                      |                      |

| Activity          | Approach to estimation       | Total in US\$<br>equivalents for | Cost per<br>ETC training | Cost per<br>teacher <sup>3</sup> |
|-------------------|------------------------------|----------------------------------|--------------------------|----------------------------------|
|                   |                              | study roll-out <sup>1</sup>      | session <sup>2</sup>     |                                  |
| Invitation of     | 2 weeks of time of a cleric* | 2,821.6                          | 100.8                    | 5.0                              |
| teachers,         | 14 ETCs * 2 trainings (1 in  |                                  |                          |                                  |
| logistics,        | maths and 1 in science)      |                                  |                          |                                  |
| clerical          | per ETC.                     |                                  |                          |                                  |
| assistance        |                              |                                  |                          |                                  |
| Trainer time for  | 3 weeks of time at ETC       | 5,822.7                          | 208.0                    | 10.4                             |
| preparation       | Subject Technical Officer    |                                  |                          |                                  |
| and delivery      | level* 14 ETCs * 2           |                                  |                          |                                  |
|                   | trainings (1 in maths and 1  |                                  |                          |                                  |
|                   | in science) per ETC.         |                                  |                          |                                  |
| Use of facilities | \$136.63 * 14 ETCs * 2       | 3,818.2                          | 136.4                    | 6.8                              |
|                   | trainings (1 in maths and 1  |                                  |                          |                                  |
|                   | in science) per ETC.         |                                  |                          |                                  |
|                   | Estimate based on rental     |                                  |                          |                                  |
|                   | cost for 10 days in budget   |                                  |                          |                                  |
|                   | conference space in a        |                                  |                          |                                  |
|                   | district headquarters (NRs.  |                                  |                          |                                  |
|                   | 1500 per day).               |                                  |                          |                                  |
| Participant per   | \$1,768.50*14 ETCs * 2       | 4,9519.3                         | 1768.5                   | 88.4                             |
| diems and         | trainings (1 in maths and 1  |                                  |                          |                                  |
| lodging           | in science) per ETC.         |                                  |                          |                                  |
|                   | Based on actual cost from    |                                  |                          |                                  |
|                   | an example district.         |                                  |                          |                                  |
| Materials and     | \$272.70 * 14 ETCs * 2       | 7,636.4                          | 272.7                    | 13.6                             |
| handouts          | trainings (1 in maths and 1  |                                  |                          |                                  |
|                   | in science) per ETC.         |                                  |                          |                                  |
|                   | Based on actual cost from    |                                  |                          |                                  |
|                   | an example district.         |                                  |                          |                                  |
| Training follow-  | In practice, this did not    | We are costing this              | 0                        | 0                                |
| up by ETC         | occur.                       | at zero, but note that           |                          |                                  |
| personnel         |                              | in principle this                |                          |                                  |
|                   |                              | should have taken                |                          |                                  |
|                   |                              | place, and might be              |                          |                                  |
|                   |                              | valuable if replicated           |                          |                                  |
|                   |                              | elsewhere.                       |                          |                                  |
| Totals            |                              | 73,114.6                         | 2611.2                   | 130.6                            |
|                   |                              |                                  |                          |                                  |

Note: <sup>1</sup> the exchange rate used is US\$ 1 = NRs 110; <sup>2</sup> where relevant, totals are divided across 28 sessions (2 sessions each, 1 in maths and 1 in science, in each of the 14 ETCs relevant to our 16 study districts); <sup>3</sup> we assume an average of 20 teachers per ETC training session.

## **Online appendixes**

#### **Online appendix A: Additional tables**

https://www.3ieimpact.org/sites/default/files/2021-04/GFR-PW3.10-Online-appendix-A-Additional-tables.pdf

#### **Online appendix B: Video assignment**

https://www.3ieimpact.org/sites/default/files/2021-04/GFR-PW3.10-Online-appendix-B-Video-assignment.pdf

#### **Online appendix C: Collaboration**

https://www.3ieimpact.org/sites/default/files/2021-04/GFR-PW3.10-Online-appendix-C-Collaboration.pdf

## References

Abeberese, AB, Kumler, TJ and Linden, LL, 2014. Improving reading skills by encouraging children to read in school: a randomized evaluation of the Sa Aklat Sisikat Reading Program in the Philippines, *Journal of Human Resources*, 49(3), pp.611–633.

Acharya, S and Uprety, T, 2019. Evaluating the design and impact of the secondary school teacher training initiative under the government of Nepal's School Sector Development Program: a qualitative report. Unpublished.

Albornoz, F, Anauati, MV, Furman, M, Luzuriaga, M, Podestá, ME and Taylor, I, 2019. Training to teach science: experimental evidence from Argentina. *World Bank Economic Review*, 34(2), pp.393–417.

Araujo, MC, Carneiro, P, Cruz-Aguavo, Y and Schady, N, 2016. Teacher quality and learning outcomes in kindergarten. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 131(3), pp.1415–1453.

Banerjee, A, Cole, S, Duflo, E and Linden, L, 2007. Remedying education: evidence from two randomized experiments in India. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 122(3), pp.1235–1264.

Benjamini, Y and Yekutieli, D, 2001. The control of the false discovery rate in multiple testing under dependency. *Annals of Statistics*, 29(4), pp.1165–1188.

Chetty, R, Friedman, J and Rockoff, J, 2014. Measuring the impact of teachers I: evaluating bias in teacher value-added estimates. *American Economic Review*, 104(9), pp.2593–2632.

Conn, KM, 2017. Identifying effective education interventions in Sub-Saharan Africa: A meta-analysis of rigorous impact evaluations. *Review of Educational Research*, 87(5), pp.863–898.

Damon, A, Glewwe, P, Wisniewski, S and Sun, B, 2019. What education policies and programmes affect learning and time in school in developing countries? A review of evaluations from 1990. *Review of Education*, 7(2), pp.295–387.

Duflo, E, Dupas, P, and Kremer, M, 2011. Peer effects, teacher incentives, and the impact of tracking: evidence from a randomized evaluation in Kenya. *American Economic Review*, 101(5), pp.1739–1774.

Evans, DK and Popova, A, 2016. What really works to improve learning in developing countries? An analysis of divergent findings in systematic reviews. *World Bank Research Observer*, 31(2), pp.242–270.

Finan, F, Olken, B and Pande, R, 2015. The personnel economics of the state'. NBER Working Paper Number 21825. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.

Fuje, H, and Tandon, P, 2018. When do in-service teacher training and books improve student achievement? Experimental evidence from Mongolia. *Review of Development Economics*, 22(3), pp.1360–1383.

Jukes, MC, Turner, EL, Dubeck, MM, Halliday, KE, Inyega, HN, Wolf, S, Zuilkowski, SS and Brooker, SJ, 2017. Improving literacy instruction in Kenya through teacher professional development and text messages support: a cluster randomized trial. *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness*, 10(3), pp.449–481.

Kafle, B, Acharya, SP and Acharya, D, 2019. *National assessment of student achievement 2018: main report.* Bhaktapur: Education Review Office (ERO), Ministry of Education, Science and Technology.

Loyalka, P, Popova, A, Li, G and Shi, Z, 2019. Does teacher training actually work? Evidence from a large-scale randomized evaluation of a national teacher training program. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 11(3), pp.128–154.

Lu, M, Loyalka, P, Shi, Y, Chang, F, Liu, C and Rozelle, S, 2019. The impact of teacher professional development programs on student achievement in rural China: evidence from Shaanxi Province. *Journal of Development Effectiveness*, 11(2), pp.105–131.

Lucas, AM, McEwan, PJ, Ngware, M and Oketch, M, 2014. Improving early grade literacy in east Africa: experimental evidence from Kenya and Uganda. *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management*, 33(4), pp.950–976.

Macdonald, K, and Vu, BT, 2018. A randomized evaluation of a low-cost and highly scripted teaching method to improve basic early grade reading skills in Papua New Guinea, Policy Research Working Paper 8682. Washington, DC: The World Bank.

Macdonald, K, Brinkman, S, Jarvie, W, Machuca-Sierra, M, Mcdonall, K, Messaoud-Galusi, S, Tapueluelu, S and Vu, B, 2018. Intervening at home and then at school: a randomized evaluation of two approaches to improve early educational outcomes in Tonga, Policy Research Working Paper 8427. Washington, DC: The World Bank.

Ministry of Education, 2016. *School sector development plan 2016–2023.* Kathmandu: Ministry of Education, Government of Nepal.

Ministry of Education, 2018. *Education in figures 2017.* Kathmandu: Ministry of Education, Government of Nepal. Available at:

<https://moe.gov.np/assets/uploads/files/Education\_in\_Figures\_2017.pdf> [Accessed 11 December 2019].

National Centre for Educational Development (NCED), 2017a. *Secondary level TPD training curriculum: science*. Bhaktapur: Ministry of Education, Government of Nepal.

National Centre for Educational Development (NCED), 2017b. *Secondary level TPD training curriculum: mathematics.* Bhaktapur: Ministry of Education, Government of Nepal.

Piper, B, Zuilkowski, S, Dubeck, M, Jepkemei, E and King, S, 2018. Identifying the essential ingredients to literacy and numeracy improvement: teacher professional development and coaching, student textbooks, and structured teachers' guides. *World Development*, 106, pp.324–336.

Popova, A, Evans, D and Arancibia, V, 2016. Training teachers on the job: what works and how to measure it, Policy Research Working Paper 7834. Washington, DC: The World Bank.

Popova, A, Evans, D, Breeding, M and Arancibia, V, 2019. Teacher professional development around the world: the gap between evidence and practice, Working Paper 517. Washington, DC: Center for Global Development.

Powell, D, 2017. *Quantile treatment effects in the presence of covariates*. Santa Monica, CA: RAND Corporation.

Rauniyar, R, 2019. 'Old fashioned teacher's training'. Nagarika Daily.

Republica, 2019. *Public schools fare badly in SEE results*. Available at: <a href="https://myrepublica.nagariknetwork.com/news/68305/">https://myrepublica.nagariknetwork.com/news/68305/</a> [Accessed 11 December 2019].

Rivkin, S, Hanushek, E and Kain, J, 2005. Teachers, schools, and academic achievement. *Econometrica*, 73(2), pp.417–458.

Schaffner, J, Glewwe, P and Sharma, U, 2018. Evaluating the design and impact of school sector development program (SSDP) training for 9th and 10th grade math and science teachers: baseline study methodology and findings. Unpublished.

Schaffner, J, Glewwe, P and Sharma, U, 2019a. Evaluating the design and impact of school sector development program (SSDP) training for 9th and 10th grade math and science teachers: telephone interview report. Unpublished.

Schaffner, J, Sharma, U and Glewwe, P, 2019b. Federalism in Nepal: early implications for service delivery in education. Unpublished.

Shrestha, D, 2019. Evaluating the design and impact of school sector development program (SSDP) training for 9th and 10th grade math and science teachers: a report on training and video assignment roll-out (final draft). Unpublished.

Snilstveit, B, Stevenson, J, Phillips, D, Vojtkova, M, Gallagher, E, Schmidt, T, Jobse, H, Geelen, M, Pastorello, M and Eyers, J, 2015. Interventions for improving learning outcomes and access to education in low- and middle- income countries: a systematic review, 3ie Systematic Review 24. London: International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie).

Westbrook, J, Durrani, N, Brown, R, Orr, D, Pryor, J, Boddy, J and Salvi, F, 2013. Pedagogy, curriculum, teaching practices and teacher education in developing countries. Final Report. Education Rigorous Literature Review. London: Department for International Development.

### Other publications in the 3ie Impact Evaluation Report Series

The following reports are available from http://3ieimpact.org/evidencehub/publications/impact-evaluations

*Impacts of supportive feedback and nonmonetary incentives on child immunisation in Ethiopia,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 134. Demilew, A, Girma, M, McElwee, E, Datta, S, Barofsky, J and Disasa, T, 2021.

*Impacts of electronic case management systems on court congestion in the Philippines,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 133. Orbeta, AC, Jr, Paqueo, VB and Siddiqi, B, 2021.

*Impacts of judicial reform in small claims procedures on court congestion in the Philippines,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 132. Orbeta, AC, Jr, Paqueo, VB and Siddiqi, B, 2021.

*Impacts of judicial reform in criminal case procedures on court congestion in the Philippines,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 131. Orbeta, AC, Jr, Paqueo, VB and Siddiqi, B, 2021.

*Impacts of the Stimulate, Appreciate, Learn and Transfer community engagement approach to increase immunization coverage in Assam, India*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 130. Pramanik, S, Ghosh, A, Goswami, A, Das, T, Albert, S, Forth, P and Nanda, R, 2020.

*Impacts of a novel mHealth platform to track maternal and child health in Udaipur, India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 129. Nagar, R, Ambiya, MS, Singh, P, Abdullah, H, Banshiwal, V, Stone, L, Manjanatha, D, Venkat, P, Purawat, D, Supatkar, V, Singh, A, Dalal, S and Shahnawaz, M, 2020.

*Impact evaluation of the National Rural Livelihoods Project,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 128. Kochar, A, Barooah, B, Jain, C, Singh, G, Closepet, N, Narayanan, R, Sarkar, R and Shah, R, 2020.

*Impacts of engaging communities through traditional and religious leaders on vaccination coverage in Cross River State, Nigeria,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 127. Oyo-Ita, A, Bosch-Capblanch, X, Ross, A, Hanlon, P, Oku, A, Esu, E, Ameh, S, Oduwole, B, Arikpo, D and Meremikwu, M, 2020.

*Evaluating the impact of interventions to improve full immunisation rates in Haryana, India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 126. Banerjee, A, Chandrasekhar, A, Duflo, E, Dalpath, S, Floretta, J, Jackson, M, Kannan, H, Schrimpf, A and Shrestha, M, 2020.

*Impacts of community-led video education to increase vaccination coverage in Uttar Pradesh, India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 125. Gurley, N, Shearer, J, Srivastava, Y, Mahapatra, S and Desmond, M, 2020.

*Impact of creative capacity building of local innovators and communities on income, welfare and attitudes in Uganda,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 124. Nkonya, E, Bashaasha, B, Kato, E, Bagamba, F and Danet, M, 2020.

*Impact evaluation of the integrated soil fertility management dissemination programme in Burkina Faso*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 123. A, Frölich, M, Koussoubé, E, Maïga, E and Varejkova, T, 2020.

The effect of demonstration plots and the warehouse receipt system on integrated soil fertility management adoption, yield and income of smallholder farmers: a study from *Malawi's Anchor Farms*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 122. Michelson, H, Barrett, C, Palm, C, Maertens, A, Mhango, W and Chirwa, E, 2020.

Impacts of linking savings group to formal financial service providers and strengthening their internal group insurance mechanism in Zambia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 121. Frölich, M and Nguyen, PL, 2020.

*Promoting latrine use in rural Karnataka using the risks, attitudes, norms, abilities and self-regulation (RANAS) approach*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 120. Friedrich, M, Balasundaram, T, Muralidharan, A, Raman, VR and Mosler, H-J, 2020.

*Impacts of low-cost interventions to improve latrine use and safe disposal of child faeces in rural Odisha, India*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 119. Caruso, BA, Sclar, GD, Routray, P, Nagel C, Majorin, F, Sola, S, Koehne, W, DeShay, R, Udaipuria, S, Williams, R and Clasen, T, 2020.

*Improving households' attitudes and behaviours to increase toilet use (HABIT) in Bihar, India*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 118. Viswanathan, S, Saith, R, Chakraborty, A, Purty, N, Malhotra, N, Singh, P, Mitra, P, Padmanabhan, V, Datta, S, Harris, J, Gidwani, S, Williams, R, Florence, E and Daniel, S, 2020.

*Rebuilding the social compact: urban service delivery and property taxes in Pakistan*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 117. Khwaja, AI, Haq, O, Khan, AQ, Olken, B and Shaukat, M, 2020.

*Rural institutional innovation: can village courts in Bangladesh accelerate access to justice and improve socio-economic outcomes?* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 116. Mattsson, M and Mobarak, AM, 2020.

Using big data to evaluate the impacts of transportation infrastructure investment: the case of subway systems in Beijing, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 115. Li, S and Liu, Y, 2020.

*Community toilet use in Indian slums: willingness-to-pay and the role of informational and supply side constraints*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 113. Armand, A, Augsburg, B, Bancalari A and Trivedi B, 2020.

*Impacts, maintenance and sustainability of irrigation in Rwanda*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 112. Byiringo, E, Jones M, Kondylis F, Loeser J, Magruder, J and Ndahimana, C, 2020.

*Continuous Emissions Monitoring Systems (CEMS) in India*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 111. Greenstone, M, Pande, R, Ryan, N and Sudarshan A, 2020.

*Evaluating the impacts of the Dar es Salaam Bus Rapid Transit System*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 110. Morten, M, Bryan, G, Siddiqi, B, Balboni, C, 2020.

Access to safe drinking water: experimental evidence from new water sources in Bangladesh, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 109. Cocciolo, S, Ghisolfi, S, Habib, A, Rashid, SMA and Tompsett, A, 2020.

*Impact of alternate wetting and drying on farm incomes and water savings in Bangladesh*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 108. Chakravorty, U, Dar, MH, Emerick, K, 2020.

The effects of vouchers for essential household items on child health, mental health, resilience and social cohesion among internally displaced persons in the Democratic Republic of Congo, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 107. Quattrochi, J, Bisimwa, G, Thompson, T, van der Windt, P and Voors, M, 2020.

*Measuring impacts of conservation interventions on human well-being and the environment in Northern Cambodia*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 106. Clements, T, Neang, M, Milner-Gulland, EJ and Travers, H, 2020.

*The 5 Star Toilet Campaign: improving toilet use in rural Gujarat,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 105. Chauhan, K, Schmidt, WP, Aunger, R, Gopalan, B, Saxena, D, Yashobant, S, Patwardhan, V, Bhavsar, P, Mavalankar, D and Curtis, V, 2020.

How education about maternal health risk can change the gender gap in the demand for *family planning in Zambia*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 104. Ashraf, N, Field, E, Voena, A and Ziparo, R, 2019.

In search of the holy grail: can unconditional cash transfers graduate households out of poverty in Zambia?, Impact Evaluation Report 103. Handa, S, Tembo, G, Natali, L, Angeles, G and Spektor, G, 2019.

*Increasing HIV self-testing and linkage to care for partners of women in antenatal care in Uganda,* Impact Evaluation Report 102. Wanyenze, R, Buregyeya, E, Matovu, J, Kisa, R, Kagaayi, J, Vrana-Diaz, C, Malek, A, Musoke, W, Chemusto, H, Mukama, S and Korte, J, 2019.

*Improving the quality of care for children with acute malnutrition in Uganda*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 101. Marzia, L, Wanzira, H, Lochoro, P and Putoto, G, 2019.

*Impacts of increasing community resilience through humanitarian aid in Pakistan*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 100. Avdeenko, A and Frölich, M, 2019.

*Impacts of community monitoring of socio-environmental liabilities in the Ecuadorian and Peruvian Amazon,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 99. Pellegrini, L, 2019.

Increasing HIV testing demand among Kenyan truck drivers and female sex workers, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 98. Kelvin, E, George, G, Mwai, E, Kinyanjui, S, Inoti, S, Chetty, T, Strauss, M, Romo, M, Oruko, F, Odhiambo J, Nyaga, E, Mantell, J and Govender, K, 2019.

*Impacts of community stakeholder engagement interventions in Ugandan oil extractives,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 97. Parker, R, Coleman, E, Manyindo, J, Schultz, B and Mukuru, E, 2019.

*The impacts of formal registration of businesses in Malawi,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 96. Campos, F, Goldstein, M and McKenzie, D, 2019.

Unpacking the determinants of entrepreneurship development and economic empowerment for women in Kenya, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 95. McKenzie, D, Puerto, S and Odhiambo, F, 2019.

*Impacts of key provisions in Ghana's Petroleum Revenue Management Act,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 94. Edjekumhene, I, Voors, M, Lujala, P, Brunnschweiler, C, Owusu, CK and Nyamekye, A, 2019.

*Using information to break the political resource curse in natural gas management in Mozambique,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 93. Armand, A, Costa, AI, Coutts, A, Vicente, P and Vilela, I, 2019.

Harnessing transparency initiatives to improve India's environmental clearance process for the mineral mining sector, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 92. Pande, R and Sudarshan, A, 2019.

*Impacts of removing user fees for maternal health services on universal health coverage in Kenya,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 91. Abuya, T, Dennis, M, Matanda, D, Obare, F and Bellows, B, 2018.

*Impact of voice reminders to reinforce harvest aggregation services training for farmers in Mali*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 90. Osei, RD, Dzanku, FM, Osei-Akoto, I, Asante, F, Hodey, LS, Adu, PN, Adu-Ababio, K and Coulibaly, M, 2018.

*Impacts of Breakthrough's school-based gender attitude change programme in Haryana, India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 89. Jayachandran, S, Jain, T and Dhar, D, 2018.

Hotspot interventions at scale: the effects of policing and city services on crime in *Bogotá, Colombia,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 88. Blattman, C, Green, D, Ortega, D and Tobón, S, 2018.

*Impact evaluation of the Philippine Special Program for Employment of Students,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 87. Beam, E, Linden, L, Quimbo, S and Richmond, H, 2018.

*Community-based distribution of oral HIV self-testing kits: experimental evidence from Zambia,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 86. Hensen, B, Ayles, H, Mulubwa, C, Floyd, S, Schaap, A, Chiti, B, Phiri, M, Mwenge, L, Simwinga, M, Fidler S, Hayes, R, Bond, V and Mwinga, A, 2018.

*Evaluating the economic impacts of rural banking: experimental evidence from southern India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 85. Field, E and Pande, R, 2018.

*Direct provision versus facility collection of HIV tests: impacts of self-testing among female sex workers in Uganda.* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 84. Ortblad, K, Musoke, DK, Ngabirano, T, Oldenburg, C and Bärnighausen, T, 2018.

Increasing female sex worker HIV testing: effects of peer educators and HIV self-tests in *Zambia*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 83. Chanda, MM, Ortblad, KF, Mwale, M, Chongo, S, Kanchele, C, Kamungoma, N, Fullem, A, Bärnighausen, T and Oldenburg, CE, 2018.

*Community delivery of antiretroviral drugs: a non-inferiority matched-pair pragmatic cluster-randomized trial in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 82. Francis, JM, Geldsetzer, P, Asmus, G, Ulenga, N, Ambikapathi, R, Sando, D, Fawzi, W and Bärnighausen, T, 2018.

*Nourishing the future: targeting infants and their caregivers to reduce undernutrition in rural China,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 81. Cai, J, Luo, R, Li, H, Lien, J, Medina, A, Zhou, H and Zhang, L, 2018.

*Impacts of the World Food Programme's interventions to treat malnutrition in Niger.* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 80. Brück, T, Ferguson, NTN, Ouédraogo, J and Ziegelhöfer, Z, 2018.

Impact evaluation of the World Food Programme's moderate acute malnutrition treatment and prevention programmes in Sudan. 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 79. Guevarra, E, Mandalazi, E, Balegamire, S, Albrektsen, K, Sadler, K, Abdelsalam, K, Urrea, G and Alawad, S, 2018.

*Impact evaluation of WFP's programs targeting moderate acute malnutrition in humanitarian situations in Chad.* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 78. Saboya, M, Rudiger, J, Frize, J, Ruegenberg, D, Rodríguez Seco, A and McMillon, C, 2018.

*Improving midday meal delivery and encouraging micronutrient fortification among children in India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 77. Shastry, GK, Berry, J, Mukherjee, P, Mehta, S and Ruebeck, H, 2018.

*Evaluation of infant development centres: an early years intervention in Colombia,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 76. Andrew, A, Attanasio, O, Bernal, R, Cordona, L, Krutikova, S, Heredia, DM, Medina, C, Peña, X, Rubio-Codina, M and Vera-Hernandez, M, 2018.

*Can the wounds of war be healed? Experimental evidence on reconciliation in Sierra Leone.* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 75. Cilliers, J, Dube, O and Siddiqi, B, 2018.

*Impact evaluation of the Menabe and Melaky development programme in Madagascar,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 74. Ring, H, Morey, M, Kavanagh, E, Kamto, K, McCarthy, N, Brubaker, J and Rakotondrafara, C, 2018.

*Impact evaluation of the Smallholder Dairy Commercialization Programme in Kenya,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 73. Bonilla, J, McCarthy, N, Mugatha, S, Rai, N, Coombes, A and Brubaker, J, 2018.

*Impact and adoption of risk-reducing drought-tolerant rice in India*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 72. Yamano, T, Dar, MH, Panda, A, Gupta, I, Malabayabas, ML and Kelly, E, 2018.

*Poverty and empowerment impacts of the Bihar Rural Livelihoods Project in India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 71. Hoffmann, V, Rao, V, Datta, U, Sanyal, P, Surendra, V and Majumdar, S 2018.

How should Tanzania use its natural gas? Citizens' views from a nationwide Deliberative *Poll*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 70. Birdsall, N, Fishkin, J, Haqqi, F, Kinyondo, A, Moyo, M, Richmond, J and Sandefur, J, 2018.

*Impact evaluation of the conditional cash transfer program for secondary school attendance in Macedonia,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 69. Armand, A and Carneiro, P, 2018.

Age at marriage, women's education, and mother and child outcomes in Bangladesh, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 68. Field, E, Glennerster, R, Nazneen, S, Pimkina, S, Sen, I and Buchmann, N, 2018.

*Evaluating agricultural information dissemination in western Kenya*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 67. Fabregas, R, Kremer, M, Robinson, J and Schilbach, F, 2017.

*General equilibrium impact assessment of the Productive Safety Net Program in Ethiopia,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 66. Filipski, M, Taylor, JE, Abegaz, GA, Ferede, T, Taffesse, AS and Diao, X, 2017.

*Impact of the Uddeepan programme on child health and nutrition in India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 65. Kochar, A, Sharma, A and Sharma, A, 2017.

*Evaluating oral HIV self-testing to increase HIV testing uptake among truck drivers in Kenya,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 64. Kelvin, EA, Mwai, E, Romo, ML, George, G, Govender, K, Mantell, JE, Strauss, M, Nyaga, EN and Odhiambo, JO, 2017.

Integration of EPI and paediatric HIV services for improved ART initiation in Zimbabwe, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 63. Prescott, M, Boeke, C, Gotora, T, Mafaune, HW, Motsi, W, Graves, J, Mangwiro, A and McCarthy, E, 2017.

*Increasing male partner HIV testing using self-test kits in Kenya,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 62. Gichangi, A, Korte, JE, Wambua, J, Vrana, C and Stevens, D, 2017.

*Evaluating the impact of community health worker integration into prevention of motherto-child transmission of HIV services in Tanzania,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 61. Nance, N, McCoy, S, Ngilangwa, D, Masanja, J, Njau, P and Noronha, R, 2017.

*Using HIV self-testing to promote male partner and couples testing in Kenya,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 60. Thirumurthy, H, Omanga, E, Obonyo, B, Masters, S and Agot, K, 2017.

*Increasing male partner HIV self-testing at antenatal care clinics in Kenya,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 59. Gichangi, A, Korte, JE, Wambua, J, Vrana, C and Stevens, D, 2017.

*Impact of free availability of public childcare on labour supply and child development in Brazil*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 58. Attanasio, O, Paes de Barros, R, Carneiro, P, Evans, D, Lima, L, Olinto, P and Schady, N, 2017.

*Estimating the effects of a low-cost early stimulation and parenting education programme in Mexico,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 57. Cardenas, S, Evans, D and Holland, P, 2017.

*The Better Obstetrics in Rural Nigeria study: an impact evaluation of the Nigerian Midwives Service Scheme,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 56. Okeke, E, Glick, P, Abubakar, IS, Chari, AV, Pitchforth, E, Exley, J, Bashir, U, Setodji, C, Gu, K and Onwujekwe, O, 2017. *The Productive Safety Net Programme in Ethiopia: impacts on children's schooling, labour and nutritional status*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 55. Berhane, G, Hoddinott, J, Kumar, N and Margolies, A, 2016.

*The impact of youth skills training on the financial behaviour, employability and educational choice in Morocco,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 54. Bausch, J, Dyer, P, Gardiner, D, Kluve, J and Mizrokhi, E, 2016.

Using advertisements to create demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in South *Africa,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 53. Frade, S, Friedman, W, Rech, D and Wilson, N, 2016.

*The use of peer referral incentives to increase demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in Zambia,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 52. Zanolini, A, Bolton, C, Lyabola, LL, Phiri, G, Samona, A, Kaonga, A and Harsha Thirumurthy, H, 2016.

*Using smartphone raffles to increase demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in Tanzania,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 51. Mahler, H and Bazant, E, 2016.

*Voluntary medical male circumcision uptake through soccer in Zimbabwe*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 50. DeCelles, J, Kaufman, Z, Bhauti, K, Hershow, R, Weiss, H, Chaibva, C, Moyo, N, Braunschweig, E, Mantula, F, Hatzold, K and Ross, D, 2016.

*Measuring the impact of SMS-based interventions on uptake of voluntary medical male circumcision in Zambia,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 49. Leiby, K, Connor, A, Tsague, L, Sapele, C, Koanga, A, Kakaire, J and Wang, P, 2016.

Assessing the impact of delivering messages through intimate partners to create demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in Uganda, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 48. Semeere, AS, Bbaale, DS, Castelnuovo, B, Kiragga, A, Kigozi, J, Muganzi, A, Kambugu, A and Coutinho, AG, 2016.

*Optimising the use of economic interventions to increase demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in Kenya,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 47. Thirumurthy, H, Omanga, E, Rao, SO, Murray, K, Masters, S and Agot, K, 2016.

*The impact of earned and windfall cash transfers on livelihoods and conservation in Sierra Leone,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 46. Bulte, E, Conteh, B, Kontoleon, A, List, J, Mokuwa, E, Richards, P, Turley, T and Voors, M, 2016.

*Property tax experiment in Pakistan: Incentivising tax collection and improving performance,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 45. Khan, A, Khwaja, A and Olken, B, 2016.

*Impact of mobile message reminders on tuberculosis treatment outcomes in Pakistan,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 44. Mohammed, S, Glennerster, R and Khan, A, 2016.

*Making networks work for policy: Evidence from agricultural technology adoption in Malawi,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 43. Beaman, L, BenYishay, A, Fatch, P, Magruder, J and Mobarak, AM, 2016.

*Estimating the impact and cost-effectiveness of expanding access to secondary education in Ghana,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 42. Dupas, P, Duflo, E and Kremer, M, 2016.

*Evaluating the effectiveness of computers as tutors in China, 3*ie Impact Evaluation Report 41. Mo, D, Bai, Y, Boswell, M and Rozelle, S, 2016.

*Micro entrepreneurship support programme in Chile,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 40. Martínez, CA, Puentes, EE and Ruiz-Tagle, JV, 2016.

*Thirty-five years later: evaluating the impacts of a child health and family planning programme in Bangladesh,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 39. Barham, T, Kuhn, R, Menken, J and Razzaque, A, 2016.

*Effectiveness of a rural sanitation programme on diarrhoea, soil-transmitted helminth infection and malnutrition in India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 38. Clasen, T, Boisson, S, Routray, P, Torondel, B, Bell, M, Cumming, O, Ensink, J, Freeman, M and Jenkins, M, 2016.

*Evaluating the impact of vocational education vouchers on out-of-school youth in Kenya,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 37. Hicks, JH, Kremer, M, Mbiti, I and Miguel, E, 2016.

*Removing barriers to higher education in Chile: evaluation of peer effects and scholarships for test preparation,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 36. Banerjee, A, Duflo E and Gallego, F, 2016.

Sustainability of impact: dimensions of decline and persistence in adopting a biofortified crop in Uganda, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 35. McNiven, S, Gilligan, DO and Hotz, C 2016.

A triple win? The impact of Tanzania's Joint Forest Management programme on *livelihoods, governance and forests*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 34. Persha, L and Meshack, C, 2016.

*The effect of conditional transfers on intimate partner violence: evidence from Northern Ecuador,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 33. Hidrobo, M, Peterman, A and Heise, L, 2016.

*The effect of transfers and preschool on children's cognitive development in Uganda,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 32. Gillian, DO and Roy, S, 2016.

*Can egovernance reduce capture of public programmes? Experimental evidence from India's employment guarantee,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 31. Banerjee, A, Duflo, E, Imbert, C, Mathew, S and Pande, R, 2015.

*Improving maternal and child health in India: evaluating demand and supply strategies,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 30. Mohanan, M, Miller, G, Forgia, GL, Shekhar, S and Singh, K, 2016.

*Smallholder* access to weather securities in India: demand and impact on production *decisions,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 28. Ceballos, F, Manuel, I, Robles, M and Butler, A, 2015.

What happens once the intervention ends? The medium-term impacts of a cash transfer programme in Malawi, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 27. Baird, S, Chirwa, E, McIntosh, C and Özler, B, 2015.

*Validation of hearing screening procedures in Ecuadorian schools,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 26. Muñoz, K, White, K, Callow-Heusser, C and Ortiz, E, 2015.

Assessing the impact of farmer field schools on fertilizer use in China, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 25. Burger, N, Fu, M, Gu, K, Jia, X, Kumar, KB and Mingliang, G, 2015.

*The SASA! study: a cluster randomised trial to assess the impact of a violence and HIV prevention programme in Kampala,* Uganda, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 24. Watts, C, Devries, K, Kiss, L, Abramsky, T, Kyegombe, N and Michau, L, 2014.

Enhancing food production and food security through improved inputs: an evaluation of *Tanzania's National Agricultural Input Voucher Scheme with a focus on gender impacts,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 23. Gine, X, Patel, S, Cuellar-Martinez, C, McCoy, S and Lauren, R, 2015.

*A wide angle view of learning: evaluation of the CCE and LEP programmes in Haryana,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 22. Duflo, E, Berry, J, Mukerji, S and Shotland, M, 2015.

Shelter from the storm: upgrading housing infrastructure in Latin American slums, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 21. Galiani, S, Gertler, P, Cooper, R, Martinez, S, Ross, A and Undurraga, R, 2015.

*Environmental and socioeconomic impacts of Mexico's payments for ecosystem services programme*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 20. Alix-Garcia, J, Aronson, G, Radeloff, V, Ramirez-Reyes, C, Shapiro, E, Sims, K and Yañez-Pagans, P, 2015.

A randomised evaluation of the effects of an agricultural insurance programme on rural households' behaviour: evidence from China, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 19. Cai, J, de Janvry, A and Sadoulet, E, 2014.

Impact of malaria control and enhanced literacy instruction on educational outcomes among school children in Kenya: a multi-sectoral, prospective, randomised evaluation, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 18. Brooker, S and Halliday, K, 2015.

Assessing long-term impacts of conditional cash transfers on children and young adults *in rural Nicaragua*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 17. Barham, T, Macours, K, Maluccio, JA, Regalia, F, Aguilera, V and Moncada, ME, 2014.

*The impact of mother literacy and participation programmes on child learning: evidence from a randomised evaluation in India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 16. Banerji, R, Berry, J and Shortland, M, 2014.

*A youth wage subsidy experiment for South Africa,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 15. Levinsohn, J, Rankin, N, Roberts, G and Schöer, V, 2014.

*Providing collateral and improving product market access for smallholder farmers: a randomised evaluation of inventory credit in Sierra Leone,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 14. Casaburi, L, Glennerster, R, Suri, T and Kamara, S, 2014.

Scaling up male circumcision service provision: results from a randomised evaluation in *Malawi,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 13. Thornton, R, Chinkhumba, J, Godlonton, S and Pierotti, R, 2014.

*Targeting the poor: evidence from a field experiment in Indonesia,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 12. Atlas, V, Banerjee, A, Hanna, R, Olken, B, Wai-poi, M and Purnamasari, R, 2014.

An impact evaluation of information disclosure on elected representatives' performance: evidence from rural and urban India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 11. Banerjee, A, Duflo, E, Imbert, C, Pande, R, Walton, M and Mahapatra, B, 2014.

*Truth-telling by third-party audits and the response of polluting firms: Experimental evidence from India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 10. Duflo, E, Greenstone, M, Pande, R and Ryan, N, 2013.

*No margin, no mission? Evaluating the role of incentives in the distribution of public goods in Zambia*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 9. Ashraf, N, Bandiera, O and Jack, K, 2013.

*Paying for performance in China's battle against anaemia*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 8. Zhang, L, Rozelle, S and Shi, Y, 2013.

Social and economic impacts of Tuungane: final report on the effects of a communitydriven reconstruction programme in the Democratic Republic of Congo, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 7. Humphreys, M, Sanchez de la Sierra, R and van der Windt, P, 2013.

*The impact of daycare on maternal labour supply and child development in Mexico*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 6. Angeles, G, Gadsden, P, Galiani, S, Gertler, P, Herrera, A, Kariger, P and Seira, E, 2014.

Impact evaluation of the non-contributory social pension programme 70 y más in Mexico, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 5. Rodríguez, A, Espinoza, B, Tamayo, K, Pereda, P, Góngora, V, Tagliaferro, G and Solís, M, 2014.

Does marginal cost pricing of electricity affect groundwater pumping behaviour of *farmers? Evidence from India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 4. Meenakshi, JV, Banerji, A, Mukherji, A and Gupta, A, 2013.

*The GoBifo project evaluation report: Assessing the impacts of community-driven development in Sierra Leone*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 3. Casey, K, Glennerster, R and Miguel, E, 2013.

*A rapid assessment randomised-controlled trial of improved cookstoves in rural Ghana*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 2. Burwen, J and Levine, DI, 2012.

*The promise of preschool in Africa: A randomised impact evaluation of early childhood development in rural Mozambique*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 1. Martinez, S, Naudeau, S and Pereira, V, 2012.

In Nepal, student learning outcomes in government-run primary and secondary schools remain weak. To address this, the government prioritized efforts to improve school quality through a seven-year School Sector Development Programme. A key component is training for teachers who teach ninth- and tenth-grade maths and science. The authors of this report look into the impacts of this training programme on teacher's subject knowledge, teaching practices and student test scores.

#### **Impact Evaluation Series**

International Initiative for Impact Evaluation 215-216, Rectangle One D-4, Saket District Centre New Delhi – 110017 India 3ie@3ieimpact.org

Tel: +91 11 4989 4444

